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CHARACTERISTICS OF THE GEM (“GEM”) OF THE STOCK EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG
LIMITED (THE “STOCK EXCHANGE™)

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to accommodate small and mid-sized companies to which
a higher investment risk may be attached than other companies listed on the Stock Exchange. Prospective
investors should be aware of the potential risks of investing in such companies and should make the
decision to invest only after due and careful consideration.

Given that the companies listed on GEM are generally small and mid-sized companies, there is a risk that
securities traded on GEM may be more susceptible to high market volatility than securities traded on
the Main Board of the Stock Exchange and no assurance is given that there will be a liquid market in the
securities traded on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited take no responsibility
for the contents of this report, make no representation as to its accuracy or completeness and expressly disclaim any
liability whatsoever for any loss howsoever arising from or in reliance upon the whole or any part of the contents of this
report.

This report, for which the directors (the “Directors”) of China CBM Group Company Limited (the “Company”)
collectively and individually accept full responsibility, includes particulars given in compliance with the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on GEM of the Stock Exchange (the “GEM Listing Rules”) for the purpose of giving information
with regard to the Company. The Directors, having made all reasonable enquiries, confirm that to the best of their
knowledge and belief the information contained in this report is accurate and complete in all material respects and not
misleading or deceptive, there are no other matters the omission of which would make any statement herein or this
report misleading and that all opinions expressed in this report have been arrived at after due and careful consideration
and are founded on bases and assumptions that are fair and reasonable.

This report will remain on the “Latest Listed Company Information” page of the GEM website at www.hkgem.com for
at least seven days from the date of its publication.
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CORPORATE PROFILE
ACILbI)

China CBM Group Company Limited and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “Group”) currently conduct the business of
manufacture and sales of liquefied coalbed gas whose operations
are located in the PRC. The Company was incorporated in Cayman
Islands as an exempted company with limited liability in July 2002
and continued in Bermuda as an exempted company with limited
liabilities in accordance with the Company Act 1981 (as amended)
of Bermuda. It was initially listed on the GEM (“GEM”) of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited on 12 August 2003.

The Group is principally engaged in the business of exploitation,
liguefaction production and sales of natural gas in the PRC.
Headquartered in Tianjin. The Group’s production of liquefied
coalbed gas is in Shanxi Qinshui Basin which boasts the richest
liquefied coalbed gas, while its distribution network extends to
Shanxi, Guangxi and Guangdong Provinces, etc..

In order to stabilise our natural gas supply and hence raise the
utilisation of our liquefied natural gas (“LNG”) plant, the Group has
made significant investment in resources exploration and exploitation
at the coalbed methane blocks located in Yangcheng, Shanxi since
July 2011. The Group had successfully supplied gas to the LNG
plant. The commercial production of coalbed gas has transformed
our Group into a vertically integrated natural gas company and
continued to enhance our leading position in China’s unconventional
gas market.

The Group will adhere to the principle of “social responsibility is of
overriding importance” while exploring and developing in the new
energy sector with an aim to provide the world with high-quality
clean energy and keep improving and promoting the harmonious
coexistence of man and nature.
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Dear Shareholders,

| am pleased to present the audited financial results of the Group for
the year ended 31 December 2020.

OVERALL BUSINESS REVIEW

After years of development, we have achieved the goal of turning
ourselves into a vertically integrated natural gas producer with
complete value chain businesses. We have established a complete
business process covering Coalbed Methane (“CBM”) extraction,
liquefaction, pipelines and highway transportation, distribution
network and technical services. As at 31 December 2020, we
have completed the groundwork and drilling of 229 wells in the
Yangcheng gas block which resulted in stable increase of the
number of production wells and gas output.

EXTRACTION AND PRODUCTION BUSINESS
REVIEW

During 2020, the construction of new wells was somewhat affected
by our focus on improving capabilities of production wells. As at
31 December 2020, we have completed the ground work and drilling
of a total of 229 CBM wells, of which 193 wells were operating wells
with stable production since they had been put in operation. Thanks
to the stable gas output in gas blocks, the Group has generated
revenue, profit and cash flow from the business of exploitation of
natural gas, and its profitability and cash flow position will be further
improved as the number and capabilities of production wells further
increase.

LNG BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group resumed its LNG business in October 2020. However,
due to the emergency measures announced by the government of
Shanxi Province in December 2020 to impose limitation on natural
gas supply for LNG plant, the Group suspended its LNG business
from December 2020 to January 2021. Owing to the resumption
of business, the daily output in 2020 amounted to approximately
200,000 cubic meters. Operation and sales were resumed once
again in the beginning of 2021.
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MARKETING BUSINESS REVIEW

After years of development, the Group has developed a diversified
customer base comprising industrial, commercial and resident
customers and established complete distribution channel and
network. In addition, we have also taken different measures to
maximise the profitability of our gas sale. In 2020, we used different
sales mix and flexibly selected various equipment such as pipeline,
cylinder group, gas station and skid-mounted equipment to sell gas
to our customers. With commencement of the related work, we will
be able to reduce the uncertainty in future natural gas sales and
optimise our sales mix, i.e. shifting towards a balanced mix from a
residential user dominated mix.

EMPHASIS ON TECHNOLOGIES ADVANCEMENT

In order to ensure the smooth development of our exploration
and production business and the continuous improvement of
technologies, and to maintain our leading position in technological
advancement, we actively worked with research institutes to build
and expand our professional technical team, so as to provide
professional and advanced technical services to our exploration and
liquefaction production business. In the future, we will be investing
heavily in developing and advancing our CBM extraction technology
and techniques.

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND CORPORATE
RESPONSIBILITY

As a responsible corporation, the Group is committed to observing
its environmental and social responsibility, in order to ensure
sustainable development of its business. To the knowledge of
the Directors, the Group has complied with all material relevant
applicable laws and regulations in relation to its business including
employment and the environment. The Group encourages
employees, customers, suppliers and other stakeholders to
participate in environmental and social activities. The Company as
a leading CBM company will seize opportunities to grow our CBM
business on a long term sustainable basis.
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The bye-laws provide that the directors shall be indemnified out of
the assets and profits of the Company from and against all actions,
costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses which they or any of
them shall or may incur or sustain by or by reason of any act done,
concurred in or omitted in or about the execution of their duty, or
supposed duty, in their respective offices.

The Company has taken out and maintained directors’ liability
insurance which provides appropriate cover for the directors and
directors of the subsidiaries of the Group.

OUTLOOK

At present, demand for natural gas is increasing in China with huge
growth potential. As pollution is worsening in China, governments at
all levels are placing more emphasis on development of clean energy,
which shows great potential in further development, recognizing the
rising advocacy of safer — especially under the recent nuclear power
crisis — and cleaner energy. However, the existing conventional natural
gas production is unlikely to satisfy China’s strong demand of natural
gas in the coming years; and we believe that it is inevitable that the
PRC government would need to encourage the unconventional gas
production. With all the favourable policies and measures in place,
there is no doubt that the Company, as a leading CBM company,
will gain major benefits. We will seize this opportunity to grow our
CBM business on a long term sustainable basis and would try our
very best to maximize our shareholders’ investment return.

To carry through the Group’s spirit of advancement by innovation,
the Group has since the beginning of 2017 commenced the
research and development (R&D) on C-H to Synthesis of natural
gas production (temporarily named as High temperature-water of
Actiwate C-H to Synthesis of natural-gas technology). The Group
has commenced the process of commercialized design in the
second half of 2019 and small-scale production is expected to start
at the end of 2021. In addition, the Group plans to realize the daily
output to 500,000 cubic meters at the end of 2022. The Group’s
wells and projects of C-H to Synthesis natural gas production are
expected to provide stable natural gas supply to its LNG plant in the
second half of 2021.
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Lastly, | would like to take this opportunity to thank our team for
all their hard work in the past years for turning the Group a better
enterprise than | have ever seen. Going forward, | believe that our
team will pay more efforts in making the Group a leading enterprise
in China’s CBM industry and other innovative industries.

Wang Zhong Sheng
Chairman

24 March 2021
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

FINANCIAL REVIEW

The Group recorded a consolidated turnover of approximately
RMB179,329,000 for the year ended 31 December 2020,
representing a slightly increase of approximately 6.6% compared
with year ended 31 December 2019. Our LNG plant was resumed
production in October 2020, and it contributed approximately
RMB22,304,000 of sales of liquefied coalbed gas to the turnover
for the year. The sales of piped natural gas and provision of gas
supply connection services were decreased 2.65% and 36.31%
to RMB140,212,000 and RMB12,438,000 respectively. They were
mainly due to the outbreak of Covid 19 in 2020, and it leads to the
slow down of the manufacturing activities in 2020.

The Group recorded a loss attributable to equity shareholders
of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2020 of
approximately RMB40,627,000 compared with that of approximately
RMB63,510,000 for the year ended 31 December 2019. The
reasons for the losses are as follows:

1. The gross profit decreased from RMB46,767,000 to
RMB21,310,000 because (a) our LNG plant resumed operation
in October 2020, however, the average daily production only
around 200,000 m® and it leads to the increase in the unit cost
of liquefied coalbed gas. As a result, the gross loss attributed
from sales of liquefied coalbed gas business in the year. (b) the
operation of the LNG terminal in Beihai city in Guangxi Province
was terminated as a result of accident occurred in November
2020. The tight supply of LNG in November and December
2020 it leaded a significant increase in the purchase price of
LNG in our piped natural gas business in Guangxi Province.
However, we didn’t pass the cost increment to customer.
Therefore, the gross profit margin of sales of piped natural gas
was pulled down for the year.

2. During the year ended 31 December 2020, due to cessation for
construction work for construction in progress, an impairment
loss of approximately RMB23,355,000 was recognised in
respect of certain property, plant and equipment.

3. The service income were increased from RMB8,461,000 to
RMB16,492,000 for the year.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEENMNE DI

BUSINESS REVIEW AND DEVELOPMENT
PROSPECTS

Resources and reserves

Yangcheng Huiyang New Energy Development Company Limited
(hereinafter referred to as “Huiyang New Energy”) has interest in
certain CBM properties located at Shanxi Province, the PRC. The
Yangcheng area is approximately 96 km? in the Shanxi Province, the
PRC. Development within the Yangcheng gas block is focused on
the #3 and #15 coal seams. These CBM properties are located at
various coal mine areas owned by Shanxi Yangcheng Yangtai Group
Industrial Company Limited. Huiyang New Energy is a joint venture
company and 60% of its equity interests is held by one of the wholly-
owned subsidiaries of the Group.

The movements in the reserves of certain CBM properties as of
31 December 2020 are set out below:
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Total original gas in place FrE @M RBRARME = 193.6 272.4
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Net 2P (Proved + Probable) BEEE IR CP) FHEE 154.7 27.7
reserves
Net 3P (Proved + Probable + EEE B N A] 8E BP) FH 2 193.6 205.0
Possible) reserves
The change in the 1P, 2P and 3P is based on the professional advice ~ (1P), @P) R BP)HI & & Jh E RN AL E T2
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The reserve evaluation of the CBM properties as at 31 March 2012 is
the results of evaluation conducted by an independent, US-licensed
natural gas reserve engineer, Netherlands, Sewell & Associates, Inc.
(“NSAI”") engaged by the Company in 2011 to evaluate the CBM
properties reserves.

Due to continued development of the gas field blocks by the
Company, the number and scope of the gas production wells
are relatively increased as compared with that of 2012, enabling
the Company to collect more data about the CBM properties to
evaluate the CBM properties more accurately. Accordingly, the
Company engaged an independent professional valuer in the PRC
in July 2014 to evaluate certain CBM properties of “Huiyang New
Energy” in terms of net 3P (Proved + Probable + Possible) reserves,
net 2P (Proved + Probable) reserves and net 1P (Proved) reserves
based on substantially the same definitions and guidelines as that
of NSAI in 2012. According to the results of the evaluation, the
total original gas in place on all blocks was generally unchanged as
compared with that of NSAI in 2012. Based on the current costs for
developing wells, the technical department of the Group estimates
the capital expenditure for each well to be approximately RMB1.4
million, mainly comprising of road maintenance fees of approximately
RMBO0.09 million, drilling expenses of approximately RMB0.86
million, well testing fees of approximately RMB0.04 million and costs
of equipment and materials of approximately RMB0.41 million.

Gas volumes are expressed in billion of cubic feet (BCF) at standard
temperature and pressure bases. The reserves shown in the above
table are estimates only and should not be construed as exact
quantities. Proved reserves are those quantities of oil and gas
which, by analysis of engineering and geoscience data, can be
estimated with reasonable certainty to be commercially recoverable;
probable and possible reserves are those additional reserves which
are sequentially less certain to be recovered than proved reserves.
Estimates of reserves may increase or decrease as a result of market
conditions, future operations, changes in regulations, or actual
reservoir performance.
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Natural Gas Exploration and Extraction

As at 31 December 2020, the Group has completed the ground
work and drilling of 229 CBM wells, among which 193 wells were
in production, representing decrease in 6 wells compared with the
number of wells at the end of 2019. The operating wells with stable
production since they had been put in operation.

Liquefaction operation

The Group resumed its LNG business in October 2020. However,
due to the emergency measures announced by the government of
Shanxi Province in December 2020 to impose limitation on natural
gas supply for LNG plant, the Group suspended its LNG business
from December 2020 to January 2021. Owing to the resumption
of business, the daily output in 2020 amounted to approximately
200,000 cubic meters. Operation and sales were resumed once
again in the beginning of 2021.

Marketing and Sales

During 2020, the marketing and sales systems did not change
significantly and the personnel structure and sales strategies
basically remained the same. Affected by overall environment,
the sales price during traditional peak periods did not represent a
substantial increase as the previous year, by contrast, the sales price
took on a descending trend, which, to some extent, has affected the
sales performance.

Liquidity, Financial Resources and Capital Structure

As at 31 December 2020, the Group had net assets of
approximately RMB118,794,000, including cash and bank balances
of approximately RMB25,880,000. To minimize financial risks, the
Group implements stringent financial and risk management strategies
and avoids the use of highly-geared financing arrangements. The
Group’s gearing ratio, calculated by the Group’s total external
borrowings divided by its shareholders’ fund, was approximately
49.65% as at 31 December 2020 (2019: 44.99%).

RZTEZZTF+=-A=+—0 ' ~KEE
n&Tﬂgmﬁgﬁ#mmEMI&ﬂ#’
Hep  WEHFEKE 51930 =T — A
FRAI6HOEE REFARENAR—
BHENEEEEMEE -

RALEH

AEER_ZTZTF+AEMBRIERA
REBK -EERLUAERBIIR_Z=ZF
TZAEMERIERARIHBMBRERAR
HERSINESIEE  FINASER=-Z
—EF+ZRAEZZE—F—AEEFETR
IERARER -AREFEBEBHRE -
TEEFMHEEROERN208R -
TR —FYIXENRE T EEHEETIE -

MBEHREERE

RZZT_FTF M5

WEEAEHLETHBERIHERBER
HR—o ﬁ%%@@ﬁ%%; HEE
BRESEERIRNTFERAELA

AR HEERZTHANSE  EE2EF
HEBIHERIR -

SERRBEEB RS

RBES  HBERRERGHE

RZEZTEF+=-_A=+—8 &&

EmEEFELH R ARK118,794,000
T HEABEERSRBRITEGFTHOARE
25,880,000 7T ° 25 [ B A R (K H B 75 [ f
KEZENVBELRREREERE Z2H
REARERLEZMELTHE - MUt - K
SER_ZE_TFF+_A=F+—HZEXR
HEELEXR (RAEEHINMEEBERU
HRFEEDHE) X 5B49.65% (ZZT— N
0 44.99%) o



T EEFR PEREREEERAF

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The Group is opportunistic in obtaining financing to further improve
the cash position given that the natural gas drilling program is capital
intensive. If the Group has adequate financing in the future (whether
it is from internal cash flow due to increased gas sales, or from
fund raising), the Group will accelerate the drilling program. Apart
from the intended investment in upstream CBM exploration and
extraction, the Group does not have any other plan for acquisition or
investment, disposal or scale-down of any current business.

The Employees

As at 31 December, 2020, the employees of the Group totaled
330, among which 23 were R&D staff and 185 were project and
customer service staff; 106 were administration staff and 16 were
marketing and sales staff. During the year, the total cost of staff
(including the remuneration of the Board Directors) recognised in
profit or loss account was approximately RMB18,027,000 (2019:
approximately RMB21,182,000). The remuneration and salary
packages and dividend policy of the Group were determined based
on the individual performance of staff. The Group will continue to
offer professional further studies and training to staff.

Impairment of Property, Plant and Equipment and
Right-of-use Assets

During the year ended 31 December 2020, due to cessation of
construction for construction in progress, an impairment loss of
approximately RMB23,355,000 was recognised in respect of certain
property, plant and equipment included in Yangcheng Huiyang CGU.

Risk in Foreign Exchange

The group entities collect most of the revenue and incur most of
expenditures in their respective functional currencies. The Directors
consider that the Group’s exposure to foreign currency exchange
is insignificant as the majority of the Group’s transactions are
denominated in the functional currency of each individual group
entity.

Significant Investment, Material Acquisitions and
Disposal of Subsidiaries and Associated Companies

During the year ended 31 December 2020, there was no significant
investment, material acquisition and disposal of subsidiaries and
associated companies by the Company.
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Reference is made to the announcement of the Company dated
4 November 2019 and the circular dated 30 September 2020 in
relation to, inter alia, the finance lease arrangement. The relevant
finance lease agreement was entered in 2019 and was subsequently
approved and ratified by the Shareholders at the special general
meeting held on 20 October 2020. Please refer to the announcement
and circular for further details.

OUTLOOK

The upstream business of the Company is improving steadily and
the well construction and gas output are both increasing constantly.
During 2017, the Company made technological upgrade to some
old wells to improve production capacity and output, laying a solid
foundation for the Company’s long-term performance. However,
the shortage in supply of raw gas kept handicapping the Company.
Daily gas output of the upstream business was insufficient to allow
the 500,000 cubic meters daily production capacity of liquefaction
plant to be fully unleased. In view of this, the Group commenced
the R&D on C-H to Synthesis of natural gas production in 2017 and
which is temporarily named as High-temperature-water Activate C-H
to Synthesis of Natural-gas Technology. As at the date of this report,
the experiment on C-H to Synthesis of natural gas production was
successfully completed. The Group has commenced the process
of commercialized design in the second half of 2019 and small-
scale production is expected to start at the end of 2021. In addition,
the Group plans to realize the daily output to 500,000 cubic meters
at the end of 2022. The Group’s LNG plant will get the stable gas
supply, as the number of upstream wells and gas output are both
steadily increasing, and the group successfully developed C-H to
Synthesis of natural gas production. The Group’s raw gas supply
will be further consolidated and the advantage of vertical integration
business will emerge. The production capacity of liquefaction plant
will be fully unleashed. In 2020, thanks to the stable supply from self-
produced well gas, the Company will be gradually less affected by
external factors and the uncontrollable risks involved in the operation
of the Company will become less.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

As there are growing concerns over the environmental issues, it is
foreseen that the highly-polluted energy will be eliminated from the
market more rapidly and the use of replaceable clean energy will be
more popular, resulting in a keener market demand for natural gas.
The demand growth of natural gas market will continue to retain its
strong momentum. Management of the Company will spare no effort
in overcoming difficulties and be devoted to making contribution to
the Company’s profit margin and long-term development.

CHARGES ON GROUP ASSETS

As at 31 December 2020, bank borrowings of RMB30,000,000
were secured by the Group’s exclusive right for piped natural gas
operation in Beiliu City, Guangxi Zhuang Autonomous Region.

As at 31 December 2020, the Group’s shareholding in Shanxi
Qinshui and Yangcheng Huiyang and the Group’s property, plant and
equipment with carrying amount of approximately RMB75,514,000
were pledged as security for lease liabilities of the Group.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2020, the Group had no material contingent
liabilities.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

(a

(b)

(c)

Application of Corporate Governance Principles

The Group is committed to promoting good corporate
governance, with the objectives of (i) the maintenance
of responsible decision making, (ii) the improvement in
transparency and disclosure of information to shareholders, (iii)
the continuance of respect for the rights of shareholders and
the recognition of the legitimate interests of shareholders, and (iv)
the improvement in crisis management and the enhancement
of performance by the Group. The Group has applied the
principles set out in the Corporate Governance Code (the
“Code”) contained in Appendix 15 to the GEM Listing Rules
with these objectives in mind.

Promulgation of Company’s Corporate Governance
Code

To this end, the Group has promulgated a set of code on
corporate governance (the “Company Code”) which sets out
the corporate standards and practices used by the Group
to direct and manage its business affairs. It is prepared by
reference to the principles, code provisions and recommended
best practices set out in the Code, which came into effect on
1 January 2005. In addition to formalising existing corporate
governance principles and practices, the Company Code
also serves the purpose of assimilating existing practices
with benchmarks prescribed by the Code and ultimately
ensuring high transparency and accountability to the Group’s
shareholders.

Compliance of Company Code and the code
provisions under the Code (the “Code Provisions™)

The Group has complied with all provisions in the Company
Code and the Code Provisions under the Code during the
year ended 31 December 2020 save for code provisions A.2.1
and A.4.1 of the Code, details of the derivation and reason for
derivation are set out in the paragraphs headed “Chairman
and Chief Executive” and “Appointment term of Non-executive
Directors” of this corporate governance report.

The Company Code contains all the Code Provisions of the
Code and other provisions.
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SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding Directors’
securities transactions on terms no less exacting than those as set
out in Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules. Having made
specific enquiry of all Directors, all Directors have complied with
the required standard of dealings and code of conduct regarding
securities transactions by Directors as set out in the Company’s
code of conduct for the year 2020.

BOARD COMPOSITION, ROLE AND FUNCTION

The Board is entrusted with the overall responsibility for promoting
the success of the Company through direction and supervision of
the Company’s business and affairs.

The Board comprises a total of eight Directors, comprising two
executive Directors, namely, Mr. Wang Zhong Sheng (Chairman),
and Mr. Chang Jian, three non-executive directors, namely, Mr.
Duan Shi Chuan, Mr. Liang Feng and Mr. Wang Chen and three
independent non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. Xu Yuan Jian,
Mr. Wang Zhi He and Mr. Lau Chun Pong. Mr. Lau Chun Pong has
appropriate professional qualifications, accounting and financial
management expertise as required under the GEM Listing Rules.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has made an
annual confirmation of independence pursuant to Rule 5.09 of the
GEM Listing Rules. The Company is of the view that all Independent
Non-executive Directors meet the independence guidelines set
out in Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules and are independent in
accordance with the terms of the guidelines.

The Company has complied with Rules 5.05(1), 5.05(2) and 5.05A of
the GEM Listing Rules. During the year ended 31 December 2020,
there were three independent non-executive Directors in the Board
and the number of independent non-executive Directors represents
at least one-third of the Board. The Company has also complied with
Rule 5.05(2) of the GEM Listing Rules, which stipulates that one of
the independent non-executive Directors must possess appropriate
professional qualifications or accounting or related financial
management expertise. The Board considers that the independent
non-executive Directors are all independent persons with appropriate
qualifications or expertise and the Company has complied with the
relevant requirements of the GEM Listing Rules.
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Corporate Governance Functions

The Board is responsible for performing the corporate governance
functions set out in code provision D.3.1 of the Code. In 2020, the
Board has reviewed and monitored: (a) the Company’s corporate
governance policies and practices, (b) training and continuous
professional development of directors and senior management, (c)
the Company'’s policies and practices on compliance with legal and
regulatory requirements, (d) the Company’s code of conduct and (e)
the Company’s compliance with the Code disclosure requirements.

Appointment Term of Non-executive Directors

Under code provision A.4.1 of the Code, non-executive directors
should be appointed for a specific term, subject to re-election.
Currently, the independent non-executive Directors have no
fixed term of office but are subject to retirement by rotation at
annual general meetings of the Company in accordance with the
Company'’s Articles of Association. As such, the Company considers
that sufficient measures have been taken to serve the purpose of this
code provision.

Roles of Directors

The Board assumes responsibility for leadership and control of
the management of the Company and is collectively responsible
for appointing and supervising senior management to ensure that
the operations of the Group are conducted in accordance with the
objectives of the Group. The principal roles of the Board are:

e to lay down the Group’s objectives, strategies, policies and
business plans;

e to monitor and control operating and financial performance
through the determination of the annual budget; and

e to formulate internal control policies and set appropriate policies
to manage risks in pursuit of the Group’s strategic objectives.

The Board is directly accountable to the shareholders and is
responsible for preparing the accounts.
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Delegation by the Board

The Board has delegated the day-to-day management responsibility
to the management staff under the instruction/supervision of the
Board.

The management staff of the Company are principally responsible
for:

1. exercising all such other powers and perform all such other
acts as may be exercised and performed by the Directors, save
and except for those that may specifically be reserved by the
Board and/or the committees set up by the Board for decision
and implementation; or those that may only be exercised by the
Board pursuant to the Articles of Association, the GEM Listing
Rules and other applicable laws and regulations;

2. formulating and/or implementing policies for business activities,
internal controls and administration of the Company;

3. planning and deciding the Company’s strategies on its business
activities; and

4. keeping proper written records of its decisions taken which
may be inspected by any members of the Board or the Board
committees upon request.

The Board will review the above arrangements on a periodic basis to
ensure that they remain appropriate to the needs of the Group.

Chairman and Chief Executive

Under the code provision A.2.1 of the Code, the roles of the
chairman and chief executive should be separate and should not
be performed by the same individual. Prior to the retirement of Mr.
Feng San Li on 26 November 2012, Mr. Feng San Li was holding the
title of CEO. Mr. Wang Zhong Sheng is the chairman of the Board.
After Mr. Feng’s retirement, Mr. Wang Zhong Sheng continues
to act as the chairman and the duties of the chief executive have
been undertaken by the other executive Director. The Board meets
regularly to consider major matters affecting the business and
operations of the Group. The Board considers that this structure
will balance the power and authority between the Board and
management and believes that this structure enables the Group to
make and implement decision promptly and efficiently.

CEEABE

ETERE

BEEeRREEBEBAREEEENET/
ERT BUEEREERE -

>t
o
o
N
i
e
>_
il
H
pai|
puny
pul

1. TEEFATEMNEMPAERDLE
TEFEAETNEMAETY BT
REFIN HEFERUNEES
BERERAITONER  REQF
ABERZAA - GEM AR Al K Ho A
BRARMERZHAE EAHES
SRERENSEHARIN

2. HBIER/RBPTERERRREBEED
MEREEHE RITHAVBUR

3. FEIMREARBIRBEE &

4. REBERENEEESEALE  UE
E=ZeREFZEENEAKRER

BERER -

EEQ T Y FRBHHEL B DR
—EHAAEENE -

EERTHRAR

RIE ST R Z ST AMRSCEB A2 16 - £ /% 2
THRAEHNBEERTES - FEAR—A
ITHRE-RB=MEER_FT—_F+—
AZHRBEREA - RRBITHRAE SIS
=HMEE-FRBEEREFTSEIE -1
ISAEERER  ERBREEBERETE
MITRARNBEE A EMRITESR AR
EXeTHHEERY ELAREEL E
FNEIRFERH EFERL/ARKLEREA
MREFGEEIEERE ) BBEN T
I AE 15 54 AE 1B B (0 AN 5 BIELE A R 1
EHITIRTE °

o

21



22

CHINA CBM GROUP COMPANY LIMITED Annual Report 2020

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
CREARE

BOARD OPERATION

Regular Board meetings are held normally every three months, with
additional meetings arranged, if and when required. In 2020, the
Board held 20 meetings.

The attendance record of each member of the Board at board
meetings and general meetings of the Company are set out below:

EEgEE

EFgkes=-EATHeE X
EERERAIINZHEE -EFERN

iz
=

TEFBRIT0ONEE

EEEZQ@NBHFEARREFEERH AKX
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Attendance of

Board Meetings
EERHER

Attendance of
General Meetings

RERAEHER

Executive Directors

HITES

Mr. Wang Zhong Sheng (Chairman)
TRBEAE (£/E)

Mr. Chang Jian

BRELAE

Non-Executive Directors

FEHITES

Mr. Duan Shi Ghuan (appointed on 16 July 2020)
BLEE(RZE_EFLATBEZE)
Mr. Liang Feng

RIS

Mr. Wang Chen

FHRESE

Mr. Wu Kun (retired on 30 June 2020)
MELAE(R_ZE_ZFFNA=ZTHREMT)

Independent Non-executive Directors
BIFHTES

Mr. Lau Chun Pong

IR FBSELE

Mr. Wang Zhi He

FzMesE

Mr. Xu Yuan Jian

RRERES

20/20

20/20

7/7

20/20

20/20

12/12

20/20

20/20

20/20

1/1

11

0/0

1/1

1/1

1/1

1/1

1/1

1/1

Note: Number of board meeting and general meeting held during the tenure of the Director
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Directors are free to contribute alternative views at meetings and
major decisions would only be taken after deliberation at Board
meetings. Directors who are considered having conflict of interests
or material interests in the proposed transactions or issues to be
discussed would not be counted in the quorum of meeting and
would abstain from voting on the relevant resolution.

All Directors have access to the company secretary who is
responsible for ensuring that the Board procedures are complied
with, and advising the Board on compliance matters.

Directors’ Duties

Every Director is required to keep abreast of his responsibilities as a
director of the Company and of the conduct, business activities and
development of the Company:

e A comprehensive director’s handbook is issued to every
Director, which sets out guidelines on conduct by making
reference to the relevant sections of the statutes or the GEM
Listing Rules, and reminds Directors of their responsibilities
in making disclosure of their interests and potential conflict of
interests.

e  Orientation programmes are organised for providing induction
to new Directors to help them familiarise with the Company’s
management, business and governance practices.

e Management provides appropriate and sufficient information
to Directors and the committee members in a timely manner to
keep them apprised of the latest development of the Group and
enable them to discharge their responsibilities. Directors also
have independent and unrestricted access to senior executives
of the Company.
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DIRECTORS’ CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL
DEVELOPMENT PROGRAMME

Each newly appointed director is provided with necessary induction
and information to ensure that he has a proper understanding of the
Company'’s operations and businesses as well as his responsibilities
under the relevant statutes, laws, rules and regulations. Directors’
training is an ongoing process. During the year ended 31 December
2020, Directors are provided with monthly updates on the
Company’s performance, position and prospects to enable the Board
as a whole and each Director to discharge their duties. In addition,
all Directors are encouraged to participate in continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. The
Company updates Directors on the latest development regarding the
GEM Listing Rules and other applicable regulatory requirements from
time to time, to ensure compliance and enhance their awareness of
good corporate governance practices.

Attending seminar(s)

or programme(s)/

reading relevant materials
in relation to the business,
GEM Listing Rules

or directors’ duties

(Yes/No)
Mr. Wang Zhong Sheng Yes
Mr. Chang Jian Yes
Mr. Duan Shi Chuan Yes
(appointed on 16 July 2020)
Mr. Liang Feng Yes
Mr. Wang Chen Yes
Mr. Wu Kun Yes
(retired on 30 June 2020)
Mr. Lau Chun Pong Yes
Mr. Wang Zhi He Yes
Mr. Xu Yuan Jian Yes
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The briefing sessions covered topics including the Code, listed
company regulations and disclosure obligations in Hong Kong,
discloseable transactions and connected transactions etc.

REMUNERATION PAID TO MEMBERS OF KEY
MANAGEMENT

Details of remuneration paid to member of key management (exclude
Director) fell within the following band:

CEEABE

BENeREnTEeE T FELHA
ALBEEE ATRERS KEE

INFEEEEASHHM

M FERERAL (FREESE) HFH
AR TFATHE :

2020 2019
bt et 23 —T-hF
Number of Number of
individuals individuals
A AEL
Nil ~ HK$1,000,000 Z % %7c1,000,000 7T
(equivalent to approximately (FBZE R % A R ¥ 890,000 7T
RMB890,000 —Z—hF: AR%883,0007T))
(2019: RMB883,000) 2 4

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

A remuneration committee of the Company (the “Remuneration
Committee”) was established on 12 August 2005 for, inter alia, the
following purposes:

(@) to make recommendations to the Board on policies and
structure for remuneration of directors and senior management
and on the establishment of a formal and transparent procedure
for developing such policy on remuneration;

(b) to make recommendations to the Board the remuneration
packages for executive Directors and senior management and
to make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration of
non-executive Directors.

The Remuneration Committee is made up of all of the Company’s
independent non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. Lau Chun Pong
(Chairman), Mr. Xu Yuan Jian and Mr. Wang Zhi He. The duties of
Remuneration Committee is to review and make recommendations
to the remuneration policy and packages of the executive Directors
and executives.
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In 2020, the Remuneration Committee held two meetings. The
attendance record of each member of the Remuneration Committee
is set out below:

FMEREEN _T_TFELRTMALE
FHEZEERKEBMBFELENT

Y

Attendance
HER
Mr. Lau Chun Pong (Chairman) 2/2
2I4R 55 ()
Mr. Wang Zhi He 2/2
FzAEE
Mr. Xu Yuan Jian 2/2
RS E

During the meeting, members of the Remuneration Committee
reviewed the remuneration packages and overall benefits of the
Directors by taking into account factors (such as remuneration
packages and benefits offered by comparable companies, the
respective contribution of each of the Directors to the Group and the
business objectives of the Group).

The executive Directors are responsible for reviewing all relevant
remuneration data and market conditions as well as the performance
of individuals and the profitability of the Group, and proposing to
the remuneration committee for consideration and approval. The
Remuneration Committee performed the major work as below:

1. reviewed and discussed the remuneration policy and structure
of the Company and the remuneration and performance of
duties of the executive Directors and senior management in the
year under review; and

2. made recommendation to the Board on the remuneration
packages of individual executive directors and senior
management.

EeRlE FHEZEeXBCRESRT
E = (WA & L0 A AT IR 4 ) 37 B A5 58
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

A nomination committee of the Company (the “Nomination
Committee”) was established on 12 August 2005 for, inter alia, the
following purposes:

(@) to review the structure, size and composition (including the
skills, knowledge and experience) of the Board;

(b) to identify individuals suitably qualified to become Board
members and make recommendations to the Board on the
selection of individuals nominated for directorship; and

(c) to make recommendations to the Board on relevant matters
relating to the appointment or reappointment of directors and
succession planning for directors.

In August 2013, the Board has adopted its board diversity policy
(the “Board Diversity Policy”). All Board appointments will be based
on meritocracy, and candidates will be considered against selection
criteria based on a range of diversity perspectives, which would
include but not be limited to gender, age, cultural and educational
background, professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of
service. The ultimate decision will be based on merit and contribution
that the selected candidates will bring to the Board.

The Nomination Committee is made up of all of the Company’s
independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Wang Zhi He
(Chairman), Mr. Xu Yuan Jian and Mr. Lau Chun Pong.

In 2020, the Nomination Committee held two meetings. The
attendance record of each member of the Nomination Committee is
set out below:

CEEABE
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“ETRFEN\AT BRI ETENE
SEE

@ BMUEFENRE RERAEAK (2
e - MBRER)
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AL IMIEBRRERALTHEES
AESERLERE &

© MEZFTXAEHZAEETNEFTZE
TErEEMNEERNESTSRAES -

1tﬂzﬁ(F%$@lﬂi,§\%ﬁftﬂ
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EFeELCERMIEARE °

RAZBEEHAR
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HERBRFARAE -

EHBILIIFRITES
CIRFRERSE

T_TFERRITMAEH °

T
EREHFLENT :

REZREEN
Z8¢g

REERE

=

Attendance
HEE
Mr. Wang zZhi He (Chairman) 2/2
F2MEE(EE)
Mr. Lau Chun Pong 2/2
BRI E
Mr. Xu Yuan Jian 2/2
RS E
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At the meeting, the Nomination Committee reviewed the structure,
size and composition of the Company’s Board of Directors, made
reference to criteria including, inter alia, reputation for integrity,
accomplishment and experience in the relevant industry, professional
and educational background, and commitment in respect of available
time and relevant interest. The Nomination Committee was satisfied
with the existing composition of the Board and recommended no
change in the near future, and performed the major work as below:

1. examined the structure, size and composition of the Board, to
ensure the Directors have the expertise, skills and experience
required to meet the Company’s business;

2. assessed the independency of all independent non-executive
Directors; and

3. made recommendations to the Board in this regard.

AMENDMENT TO THE TERMS OF REFERENCE OF
NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The terms of reference of the nomination committee of the Company
was amended on 14 August 2013 to include the review of the
Company’s board diversity policy and the progress on achieving the
objectives set for implementing the said policy as one of its duty.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company’s audit committee (the “Audit Committee”) was
established on 28 July 2003 and currently comprises all three
independent non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. Lau Chun Pong
(Chairman), Mr. Xu Yuan Jian and Mr. Wang Zhi He. The primary
duties of the Audit Committee are (a) to review the Group’s annual
reports, financial statements, half year reports and quarterly reports;
(b) to serve as a focal point for communication between Directors,
the external auditors and internal auditors; (c) to assist the Board
in fulfilling its responsibilities by providing an independent review
and supervision of financial reporting, and the effectiveness of the
Group’s internal control and risk management system; and (d) to
review the appointment of external auditors on an annual basis as
well as to ensure independence of the continuing auditors.
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In 2020, the Audit Committee held five meetings. The attendance
record of each member of the Audit Committee is set out below:

CEEABE

FTNEEeRN T _TERITANEE -

FHEZEERKBMBFELENT

Attendance
HEE

Mr. Lau Chun Pong (Chairman) 5/5
BRI L (£/E)
Mr. Wang Zhi He 5/5
TrMEE
Mr. Xu Yuan Jian 5/5
RS
At the meetings, the Audit Committee has carefully reviewed the & #HM  BEEREZESCAMAEHAL
Company’s quarterly, half-yearly and annual results and its system ANEE YFERFEEE  URAZ
of internal control and has made suggestions to improve them. The  E#|H|E  WERHNEEE - BZZ B
Audit Committee also carried out and discharged its other duties ~ @ IR IRTRIET R BITEMEBEE - B2
set out in Code. In the course of doing so, the Audit Committee has & B ZE8 &R - T — TEV LEVIN/N
met the company’s management several times during year 2020. AMBEEERTZAEE AR aWER

Each member of the Audit Committee has unrestricted access to the
Group’s external auditors and the management.

During the financial year 2020, the Audit Committee has held five
meetings. The Group’s results for the year 2020 have been reviewed
and commented by the Audit Committee members, and performed
the major works as below:

1. reviewed the unaudited consolidated results for the year ended
31 December 2019, the annual financial results and report for
the year ended 31 December 2019, interim financial results and
report for the six months ended 30 June 2020 and quarterly
financial results and reports for each of the three months ended
31 March 2020 and 30 September 2020;

2. reviewed the internal audit department’s report regarding
the reviewing and procedures of the internal control and risk
management of the Company; and

3. provided opinions to the Board in respect of the terms of
appointment of external auditors.
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The Group’s result for the year ended 31 December 2020 have been
reviewed and commented by the audit committee members, which
was of the opinion that the preparation of such results complied with
the applicable accounting standards and requirements as well as the
GEM Listing Rules and that adequate disclosures have been made.

Procedures for directing Shareholders’ enquiries to the
Board

Shareholders may at any time send their enquiries and concerns
to the Board in writing through mails whose contact details are as
follows:

Room 20, 19/F

Fortune Commercial Building
362 Sha Tsui Road

Tsuen Wan, Hong Kong

Tel No.: 2366 1613

Fax No.: 2366 1665

Procedures for putting forward proposals at general
meetings by Shareholders

Pursuant to Article 58 of the Articles of Association, The Board may
whenever it thinks fit call extraordinary general meetings. Any one
or more members holding at the date of deposit of the requisition
not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company
carrying the right of voting at general meetings of the Company
shall at all times have the right, by written requisition to the Board or
the Secretary of the Company, to require an extraordinary general
meeting to be called by the Board for the transaction of any business
specified in such requisition; and such meeting shall be held within
two (2) months after the deposit of such requisition. If within twenty-
one (21) days of such deposit the Board fails to proceed to convene
such meeting the requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may do
so in the same manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred by
the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be
reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.
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Pursuant to Article 88 of the Articles of Association, no person other
than a Director retiring at the meeting shall, unless recommended
by the Directors for election, be eligible for election as a Director
at any general meeting unless a notice signed by a member (other
than the person to be proposed) duly qualified to attend and vote
at the meeting for which such notice is given of his intention to
propose such person for election and also a notice signed by the
person to be proposed of his willingness to be elected shall have
been lodged at the head office or at the registration office provided
that the minimum length of the period, during which such notice(s)
are given, shall be at least seven (7) days and that the period for
lodgment of such notice(s) shall commence no earlier than the day
after the dispatch of the notice of the general meeting appointed for
such election and end no later than seven (7) days prior to the date
of such general meeting.

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT
Financial reporting

The Directors are responsible for overseeing the preparation of the
annual accounts which give a true and fair view of the Group’s state
of affairs of the results and cash flow for the year. In preparing the
accounts for the year ended 31 December 2020, the Directors have:

e adopted suitable accounting policies and applied them
consistently; and

e made judgements and estimates that are prudent and
reasonable; and ensured the accounts are prepared on a going
concern basis.

The Company recognises that high quality corporate reporting is
important in reinforcing the trust relationship between the Company
and the its stakeholders and aims at presenting a balanced, clear
and comprehensible assessment of the Company’s performance,
position and prospects in all corporate communications.

CEEABE

RIBAPEBEIZMANEBSF - FRIFEE
EHE2E IHEASERLFERSY
ARE LRENBRR (LFRSEE)RE
BA RPAEBRAABALSENER
ARERBALTEZEZBARAMEZE
BRKEe EREESI BMEEWALA
BERNERMBRAE L2EEE - LA
HMAZRBMERLBPELRE BN
AEIREMAB  2XZFRN2BE R
TRAREERESIRRAGRSERE
AEPERZBERASRITRYA L) A -

B &Kk F&%
BB/ E

EXREEEFERAZRE  UEER
FihRREAREBERFA 2 BEARENRR
TREMRN - MREBE_T_FTF+=

A=Z+—HLFERER EFE:

. WAEAZEHEETEMER: R

o EHEFEAEZ AW MM AR
RERE IS EREEERYE -

ARRRR/BDERENRARREL MERA
FEEESAZHNGEEFREER  Fit
P (R R I NSKIAF & - BM K2
BT AFHERABHRER RO MBTR -

31



32

CHINA CBM GROUP COMPANY LIMITED Annual Report 2020

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
CREARE

Internal Control and risk management

The Board, through the Audit Committee, has reviewed the
effectiveness of the Company’s system of internal control and risk
management over financial, operational and compliance issues for
the year 2020. The Audit Committee concluded that, in general,
the Group has set up a sound control environment and installed
necessary control mechanisms to monitor and correct non-
compliance. The Board, through the review of the Audit Committee,
is satisfied that the Group in 2020, fully complied with the code
provisions on internal controls and risk management as set forth in
the Code. The Audit Committee also concluded that the Group has
employed sufficient staff for the propose of accounting, financial and
internal control. The Group has internal audit department.

External Auditors

The Group’s external auditors are KTC Partners CPA Limited.
The Audit Committee is mandated to ensure continuing auditors’
objectivity and safeguard independence of the auditors, and it has:

e determined the framework for the type and authorisation of
non-audit services for which the external auditors may provide.
In general, the engagement of the external auditors to perform
non-audit services is prohibited except for tax related services;
and

e agreed with the Board on the policy relating to the hiring of
employees or former employees of the external auditors and
monitored the applications of such policy.

During 2020, the remuneration payable to the Company’s external
auditors for audit and non-audit services were approximately
RMB1,450,000 and RMB 71,000 respectively.
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The accounts for the year ended 31 December 2020 were audited
by KTC Partners CPA Limited whose term of office will expire upon
the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company. The Audit
Committee has recommended to the Board that KTC Partners CPA
Limited be re-appointed as the auditors of the Company at the
forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company.

The Group has not employed any staff who was formerly involved in
the Group’s statutory audit.

Corporate Communication

The Group recognises the importance of shareholder feedback and
the need for ongoing communication with its stakeholders, including
the general public, investors, and the institutional and individual
shareholders. The Company published annual, interim and quarterly
reports which contained detailed information about the Group.
Inquiries by shareholders are directed and dealt with by senior
management of the Group.

Company secretary

Mr. Tse Chun Lai (“Mr. Tse”) has been appointed as the Company
Secretary and the Authorised Representative on January 2020. For
details, please refer to page 36 to this report.

The company secretary has complied with Rule 5.15 of the GEM
Listing Rules in relation to the professional training requirements.

INVESTORS RELATIONSHIP

The Company has established a range of communication channels
between itself and its Shareholders, investors and other stakeholders.
These include the annual general meeting, the annual, interim and
quarterly reports, notices, announcements and circulars and the
Company’s website at http://web.iprofpl.com/8270/info_e.html.

During the year ended 31 December 2020, there had been no
significant change in the Company’s constitutional documents.
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DIRECTORS
Executive Directors

Mr. Wang Zhong Sheng, aged 57, has been appointed as chairman
of the Board, an executive Director and the compliance officer of the
Company since May 2006. From 9 January 2004 to 26 May 2006,
Mr. Wang was an executive director of Tianjin Jinran Public Utilities
Company Limited (“Tianjin Jinran”) (formerly known as Tianjin Tianlian
Public Utilities Company Limited), a company listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 01265, former stock
code: 08290), and was responsible for its business strategies. He
graduated from the University of Tianjin with a bachelor degree in
engineering in 1984. Mr. Wang is also a director of Tianjin Leason
Investment Group Company Limited (K ETHERKREEE A
FR 2 &]). Mr. Wang is a substantial shareholder of the company
which holds 394,239,983 Shares in person or through controlled
corporation, representing approximately 29.88% of the issued share
capital of the Company as at the date of this report. In addition,
as at the date of this report, Mr. Wang is interested as a grantee
of options to subscribe for 324,750 shares under the share option
scheme adopted by the Company on 18 May 2011.

Mr. Chang Jian, aged 55, was appointed as an executive director on
June 2019. Mr. Chang has previously studied in the Safe Engineering
department of Beijing Technical College of Economics (1t & £&
£ F%). Mr. Chang has over 30 years of experience in industrial
production and safety management.
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Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Liang Feng, aged 42, was appointed as an non-executive
director on June 2019. Mr. Liang has previously studied in the
Economic Development course offered by the School of Economics
and Management of Tsinghua University. He has over 15 years of
experience in corporate management.

Mr. Wang Chen, aged 34, was appointed as an non-executive
director on June 2019. Mr. Wang has previously studied in Tianjin
Bohai Vocational Technical College (X3 %&b T B % K i1 2 67).
He has over 10 years of experience in corporate management. Mr.
Wang is the son of the Chairman of the Company.

Mr. Wu Kun, aged 40, was appointed as an non-executive director
on June 2019 and retired as an non-executive director with effect
from 30 June 2020. Mr. Wu was graduated from the Institute of
Cadre Management of the State Administration of Radio, Film
and Television (A REZEEF ER LB %I E 2 2 Ft) majoring
in television photography. He has over 10 years of experience in
corporate management.

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Lau Chun Pong, aged 47, was appointed as an independent
non-executive director on November 2017. Mr. Lau graduated
from the University of California, Los Angeles with a Bachelor
of Arts degree in Business Economics in 1997. Mr. Lau is an
associate member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and a member of the American Institute of Certified
Public Accountants. Mr. Lau has extensive experience in accounting,
auditing and corporate finance. He was (i) the qualified accountant
and company secretary of Shenzhen Mingwah Aohan High
Technology Corporation Limited (37 3Il T B 22 8% B & i& (5 B BR
72 a]) (listed on the GEM of the Stock Exchange with stock code:
8301) from April 2005 to May 2006; (ii) the financial controller and
company secretary of We Solutions Limited (former names: Ming
Fung Jewellery Group Limited and O Luxe Holdings Limited) (listed
on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange with stock code: 860)
from June 2008 and November 2008 respectively to November
2017; (iii) the group financial controller and company secretary of
AV Promotions Holdings Limited (listed on the GEM of the Stock
Exchange with stock code: 8419) from June 2018 to June 2019;
and (iv) the company secretary of Grand T G Gold Holdings Ltd (X
BEES AR A A (isted on the GEM of the Stock Exchange
with stock code: 8299) from January 2019 to February 2020. Mr.
Lau is currently the Company Secretary and Chief Financial Officer
of Clifford Modern Living Holdings Limited (listed on the Main Board
of the Stock Exchange with stock code: 3686), and the independent
non-executive director of China Longevity Group Company Limited
(FFEEEXEEABR QA (isted on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange with stock code: 1863).
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Mr. Wang Zhi He, aged 73, has been an independent non-executive
director of the Company since August 2006. Mr. Wang is a senior
accountant. Mr. Wang graduated from Anhui University of Finance
and Economics in February 1972, and was assigned to finance
department of Anhui Huaibei Mining Bureau and worked as a
commissioner, deputy section chief, section chief, deputy director
and director. Mr. Wang was transferred to the Ministry of Coal
Industry in May 1995, and worked as a director of Asset Capital
Management Division and State-owned Assets Management
department. In October 1997, Mr. Wang was re-designated as a
chief accountant of China Coal Construction Group Corporation, and
worked as a deputy general manager and chief accountant in May
1999. Mr. Wang was transferred to Zhonglian Gas Company Limited
and worked as a chief accountant in March 2004. Mr. Wang has
years of relevant experience.

Mr. Xu Yuan Jian, aged 47, was appointed as an independent non-
executive director on August 2019. Mr. Xu graduated from Beijing
Normal University with a bachelor’s degree in Chemistry in 1994. He
pursued the doctorate in the National University of Singapore from
1997 to 2000. Mr. Xu has years of working experience in research
areas of organic chemical technology as well as in physiochemical
treatment for organic pollutants.

Senior Management

Mr. Tse Chun Lai, aged 37, was appointed as the company
secretary and authorised representative of the Company on January
2020. Mr. Tse obtained a degree of bachelor of arts in Accounting
and Finance from Leeds Beckett University (formerly known as
Leeds Metropolitan University). He is a certified public accountant
of Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Mr. Tse has
over 15 years of experience in business and taxation advisory.
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The Directors present their annual report and the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2020.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. The principal
activities of its subsidiaries are set out in note 39 to the consolidated
financial statements.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2020
are set out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income on page 59 to 60.

The state of affairs of the Group and the Company as at
31 December 2020 are set out in the consolidated and company
statements of financial position on pages 61 to 62 and note
40 respectively. The cash flows of the Group are set out in the
consolidated statement of cash flows on pages 64 to 65.

The Directors of the Company do not recommend the payment of a
dividend for the year ended 31 December 2020.

SHARE CAPITAL AND RESERVES

Details of the movements in share capital of the Company during
the year are set out in note 30(a) to the consolidated financial
statements.

Movements in the reserves of the Group during the year is set out in
page 63 to the consolidated financial statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment of
the Group are set out in note 16 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

A report on the principal corporate governance practices adopted by
the Company is set out on pages 18 to 33 of this annual report.

DONATIONS

Donations by the Group for charitable and other purposes amounted
to approximately RMB nil (2019: approximately RMB nil).

SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A summary of the results and assets and liabilities of the Group for
the last five financial years is set out on page 199 to 200.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

In accordance with the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda and
the Company’s articles of association, the Company’s reserves
available for distribution to its shareholders comprise share premium,
contributed surplus and accumulated losses which in aggregate
amounted to approximately RMB87,414,000 as at 31 December
2020 (2019: RMB139,558,000). The distributable reserves are
available for distribution provided that immediately following the date
on which the dividend is proposed, the Company will be able to pay
off its debt as they fall due in the ordinary course of business.
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DIRECTORS

The Directors who held office during the year ended 31 December
2020 were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Wang Zhong Sheng (Chairrman)
Mr. Chang Jian

Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Duan Shi Chuan
(appointed on 16 July 2020)
Mr. Liang Feng
Mr. Wang Chen
Mr. Wu Kun
(retired on 30 June 2020)

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Lau Chun Pong
Mr. Wang Zhi He
Mr. Xu Yuan Jian

In accordance with article 87 of the Company’s articles of
association, Mr. Chang Jian, Mr. Duan Shi Chuan, Mr. Lau Chun
Pong and Mr. Wang Zhi He retire at the forthcoming annual general
meeting and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election.

The term of office for each of independent non-executive Directors is
the period up to his retirement by rotation and re-election at annual
general meeting of the Company in accordance with the provisions
of the articles of association of the Company.
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Biographical information of the Directors is set out on page 34 to
page 36 of this report.

The Company has received from each of the independent
non- executive Directors an annual confirmation of his independence
pursuant to Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules and the Company
considers the independent non-executive Directors have remained
independent.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the Directors has a service contract with the Company or
any of its subsidiaries which is not terminable by the Group within
one year without payment of compensation, other than statutory
compensation.

DIRECTORS’ AND KEY MANAGEMENT’S
REMUNERATION

Details of Directors’ and key management’s remuneration for the
year are set out in notes 11 and 12 to the consolidated financial
statements.

The Directors’ remuneration are subject to shareholders’ approval at
general meetings. Other emoluments are determined by the Board
with reference to Directors’ duties, responsibilities and performance
and the results of the Group.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

No other contract of significance in relation to the Group’s business
subsisted at the year-end or any time during the year to which
the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party and in which a
Director had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly.

COMPETING INTERESTS

None of the Directors or the management shareholders of the
Company or any of their respective associates (as defined in the
GEM Listing Rules) had an interest in a business which causes or
may cause any significant competition with the business of the
Group.
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SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on Information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Directors, at least 25% of the Company’s
total issued share capital was held by the public as at the date of this
report.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
INTERESTS OR SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2020, the interests and short positions of
the Directors and chief executive of the Company in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFO”)) as recorded in the register
required to be kept by the Company under section 352 of the SFO
or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the required standard of dealings by directors of listed
issuers as referred to in Rule 5.46 of the GEM Listing Rules were as
follows:

Long positions in shares, underlying shares and
debentures of the Company
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Notes:

Such shares are owned by Jumbo Lane Investments Limited.

Mr. Wang Zhong Sheng owns 100% interest in the issued share capital of Jumbo Lane
Investments Limited and he is taken to be interested in the shares owned by Jumbo
Lane Investments Limited pursuant to Part XV of the SFO (Chapter 571 of the Laws of
Hong Kong).

Out of the 376,446,233 long positions, Mr. Wang Zhong Sheng is interested as (i)
a grantee of options to subscribe for 324,750 shares under the new share option
scheme adopted by the Company on 18 May 2011 and (ii) a beneficial owner of
376,121,483 issued shares of the Company. On 31 December 2020, the share
subscription agreement was signed between the Company and Mr. Wang Zhong
Sheng with an aggregate of 758,515,714 subscription shares. The share subscription
agreement is subject to the requirements of announcement and the approval of the
shareholders by way of poll at the extraordinary general meeting of the Company. For
details, please refer to the announcement of the Company dated 31 December 2020,
11 January 2021, 21 January 2021 and 11 February 2021.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2020, none of the
Directors or chief executive of the Company had any other interests
or short positions in any shares, underlying shares or debentures
of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which were required, pursuant to
section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to
therein, or which were otherwise required, pursuant to the required
standard of dealings by directors of listed issuers as referred to in
Rule 5.46 of the GEM Listing Rules, to be notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange. The Group had not issued any debentures
during the Year.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS AND PERSONS
WITH DISCLOSEABLE INTEREST AND SHORT
POSITION IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING
SHARES UNDER THE SFO

As at 31 December 2020, the following persons (other than the
Directors or chief executive of the Company as disclosed above) had
an interest or short positions in the shares and underlying shares of
the Company as recorded in the register required to be kept by the
Company under section 336 of the SFO:
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Long positions in shares of the Company REQRBRBZER

Percentage of
Name Number of shares Nature of Interest shareholding
< 21 vy 4= HEME KRASL
Ms. Zhao Xin (Note) 394,564,733 Interest of spouse 29.91%
HE L (M) [ 2
Note: B 5

Ms. Zhao Xin (the spouse of Mr. Wang Zhong Sheng) is deemed to be interested in her
spouse’s interest in the Company pursuant to the SFO.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2020, no other person
(other than the Directors or chief executive of the Company) had
an interest or short positions in the shares and underlying shares of
the Company as recorded in the register required to be kept by the
Company under to section 336 of the SFO.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S RIGHTS
TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR DEBENTURES

Apart from as disclosed under the heading “Directors’ and Chief
Executive’s Interests or Short Positions in Shares, Underlying Shares
and Debentures” above and in the section “Share Option Scheme”
below, at no time during the Year were rights to acquire benefits by
means of the acquisition of shares in or debentures of the Company
granted to any Director or their respective spouse or minor children
or chief executive or were any such rights exercised by them; or was
the Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangement
to enable the Directors to acquire such rights in any other body
corporate.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

Pursuant to an ordinary resolution passed on 18 May 2011, the
Company’s share option scheme adopted on 28 July 2003 (the “Old
Share Option Scheme”) was terminated and a new share option
scheme (the “New Share Option Scheme”) was adopted which
will remain in force for a period of 10 years from adoption of the
New Share Option Scheme and will expire on 17 May 2021. On
30 May 2011, the Board approved to grant options in respect of
258,300,000 ordinary shares to the Company’s Directors, employees
and consultants under the New Share Option Scheme.

There were no share options that had been granted remained
outstanding under the Old Share Option Scheme prior to its
termination.

For details of the New Share Option Scheme, please refer to the
circular of the Company dated 20 April 2011.
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Information in relation to share options disclosed in accordance with
the GEM Listing Rules was as follows:
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1RIRGEM R AT 58 A BA R A i 0 &
BT

Exercise
price of
Cancelled/ per share Adjusted
Name and Asat Granted Exercised lapsed Asat Date of Exercise asatthedate  exercise price
category of 1 January during the during the duringthe 31 December grant of period of of grant of per share
participants 2020 year year year 2020  share options  share options  share options option
i £ it RiEkE SiERE
- St 23 Bil/ -%-%% Bl BRE  EHA82 k(S
SRERARER -A-R  EmERY  ERERE %% +=A=+-B RERE 188  BROEE kR
Executive Director
HiTEF
Mr. Wang Zhong Sheng 324,750 - - - 324,750 30/5/2011 30/5/2011- 049 381
IRBEE 29/5/2021
324,750 - - - 324,750
Employees 581,726 - - - 581,726 30/5/2011 30/5/2011- 049 381
€& 29/5/2021
Consultants 25,982,598 - - - 25,982,598 30/5/2011 30/5/2011- 049 381
R 29/5/2021
32,119,074 - - - 32,119,074
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Notes:

(i) The terms and conditions of the grants that existed during the year are as follows:

GEE

) REAFEFEZEBERRGEHNT

Number of Contractual
options Vesting conditions life of options
BiREHRE BB RS BRESHTH
Options granted:
ERHERE -
30 May 2011 215,220,000 Vest immediately 10 years
—T——FHA=+H BNE R 104
30 May 2011 43,080,000 Half on each of the first and second anniversaries 10 years
of grant date
—T——FHA=+H REBHzEEARE_EBFEER—F 104F

(ii) The number and weighted average exercise prices of options are as follows:

(i) R EE RNETHITEERNT

Weighted average Number of
exercise price options
INiEEITIEE BREHE

HK$

BT
Outstanding as at 1 January 2020 RZZE_TF—A—BRITE 3.81 32,119,074
Granted during the year FEREED - _
Outstanding as at 31 December 2020 RZZB_TF+_A=+—HBRITE 3.81 32,119,074
Exercisable as at 31 December 2020 RZE_TF+-_A=+—HAET{E 3.81 32,119,074

The options outstanding as at 31 December 2020 had an exercise price of HK$3.81
and a weighted average remaining contractual life of 0.4 years.

As at the date of this report, the total number of shares available for
issue under the New Share Option Scheme was 32,119,074 ordinary
shares, representing approximately 2.43% of the issued shares of
the Company.

The subscription price per share under the New Share Option
Scheme is solely determined by the Board, and shall be at least the
higher of: (i) the closing price of the shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotation sheet on the date of offer to grant option,
which must be a business day; (i) the average of the closing prices
of the shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations
sheets for the 5 business days immediately preceding the date of
offer to grant option; and (jii) the nominal value of a share on the date
of offer to grant option, provided that in the event of fractional prices,
the subscription price per share shall be rounded upwards to the
nearest whole cent.
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MAJOR TRANSACTION AND EVENTS

Connected transaction in relation to subscription of
new shares by a substantial shareholder under specific
mandate and application for whitewash wavier

On 31 December 2020, the Company and Mr. Wang Zhong
Sheng as the Subscriber entered into the Subscription Agreement,
pursuant to which the Company conditionally agreed to allot and
issue, and the Subscriber conditionally agreed to subscribe for, an
aggregate of 758,515,714 Subscription Shares at the Subscription
Price of approximately HK$0.028 per Subscription Share for a
total consideration of HK$21,238,440. The consideration for the
Subscription Shares will be set off on a dollar to dollar basis against
the Loan.

The Subscription Shares represent (i) approximately 57.49% of
the existing issued share capital of the Company as at the date
of this report; and (ii) approximately 36.50% of the issued share
capital of the Company as enlarged by the allotment and issue of
the Subscription Shares (assuming that there is no change in the
issued share capital of the Company other than the issue of the
Subscription Shares). The Subscription Shares shall be allotted and
issued pursuant to the Specific Mandate.

Subscription Completion is conditional upon, among others, the
fulfilment of the terms and conditions as set forth in the Subscription
Agreement.

Application will be made by the Company to the Listing Committee
of the Stock Exchange for the listing of, and permission to deal in,
the Subscription Shares.

As at the date of this report, the Subscriber and the parties acting
in concert with him holds an aggregate of 394,239,983 Shares,
representing approximately 29.88% of the issued share capital of
the Company, among which as to 18,118,500 Shares, representing
approximately 1.37% of the issued share capital of the Company,
are held by Jumbo Lane Investments Limited, a company which is
wholly owned by the Subscriber and as to 376,121,483 Shares,
representing approximately 28.51% of the issued share capital of the
Company, are held by the Subscriber.
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Upon Subscription Completion, the Subscriber and parties acting in
concert with him will hold an aggregate of 1,152,755,697 Shares,
representing approximately 55.47% of the voting rights of the
Company as enlarged by the allotment and issue of the Subscription
Shares (assuming that there is no change in the issued share capital
of the Company other than the issue of the Subscription Shares).
As a result, the Subscriber and parties acting in concert with him
will be obliged to make a mandatory general offer for all the issued
Shares (other than those already owned or agreed to be acquired
by the Subscriber and parties acting in concert with him) pursuant
to Rule 26.1 of the Takeovers Code, unless the Whitewash Waiver is
obtained from the Executive.

The Subscriber will apply to the Executive for the granting of the
Whitewash Waiver in respect of the allotment and issue of the
Subscription Shares and which, if granted, will be subject to the
approval by at least 75% and more than 50% of the votes cast by
the Independent Shareholders by way of a poll in respect of the
Whitewash Waiver and the Subscription (including the Specific
Mandate), respectively, at the SGM. The aforesaid condition is not
capable of being waived. If the Whitewash Waiver is not granted, the
Subscription will not proceed.

As the Subscriber is a substantial Shareholder of the Company
and also an executive Director of the Company, the Subscriber is a
connected person of the Company as defined under Chapter 20 of
the GEM Listing Rules. Accordingly, the Subscription constitutes a
connected transaction on the part of the Company under Chapter 20
of the GEM Listing Rules and will be subject to the announcement,
reporting and approval by the Independent Shareholders’ approval
requirements.

As at the date of this report, the Subscriber and his associates hold
an aggregate of 394,239,983 Shares, representing approximately
29.88% of the issued share capital of the Company. The Subscriber
and his associates will abstain from voting on the resolution
approving the Subscription at the SGM.

For details, please refer to the announcements of the Company
dated 31 December 2020, 11 January 2021, 21 January 2021, 11
February 2021 and 26 March 2021.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the year under review, the top five customers of the Group
together accounted for approximately 36.22% of the Group’s total
sales for the year while the single largest customers accounted for
approximately 14.35% of the Group’s total sales during the year.

The top five suppliers of the Group for the year under review
together accounted for approximately 69.43% of the Group’s total
purchases for the year and the single largest supplier accounted for
approximately 23.43% of the Group’s total purchases.

None of the Directors, their respective associates or any
shareholders of the Company who owns more than 5% of the issued
share capital of the Company has any interests in the Group’s five
largest customers and suppliers above mentioned.

AMOUNT OF CAPITALISED INTEREST

Save as disclosed in this report, no interest has been capitalised by
the Group during the year.

RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEMES

Particular of the retirement benefits schemes of the Group are set
out in note 32 to the consolidated financial statements.

CONVERTIBLE SECURITIES, WARRANTS OR
SIMILAR RIGHTS

As at the date of this report, the Company had outstanding options
to subscribe for 32,119,074 shares under the share option scheme
adopted on 18 May 2011.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the bye-laws of the
Company or the laws of Bermuda, which would oblige the Company
to offer new shares on a pro rata basis to existing Shareholders.
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PURCHASE, SALE ORREDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

During the year ended 31 December 2020, neither the Company nor
any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed any of the listed
securities of the Company nor any of its subsidiaries.

MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
AND CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Details of the related party transactions of the Company are set out
in note 38 to the consolidated financial statements.

During the year ended 31 December 2020, Shanxi Qinshui
Prefecture Chengrong Investment Limited (“Chengrong Investment”)
has provided financing to the Group in the sum of RMB24,200,000.
As Chengrong Investment owns 17% equity interest in Shanxi
Wanzhi Logistics Limited (a non-wholly owned subsidiary of the
Company), Chengrong Investment is a connected person of the
Company under the GEM Listing Rules. As the financing is financial
assistance provided by a connected person for the benefit of the
Group on normal commercial terms (or better to the Company)
where no security over the assets of the Group is granted in respect
of the financial assistance, the transaction are exempt from the
reporting, announcement and independent shareholders’ approval
under Rule 20.65 of the GEM Listing Rules.

The Company has complied with the disclosure requirements
in accordance with Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules. Save
as disclosed above, The Directors consider that those material
related party transactions disclosed in note 38 to the consolidated
financial statements did not fall under the definition of “connected
transactions” or “continuing connected transactions” in accordance
with the GEM Listing Rules during the year under review.

COMPETING INTERESTS

None of the Directors or the management shareholders of the
Company or any of their respective associates (as defined in the
GEM Listing Rules) had an interest in a business which causes or
may cause any significant competition with the business as of the
Group.
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DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has a dividend policy, the objective of which is to
allow shareholders of the Company to participate in the Company’s
profits whilst retaining adequate reserves to sustain the Group’s
future growth. The declaration, form, frequency and amount of
dividend paid by the Company must be in accordance with relevant
laws and regulations and subject to the Articles. In deciding whether
to declare any dividend, the Board will take into account a number
of factors, including the financial results, the distributable reserves,
the operations and liquidity requirements, and the current and future
development plans of the Company. The Board will review the
dividend policy of the Company as appropriate from time to time.

AUDITORS

The accounts for the year ended 31 December 2020 were audited
by KTC Partners CPA Limited whose term of office will expire upon
the annual general meeting. A resolution for the reappointment
of KTC Partners CPA Limited as the auditors of the Company for
the subsequent year is to be proposed at the forthcoming annual
general meeting.

By order of the Board

Wang Zhong Sheng
Chairman

24 March 2021
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KTC Partners CPA Limited

Certified Public Accountants (Practising)

MESHMEBZMAERLE

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF CHINA CBM GROUP COMPANY
LIMITED

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands and continued in Bermuda with
limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of China
CBM Group Company Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as “the Group”) set out on pages 59 to 198,
which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at
31 December 2020, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss,
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income, consolidated statement of changes in equity and
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and
notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary
of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2020, and of its consolidated financial performance and
its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”)
and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group
in accordance with the HKICPA'’s Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.

MATERIAL UNCERTAINTY RELATED TO GOING
CONCERN

We draw attention to note 1 to the consolidated financial statements,
which indicates that the Group incurred a net loss of approximately
RMB36,224,000 for this year ended 31 December 2020, and as
at 31 December 2020, the Group’s current liabilities exceeded its
current assets by RMB294,524,000. As stated in note 1, these
events or conditions indicate that a material uncertainty exists that
may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern. Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter.”

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we
do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

In addition to the matters described in the Material Uncertainty
Related to Going Concern section, we have determined the matters
described below to be the key audit matters to be communicated in
our report.
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Key audit matters identified in our audit are summarised as follows: RBEMOEZP A OEREZEERM

m

Impairment of property, plant and equipment and right- ¥ - #BERREUREHEEE

of-use assets

Refer to note 16 to the consolidated financial statements.

Key Audit Matter
HAREXEE

Al
2RV B RRME16 -

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

HMNEFZNARRZBAREZEE

As at 31 December 2020, the carrying amount of property,
plant and equipment and right-of-use assets before current
year’'s impairment were approximately RMB371,573,000
and RMB33,149,000 respectively. These assets mainly
belonged to three cash generating units (“CGUs”) —
Guangxi Beiliu, Shanxi Qinshui and Yangcheng Huiyang
and are assessed for impairment when indicators of
impairment loss existed at the end of the reporting period.
The Group has incurred losses for current and previous
years. These situations indicate that the carrying value of
these assets may be impaired.
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Impairment tests require the estimation of recoverable
amounts of the relevant cash generating units using a
discounted cash flow approach, as detailed in note 16
to the consolidated financial statements. Management
concluded its impairment assessments and impairment
losses of property, plant and equipment and right-of-use
assets of approximately RMB23,355,000 and RMBNIl
respectively were recognised in profit or loss during the
year as the recoverable amounts of certain property, plant
and equipment were lower than their carrying values.
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Our procedures in relation to the impairment of
property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets
included:

BRPRME - #BENREAREREEEREZ
BFEE:

e We have reviewed the management’s assessment
on the recoverability of these assets and the
reasonableness of the judgements and estimates
used by the management in the value-in-use
calculations made by the independent valuer.
BMEEEEREBUZEEEN R RE MU KR
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e We have discussed the indication of possible
impairment with the management and, where such
indication were identified by the management,
assessed the impairment testing performed by the
management.
BHMEHEREARAIELRNBRETR &
HERBEDLHNEZETR AR EREE
TTHURE DRI

e We have tested the profit forecasts and cash
flows projections on whether they were agreed
to the budgets approved by the directors of the
Company and compared with actual results
available up to the report date.
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Key Audit Matter
FAREZEE

BB R

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BMNNELNABRZAREZEE

We have identified the impairment of property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets as a key audit matter
because of their significance to the consolidated financial
statements and the involvement of a significant degree
of judgements and estimates made by the management
for the profit forecasts and cash flows projections for the
value-in-use calculations made by the independent valuer.
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We have challenged the appropriateness of the
management judgements and estimates used in
the profit forecasts and cash flows projections,
including the sales growth rates and gross profit
margins.
BMEHEMNBEARREREEANMEANE
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We have engaged an independent expert to assist
us in challenging the discount rates adopted in
the value-in-use calculations by reviewing its basis
of calculations and comparing the input data to
market sources.
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We have engaged the independent expert to assist
us in assessing the valuation methodology used
and the appropriateness of the key assumptions
and checked on sample basis, the accuracy
and the relevance of the input data adopted in
management’s value-in-use calculations.
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises all the information in the Company’s annual
report, but does not include the consolidated financial statements
and our auditor’s report thereon. The other information is expected
to be made available to us after the date of this auditor’s report.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information identified above
when it becomes available and, in doing so, consider whether the
other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or
otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the
work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this Other Information, we are required to report that
fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THE
AUDIT COMMITTEE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with
HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control
as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have
no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee assists the directors in discharging their
responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting
process.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditor’s report that includes our opinion solely to you, as a body,
in accordance with section 90 of the Bermuda Companies Act 1981
and our agreed terms of engagement, and for no other purpose. We
do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other
person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected
to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of
these consolidated financial statements.

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the
consolidated financial statements is located at the HKICPA’s
website at: http://www.hkicpa.org.hk/en/standards-and-regulations/
standards/auditing-assurance/auditre/. This description forms part of
our auditor’s report.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control
that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence,
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters
that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and
where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards
applied.
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B B AR S

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit
of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are
therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

KTC Partners CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants (Practising)

Chow Yiu Wah, Joseph
Audit Engagement Director
Practising Certificate Number: PO4686

Hong Kong
24 March 2021
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

meEBEER

For the year ended 31 December 2020 HZ—ZE_ZF+_-A=+—HILFE

2020 2019
—EEF —ZT—hF
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
B EE AR®TR AREF T
Revenue I 25 5 179,329 168,229
Cost of sales $H 5 A AR (158,019) (121,462)
Gross profit EF 21,310 46,767
Other income and gains or losses H A Rz sk &8 6 22,680 4,229
Selling and distribution costs SHE R SR AR (7,436) (7,262)
Administrative and other expenses THREEMES (40,750) (58,530)
Impairment loss on property, plant and 472 - #28 & R RE
equipment &8 (23,355) (40,637)
Impairment loss under expected BHEEEREX TRE
credit loss model, net of reversal EiE - MREEE 7 (752) (3,499)
Finance costs B 5 & A 8 (8,127) (9,880)
Loss before taxation MRBIAIEE 9 (36,430) (68,812)
Income tax credit FrisHif e 10 206 1
Loss for the year AEEEE (36,224) (68,811)
Attributable to: THIRELL :
Equity shareholders of the Company KRR E (40,627) (63,510)
Non-controlling interests FEIE AR RE 4,403 (5,301)
(36,224) (68,811)
RMB RMB
AR# AR
Loss per share FiREE 14
— Basic and diluted —EARRE#E 3.08 cents & 4.81 cents

The notes on pages 66 to 198 form part of these consolidated

financial statements.

F66HE198H 2 M sTEK Ik Z 454 B 7%
MR E AP o
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

meEakAtEZEKER

For the year ended 31 December 2020 BZ—ZT_FTF+_-A=+—HIFE

2020 2019
—ECEF —E-NEF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®Tx ARETTT
Loss for the year AEEEE (36,224) (68,811)
Other comprehensive income AEEHMPEITA (BIR)
(loss) for the year
ltem that may be reclassified HEigngeEFsEe
subsequently to profit or loss: B=mIER -
Exchange differences on translation REBINEB B REZ
of financial statements of foreign ME X ZRE
operations 2,812 (1,271)
Total comprehensive loss AEEZHEELEE
for the year (33,412) (70,082)
Total comprehensive loss THEEEZEEEETE :
attributable to:
Equity shareholders of the Company KRAIHERKRE (37,815) (64,781)
Non-controlling interests FEFEARHE A 4,403 (5,301)
(33,412) (70,082)

The notes on pages 66 to 198 form part of these consolidated

financial statements.

HEERELD
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
mE BRI R

At 31 December 2020 A—E=-ZF+-A=+—H

2020 2019
—EEF —E—NF
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
B aE AR®TX AREEFIT

Non-current assets kREEE

Property, plant and equipment VI - MBS R E 16 371,573 442,489
Right-of-use assets TRAEEE 17 33,149 33,324
Deposits and prepayments HEISSEN P 19 26,041 26,056

430,763 501,869

Current assets MENBE

Inventories FE 20 7,316 7,674
Trade and other receivables JrE L B R B E Ath i U 5K IE 21 36,689 29,097
Tax recoverable A Y 0] R T 2,000 2,000
Bank balances and cash HekIReEED 22 25,880 18,265

71,885 57,036

Current liabilities REAE

Trade and other payables JE < BR 3k K L i FE 5 3RIE 23 260,815 278,270
Bank and other borrowings RIT R EMER 24 54,200 54,200
Lease liabilities HEEE 25 6,652 4,947
Convertible bonds AR EH 26 - 15,604
Provision B 27 21,583 19,078
Contract liabilities eEHaE 28 20,180 14,724
Tax payable JERI TR IR 2,979 4,187

366,409 391,010

Net current liabilities mEBERE (294,524) (333,974)
Total assets less current liabilities #AEERAHSAEE 136,239 167,895
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

e BRI R

At 31 December 2020 R—ZE-ZF+_-A=+—H

2020 2019
—ECEF —FE-NF
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
B 5 AR®Tx ARETTT

Non-current liabilities FREBAEE

Bank and other borrowings RITREMER 24 5,000 -
Lease liabilities HEARE 25 7,501 8,722
Deferred tax liabilities EEHIEBE 29 4,944 6,030

17,445 14,752

Net assets BEZRE 118,794 153,143
Capital and reserves BERNRGFEE

Share capital & s 30(a) 10,910 10,910
Reserves B 136,829 174,644
Equity attributable to equity RARERRRIEGER

shareholders of the Company 147,739 185,554

Non-controlling interests FEFE AR RE 2 (28,945) (32,411)
Total equity HpERS 118,794 153,143

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 24
March 2021.

Wang Zhong Sheng
FRB
Director

EF

The notes on pages 66 to 198 form part of these consolidated
financial statements.
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FFEH PEKEREEER AR

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
RERBREHR

For the year ended 31 December 2020 HZ—ZE_ZF+_-A=+—HILFE

Attributable to equity shareholders of the Company

ARARERREN
Share ~ Convertible Non-
Share Share General  Translation ~ Contributed option bonds  Accumulated controlling Total
capital  premium reserve reserve surplus reserve reserve losses Total interests equity
Tk

ke RBEE -REE  BERE  EMER BRERE  EHEE  RHER Bt FeRES Bigs

RMB'00  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000

AEBTR ARHTR ARETR ARBTR ARETR ARETZ ARBTR ARMTR ARETR ARETR ARETR

Balanceat 1 Jenuary 2019 RZZ-NE-A-BER 10910 181,082 8213 (11419 584,838 30,849 8,652 (512,850) 250,335 (27,110 223205

Loss for the year TEEER - - - - - - - 63510) (63510) (5,301) (68,811)
Other comprehensieloss ~ AEEEHZAEE

for the year - - - (1.71) - - - - (1.1 - (1,271)
Tota comprehensiveloss ~ AEE2AFEES

for the year - - - (1,71 - - - (63,510) (64,781) (5,301) (70,08
Balance at R-B-1E+2R

31 December 2019 S+-RER 10910 181,082 8,273 (12,6%0) 584,838 30849 8652 (576,360) 185,554 (2411) 13,143

Balanceat f Janvay 2020  H-E-FE-F-R&R 10910 131,082 8,213 (12,690 584,838 30,849 8652  (576,360) 185,554 (32,411) 183,143

Loss for the year TEEER - - - - - - - (oean)  (40620) 4403 (36,224)
Other comprehensiveincome B2 Al

forthe year - - - 2,812 - - - - 2,812 - 2812
Total comprehensiveloss ~ AEE2AFEES

forthe year - - - 2812 - - - (40,627) (37,815) 4,403 (33412)

Capita reducton of HEARERHE

subsidiary - - - - = = = = = (937) (937)
Balance at W-B-FE+28

31 December 2020 S+-REH 10,910 181,082 8,213 (0878 584,838 30,849 8652  (616,087) 147,189 (28,945) 118,794
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

RERETRER

For the year ended 31 December 2020 BZ—ZT_FTF+_-A=+—HIFE

2020 2019
—E-%HF —T—hF
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
B E ARB TR ARETTT
Operating activities REEK
Loss before taxation BRELATE 1B (36,430) (68,812)
Adjustments for: TP B IERE
Depreciation of property, plant and LE I =Y
equipment e 57,732 66,906
Amortisation of right-of-use assets E RS EEE 875 870
Impairment loss on property, M - HES NERERE
plant and equipment &8 23,355 40,637
Written off of property, plant and M - HES M ER S
equipment € 3,538 9,050
Interest income FEUA (31) (25)
Net (gain)/loss on disposal of property, HE¥E - #22 M& &
plant and equipment 2% (W) BB (110) 472
Impairment loss on inventories FEREEE = 239
Impairment loss on trade receivables ~ TEHAEEEEERXT
and other receivables under JFE U5 B R K L A E L
expected credit loss model, FIB 2 REEE
net of reversal HBR B [l 752 3,499
Reversal of prepayment previously SCRTRVE 2 TR B
impaired Rl (1,510) -
Written off of other payables 0 85 EL 4t FE A< R IE - (22)
Finance costs Wi%5E R 8,127 9,880
Provision for production safety costs FEERERAEE 3,376 2,844
59,674 65,538
Changes in working capital EEESEE)
Decrease/(increase) in inventories FERL,(Em) 358 (652)
Increase in trade and other receivables  J& U BR 2k & £ 4 g Uik
TRIAE N (7,933) (1,183)
Decrease in trade and other payables & {<F Bk 5% 5 £ 4th JiE 1
RIEE D (35,859) (59,873)
Increase in contract liabilities BHEEEM 5,456 3,203
Decrease in provision for production EEREBRERD
safety (871) (412)
Cash generated from operations REXREEZHE 20,825 6,721
PRC Enterprise Income Tax paid BB RGN (3,022) (1,226)
Net cash generated from operating REEEKELEZRLFHE
activities 17,803 5,495
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
RERTRER

For the year ended 31 December 2020 HZ—ZE_ZF+_-A=+—HILFE

2020 2019
—_— = _— $ _ j-l./ E
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
B EE AR®TR ARETTT
Cash flows from investing activities REFHELZREAKR
Payment for purchase of property, BEWE BEEEREZ
plant and equipment BN (14,375) (9,196)
Payment for purchase of right-of-use EEERAEEE N
assets (700) -
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEWE  HESRREZ
plant and equipment Fr{S#K18 776 1,592
Decrease in deposits and prepayments ] & &i‘ﬁﬁ KIE R 1,085 -
Interest received 2 FIE 31 25
Net cash used in investing activities RE;EZENFTA 2R & R5E (13,183) (7,579)
Cash flows from financing activities BEEFHELEZBRERE
Proceeds from new bank and other FTIGRIT REMERZ
borrowings Fri55K38 35,000 30,000
Repayment of bank and other EERITREMBERK
borrowings (30,000) (35,000)
Interest paid on bank and other RITREMERZ
borrowings EANEUESS (1,638) (2,161)
Proceeds from lease liabilities HEBEBMSHIA 6,000 14,000
Repayment of lease liabilities EEHERE (5,516) (2,331)
Interest paid on lease liabilities REEBEDHFE (1,381) (731)
Net cash generated from financing ®RIEEEIFFBS RS REE
activities 2,465 3,777
Net increase in cash and cash HeRBALEEYD
equivalents B hNFEE 7,085 1,693
Cash and cash equivalents at R—BA—BZzHRERHAS
1 January FEY 18,265 17,256
Effect of foreign exchange rate EXESEHoTE
changes 530 (684)
Cash and cash equivalents at R+=-A=+—HzH%
31 December RRE&EFEY 22 25,880 18,265
The notes on pages 66 to 198 form part of these consolidated F66 AE198 B 2 M T A It F 474 B 7%
financial statements. WMFREHAPE -
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 2 —Z-ZF+_-_A=+—HILLFE

66

GENERAL INFORMATION

China CBM Group Company Limited (the “Company”) was
incorporated as an exempted company with limited liability in
the Cayman Islands on 15 July 2002 under the Companies
Laws of the Cayman Islands and continued in Bermuda. The
change of domicile of the Company from Cayman Islands to
Bermuda was effective on 23 April 2014.

The directors consider the immediate parent and ultimate
holding company of the Company to be Jumbo Lane
Investments Limited, which is incorporated in the BVI and
wholly owned by Mr. Wang Zhong Sheng, who is the ultimate
controlling party of the Group and also the Chairman and
Executive Director of the Company.

The shares of the Company are listed on the GEM of The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).
The addresses of the registered office and principal place of
business of the Company are disclosed in the “Corporate
Information” section in the annual report.

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding.
The Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the
“Group”) are principally engaged in the business of exploitation,
liquefaction production and sale of natural gas and coalbed gas
in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”).

The consolidated financial statements are presented in
Renminbi (“RMB”), which is also the functional currency of the
Company’s major operating subsidiaries.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
of the Company have given careful consideration to the future
liquidity of the Group in light of the fact that the Group incurred
a net loss of approximately RMB36,224,000 for the year ended
31 December 2020 and as at 31 December 2020, the Group’s
current liabilities exceeded its current assets by approximately
RMB294,524,000. These conditions indicate the existence of
a material uncertainty that may cast significant doubt about
the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern and that the
Group may be unable to realise its assets and discharge its
liabilities in the normal course of business.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR MEE

For the year ended 31 December 2020 HZ—ZE_ZF+_-A=+—HILFE

GENERAL INFORMATION (Continued)

Nevertheless, the directors of the Company had adopted the
going concern basis in the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements of the Group based on the following
factors:

(1)

Mr. Wang Zhong Sheng (“Mr. Wang”), the ultimate
controlling party of the Group and the Chairman and
executive director of the Company, has confirmed that
he will provide continuing financial support to the Group
to enable it to continue as a going concern and to settle
its liabilities as and when they fall due in the foreseeable
future;

The directors of the Company anticipate that the Group
will continue to generate positive cash flows from its
operations in the foreseeable future;

After 31 December 2020, certain construction suppliers of
the Group whom the Group owed an aggregate amount
of approximately RMB52 million as at 31 December 2020
and included in payables for acquisition of property, plant
and equipment as set out in note 23 under trade and other
payables, have indicated not to demand for repayment for
the amounts due to them before 31 December 2022;

After 31 December 2020, the lender of an unsecured
loan of approximately RMB24 million as at 31 December
2020 and included in amount due to a non-controlling
shareholder of PRC subsidiary under bank and borrowings
as at 31 December 2020, has indicated to extend
repayment period up to 31 December 2022;

In relation to the secured bank borrowings of approximately
RMB30,000,000 which will be due in 2021, the directors
are confident that the Group will be able to extend the
bank borrowings in full upon their maturity, and the bank
will not demand for early repayment, based on the past
history of renewals and good relationship of the Group with
the banks; and
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 2 —Z-ZF+_-_A=+—HILLFE

1.

GENERAL INFORMATION (Continued)

(6) At 31 December 2020, the directors are confident that the
Group will be able to renew credit facilities of approximately
RMB50,000,000 from an entity, which is the subsidiary of
a reputable state-owned enterprise in the PRC which is
listed in the HKEX, based on the past history of renewals
and good relationship with the entity.

Provided that these measures can be successfully implemented
by the Group to improve the liquidity of the Group, the directors
of the Company are satisfied that the Group will be able to
meet its financial obligations as and when they fall due for
the foreseeable future. According, the consolidated financial
statements have been prepared on a going concern basis.

Should the Group be unable to operate as a going concern,
adjustments would have to be made to write down the value
of assets to their recoverable amounts, to provide for further
liabilities which might arise and to reclassify non-current assets
and liabilities as current assets and liabilities respectively. The
effects of these adjustments have not been reflected in the
consolidated financial statements.

1.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR MEE

For the year ended 31 December 2020 HZ—ZE_ZF+_-A=+—HILFE

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”)

Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily
effective for the current year

In the current year, the Group has applied the Amendments to
References to the Conceptual Framework in HKFRS Standards
and the following amendments to HKFRSs issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) for the
first time, which are mandatorily effective for the annual period
beginning on or after 1 January 2020 for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements:
Amendments to HKAS 1 and Definition of Material
HKAS 8
Amendments to HKFRS 3 Definition of a Business
Amendments to HKFRS 9, Interest Rate Benchmark
HKAS 39 and HKFRS 7 Reform

Except as described below, the application of the Amendments
to References to the Conceptual Framework in HKFRS
Standards and the amendments to HKFRSs in the current
year had no material impact on the Group’s financial positions
and performance for the current and prior years and/or on the
disclosures set out in these consolidated financial statements.
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 BZ—ZT_FTF+_-A=+—HIFE

2. APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

(“HKFRSs”) (Continueq)

2.1 Impact on application of Amendments to

HKAS 1 and HKAS 8 Definition of Material

The Group has applied the Amendments to HKAS 1
and HKAS 8 for the first time in the current year. The
amendments provide a new definition of material that
states “information is material if omitting, misstating or
obscuring it could reasonably be expected to influence
decisions that the primary users of general purpose
financial statements make on the basis of those financial
statements, which provide financial information about a
specific reporting entity.” The amendments also clarify
that materiality depends on the nature or magnitude of
information, either individually or in combination with other
information, in the context of the financial statements taken
as a whole.

The application of the amendments in the current year had
no impact on the consolidated financial statements.

2.2 Impact on application of Amendments to

HKFRS 3 Definition of a Business

The Group has applied the amendments for the first time
in the current year. The amendments clarify that while
businesses usually have outputs, outputs are not required
for an integrated set of activities and assets to qualify as
a business. To be considered a business, an acquired set
of activities and assets must include, at a minimum, an
input and a substantive process that together significantly
contribute to the ability to create outputs.

The amendments remove the assessment of whether
market participants are capable of replacing any missing
inputs or processes and continuing to produce outputs.
The amendments also introduce additional guidance that
helps to determine whether a substantive process has
been acquired.
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2. APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”) (Continueq)

22 EREBMKEHRELERES

2.2 Impact on application of Amendments to

HKFRS 3 Definition of a Business (Continued)

In addition, the amendments introduce an optional
concentration test that permits a simplified assessment
of whether an acquired set of activities and assets is not
a business. Under the optional concentration test, the
acquired set of activities and assets is not a business
if substantially all of the fair value of the gross assets
acquired is concentrated in a single identifiable asset
or group of similar assets. The gross assets under
assessment exclude cash and cash equivalents, deferred
tax assets, and goodwill resulting from the effects of
deferred tax liabilities. The election on whether to apply the
optional concentration test is available on transaction-by-
transaction basis.

The amendments had no impact on the consolidated
financial statements of the Group but may impact future
periods should the Group make any acquisition.

2.3 Impact on application of Amendments to

HKFRS 9, HKAS 39 and HKFRS 7 Interest Rate
Benchmark Reform

The Group has applied the amendments for the first
time in the current year. The amendments modify
specific hedge accounting requirements to allow hedge
accounting to continue for affected hedges during
the period of uncertainty before the hedged items or
hedging instruments affected by the current interest
rate benchmarks are amended as a result of the on-
going interest rate benchmark reform. The amendments
are relevant to the Group given that it applies hedge
accounting to its benchmark interest rate exposures.

The amendments had no impact on the consolidated
financial statements of the Group.
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2. APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”) (Continueq)

24 REEAE B KEHREEA

2.4 Impact on early application of Amendment to

HKFRS 16 Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions

The Group has applied the amendment for the first time
in the current year. The amendment introduces a new
practical expedient for lessees to elect not to assess
whether a Covid-19-related rent concession is a lease
modification. The practical expedient only applies to rent
concessions occurring as a direct consequence of the
Covid-19 that meets all of the following conditions:

e the change in lease payments results in revised
consideration for the lease that is substantially the
same as, or less than, the consideration for the lease
immediately preceding the change;

e any reduction in lease payments affects only payments
originally due on or before 30 June 2021; and

e there is no substantive change to other terms and
conditions of the lease.

A lessee applying the practical expedient accounts for
changes in lease payments resulting from rent concessions
the same way it would account for the changes applying
HKFRS 16 Leases if the changes were not a lease
modification. Forgiveness or waiver of lease payments are
accounted for as variable lease payments. The related
lease liabilities are adjusted to reflect the amounts forgiven
or waived with a corresponding adjustment recognised in
the profit or loss in the period in which the event occurs.

The application of the amendment had no impact to the
opening retained profits at 1 January 2020.
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2. APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”) (Continueq)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not

yet effective
The Group has not early applied the following new and
amendments to HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet

effective:
Amendments to HKFRS 3 Reference to the Conceptual
Framework?
Amendments to HKFRS 9, Interest Rate Benchmark Reform —
HKAS 39, HKFRS 7, Phase 2*
HKFRS 4 and HKFRS 16
Amendments to HKFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets
and HKAS 28 between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture®
Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current and
related amendments to Hong
Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)'
Amendments to HKAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment —
Proceeds before Intended Use?
Amendments to HKAS 37 Onerous Contracts — Cost of
Fulfiling a Contract?
Amendments to HKFRSs Annual Improvements to HKFRSs
2018-2020?
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2. APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”) (Continueq)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not
yet effective (Continuea)

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023.

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022.
¢ Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be determined.
4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021.

Except for the new and amendments to HKFRSs mentioned
below, the directors of the Company anticipate that the
application of all other new and amendments to HKFRSs
will have no material impact on the consolidated financial
statements in the foreseeable future.

Amendments to HKFRS 3 Reference to the
Conceptual Framework

The amendments:

e update a reference in HKFRS 3 Business Combinations
so that it refers to the Conceptual Framework for Financial
Reporting 2018 issued in June 2018 (the “Conceptual
Framework”) instead of Framework for the Preparation
and Presentation of Financial Statements (replaced by
the Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting 2010
issued in October 2010);
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APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”) (Continueq)

Amendments to HKFRS 3 Reference to the
Conceptual Framework (Continued)

e add a requirement that, for transactions and other events
within the scope of HKAS 37 Provisions, Contingent
Liabilities and Contingent Assets or HK(IFRIC)-Int 21
Levies, an acquirer applies HKAS 37 or HK(IFRIC)-Int
21 instead of the Conceptual Framework to identify the
liabilities it has assumed in a business combination; and

e add an explicit statement that an acquirer does not
recognise contingent assets acquired in a business
combination.

The application of the amendments is not expected to have
significant impact on the financial position and performance of
the Group.

Amendments to HKFRS 9, HKAS 39, HKFRS 7,
HKFRS 4 and HKFRS 16 Interest Rate Benchmark
Reform - Phase 2

Amendments to HKFRS 9, HKAS 39, HKFRS 7, HKFRS 4
and HKFRS 16 /nterest Rate Benchmark Reform — Phase 2
relate to the modification of financial assets, financial liabilities
and lease liabilities, specific hedge accounting requirements
and disclosure requirements applying HKFRS 7 Financial
Instruments: Disclosures to accompany the amendments
regarding modifications and hedge accounting.
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2. APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”) (Continueq)

Amendments to HKFRS 9, HKAS 39, HKFRS 7,
HKFRS 4 and HKFRS 16 Interest Rate Benchmark
Reform - Phase 2 (Continued)

¢ Modification of financial assets, financial liabilities
and lease liabilities. A practical expedient is introduced
for modifications required by the reform (modifications
required as a direct consequence of the interest rate
benchmark reform and made on an economically
equivalent basis). These modifications are accounted for by
updating the effective interest rate. All other modifications
are accounted for using the current HKFRSs requirements.
A similar practical expedient is proposed for lessee
accounting applying HKFRS 16;

e Hedge accounting requirements. Under the
amendments, hedge accounting is not discontinued solely
because of the interest rate benchmark reform. Hedging
relationships (and related documentation) are required to
be amended to reflect modifications to the hedged item,
hedging instrument and hedged risk. Amended hedging
relationships should meet all qualifying criteria to apply
hedge accounting, including effectiveness requirements;
and

e Disclosures. The amendments require disclosures in
order to allow users to understand the nature and extent
of risks arising from the interest rate benchmark reform
to which the Group is exposed to and how the entity
manages those risks as well as the entity’s progress in
transitioning from interbank offered rates to alternative
benchmark rates, and how the entity is managing this
transition.

The application of the amendments is not expected to have
significant impact on the financial position and performance of
the Group.
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APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”) (Continueq)

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 Sale or
Contribution of Assets between an Investor and
its Associate or Joint Venture

The amendments to HKFRS 10 Consolidated Financial
Statements and HKAS 28 Investments in Associates and
Joint Ventures deal with situations where there is a sale or
contribution of assets between an investor and its associate or
joint venture. Specifically, the amendments state that gains or
losses resulting from the loss of control of a subsidiary that does
not contain a business in a transaction with an associate or a
joint venture that is accounted for using the equity method, are
recognised in the parent’s profit or loss only to the extent of the
unrelated investors’ interests in that associate or joint venture.
Similarly, gains and losses resulting from the remeasurement
of investments retained in any former subsidiary (that has
become an associate or a joint venture that is accounted for
using the equity method) to fair value are recognised in the
former parent’s profit or loss only to the extent of the unrelated
investors’ interests in the new associate or joint venture.

The application of the amendments is not expected to have
significant impact on the financial position and performance of
the Group.
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2. APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

(“HKFRSs”) (Continueq)

—BE+-ASt—ALEE

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of

Liabilities as Current or Non-current and related
amendments to Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)

The amendments provide clarification and additional guidance
on the assessment of right to defer settlement for at least
twelve months from reporting date for classification of liabilities
as current or non-current, which:

e gpecify that the classification of liabilities as current or non-
current should be based on rights that are in existence
at the end of the reporting period. Specifically, the
amendments clarify that:

() the classification should not be affected by
management intentions or expectations to settle the

liability within 12 months; and

(i) if the right is conditional on the compliance with
covenants, the right exists if the conditions are met
at the end of the reporting period, even if the lender
does not test compliance until a later date; and (Note)

e clarify that if a liability has terms that could, at the option
of the counterparty, result in its settlement by the transfer
of the entity’s own equity instruments, these terms do
not affect its classification as current or non-current only
if the entity recognises the option separately as an equity
instrument applying HKAS 32 Financial Instruments:

Presentation.

In addition, Hong Kong Interpretation 5 was revised as a
consequence of the Amendments to HKAS 1 to align the
corresponding wordings with no change in conclusion.

Based on the Group’s outstanding liabilities as at 31 December
2020, and the related terms and conditions stipulated in the
agreements between the Group and the relevant lenders, the
application of the amendments will not result in reclassification

of the Group’s liabilities as at 31 December 2020.
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APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”) (Continueq)

Amendments to HKAS 16 Property, Plant and
Equipment - Proceeds before Intended Use

The amendments specify that the costs of any item that
were produced while bringing an item of property, plant and
equipment to the location and condition necessary for it to be
capable of operating in the manner intended by management
(such as samples produced when testing whether the relevant
property, plant and equipment is functioning properly) and the
proceeds from selling such items should be recognised and
measured in the profit or loss in accordance with applicable
standards. The cost of the items are measured in accordance
with HKAS 2 /nventories.

The application of the amendments is not expected to have
significant impact on the financial position and performance of
the Group.

Amendments to HKAS 37 Onerous Contracts -
Cost of Fulfilling a Contract

The amendments specify that, when an entity assesses whether
a contract is onerous in accordance with HKAS 37 Provisions,
Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets, the unavoidable
costs under the contract should reflect the least net cost of
exiting from the contract, which is the lower of the cost of
fulfiling it and any compensation or penalties arising from failure
to fulfil it. Costs of fulfilling the contract include incremental
costs and an allocation of other costs that relate directly to
fulfilling contracts (for example, an allocation of the depreciation
charge for an item of property, plant and equipment used in
fulfiling the contract).

The amendments are applicable to contracts for which the
Group has not yet fulfilled all its obligations as at the date of
initial application.

The application of the amendments is not expected to have
significant impact on the financial position and performance of
the Group.
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2.

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”) (Continueq)

Amendments to HKFRSs Annual Improvements to
HKFRSs 2018-2020

The annual improvements make amendments to the following
standards.

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments

The amendment clarifies that for the purpose of assessing
whether modification of terms of original financial liability
constitutes substantial modification under the “10 per cent”
test, a borrower includes only fees paid or received between
the borrower and the lender, including fees paid or received by
either the borrower or the lender on the other’s behalf.

HKFRS 16 Leases

The amendment to lllustrative Example 13 accompanying
HKFRS 16 removes from the example the illustration of
reimbursement relating to leasehold improvements by the lessor
in order to remove any potential confusion.

HKAS 41 Agriculture

The amendment ensures consistency with the requirements
in HKFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement by removing the
requirement in paragraph 22 of HKAS 41 to exclude taxation
cash flows when measuring the fair value of a biological asset
using a present value technique.

The application of the amendments is not expected to have
significant impact on the financial position and performance of
the Group.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with all applicable HKFRSs, which collective
term includes all applicable individual HKFRSs, Hong Kong
Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations issued by
the HKICPA, accounting principles generally accepted in Hong
Kong. These consolidated financial statements also comply
with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance and the applicable disclosure provisions of the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on the GEM of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“GEM Listing Rules”).

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on
the historical cost basis at the end of each reporting period, as
explained in the accounting policies set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset
or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between
market participants at the measurement date, regardless of
whether that price is directly observable or estimated using
another valuation technique. In estimating the fair value
of an asset or a liability, the Group takes into account the
characteristics of the asset or liability if market participants
would take those characteristics into account when pricing
the asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair value for
measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these consolidated
financial statements is determined on such a basis, except for
share-based payment transactions that are within the scope
of HKFRS 2 “Share-based Payment”, leasing transactions
that are accounted for in accordance with HKFRS 16, and
measurements that have some similarities to fair value but
are not fair value, such as net realisable value in HKAS 2
“Inventories” or value in use in HKAS 36 “Impairment of Assets”.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on the
degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements are
observable and the significance of the inputs to the fair value
measurement in its entirety, which are described as follows:

e Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity can
access at the measurement date;

e Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included
within Level 1, that are observable for the asset or liability,

either directly or indirectly; and

e |evel 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or
liability.

The principal accounting policies are set out below.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial

statements of the Company and entities controlled by the

Company and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the

Company:

e has power over the investee;

e s exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
investment with the investee; and

e has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassess whether or not it controls an investee if

facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one
or more of the three elements of control listed above.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins with the Group obtaining
control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses
control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses
of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are
included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income from the date the Company gains
control until the date when the Group ceases to control the
subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive income
are attributed to the owners of the Company and to the
non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive income of
subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the Company and
to the non-controlling interests even if this results in the non-
controlling interests having a deficit balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies in
line with Group’s accounting policies.

All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses
and cash flows relating to transactions between members of
the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented
separately from the Group’s equity therein, which represent
present ownership interests entitling their holders to a
proportionate share of net assets of the relevant subsidiaries
upon liquidation.

3.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a performance
obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the goods or
services underlying the particular performance obligation is
transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or a
bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of distinct
goods or services that are substantially the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised over
time by reference to the progress towards complete satisfaction
of the relevant performance obligation if one of the following
criteria is met:

e the customer simultaneously receives and consumes
the benefits provided by the Group’s performance as the
Group performs;

e the Group’s performance creates and enhances an asset
that the customer controls as the Group performs; or

e the Group’s performance does not create an asset with
an alternative use to the Group and the Group has an
enforceable right to payment for performance completed
to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the
customer obtains control of the distinct good or service.

A contract asset represents the Group’s right to consideration in
exchange for goods or services that the Group has transferred
to a customer that is not yet unconditional. It is assessed
for impairment in accordance with HKFRS 9. In contrast,
a receivable represents the Group’s unconditional right to
consideration, i.e. only the passage of time is required before
payment of that consideration is due.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to transfer
goods or services to a customer for which the Group has
received consideration (or an amount of consideration is due)
from the customer.

A contract asset and a contract liability relating to a contract are
accounted for and presented on a net basis.

(i)

Over time revenue recognition: measurement

of progress towards complete satisfaction of a
performance obligation

Output method

The progress towards complete satisfaction of a
performance obligation is measured based on output
method, which is to recognise revenue on the basis
of direct measurements of the value of the goods or
services transferred to the customer to date relative to the
remaining goods or services promised under the contract,
that best depict the Group’s performance in transferring
control of goods or services.

As a practical expedient, if the Group has a right to
consideration in an amount that corresponds directly with
the value of the Group’s performance completed to date,
the Group recognises revenue in the amount to which the
Group has the right to invoice.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

(ii)

Existence of significant financing component

In determining the transaction price, the Group adjusts the
promised amount of consideration for the effects of the
time value of money if the timing of payments agreed (either
explicitly or implicitly) provides the customer or the Group
with a significant benefit of financing the transfer of goods
or services to the customer. In those circumstances, the
contract contains a significant financing component. A
significant financing component may exist regardless of
whether the promise of financing is explicitly stated in the
contract or implied by the payment terms agreed to by the
parties to the contract.

For contracts where the period between payment and
transfer of the associated goods or services is less than
one year, the Group applies the practical expedient of not
adjusting the transaction price for any significant financing
component.

For advance payments received from customers before the
transfer of the associated goods or services in which the
Group adjusts for the promised amount of consideration
for a significant financing component, the Group applies
a discount rate that would be reflected in a separate
financing transaction between the Group and the customer
at contract inception. The relevant interest expenses during
the period between the advance payments were received
and the transfer of the associated goods and services are
accounted for on the same basis as other borrowing costs.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a
group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of
the instruments.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at
fair value except for trade receivables arising from contracts
with customers which are initially measured in accordance with
HKFRS 15. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to
the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities
(other than financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss) are added to or deducted from the fair
value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate,
on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to
the acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities at fair
value through profit or loss are recognised immediately in profit
or loss.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability and
of allocating interest income and interest expense over the
relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that
exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts and payments
(including all fees and points paid or received that form an
integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs
and other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of
the financial asset or financial liability, or, where appropriate, a
shorter period to the net carrying amount on initial recognition.

3.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

(@) Financial assets

()

(i)

Classification and subsequent measurement of
financial assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

e the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is to collect contractual cash
flows; and

e the contractual terms give rise on specified
dates to cash flows that are solely payments of
principal and interest on the principal amount
outstanding.

Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective
interest method for financial assets measured
subsequently at amortised cost. Interest income is
calculated by applying the effective interest rate to
the gross carrying amount of a financial asset, except
for financial assets that have subsequently become
credit-impaired (see below). For financial assets that
have subsequently become credit-impaired, interest
income is recognised by applying the effective interest
rate to the amortised cost of the financial asset from
the next reporting period. If the credit risk on the
credit impaired financial instrument improves so that
the financial asset is no longer credit-impaired, interest
income is recognised by applying the effective interest
rate to the gross carrying amount of the financial asset
from the beginning of the reporting period following
the determination that the asset is no longer credit
impaired.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. FESTHEER®)

(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued) EWMITAE)

(a) Financial assets (Continued) () =RMEEE)

(ii)) Impairment of financial assets (i) ZAEEFE

The Group performs impairment assessment under AEERBEHEEER
expected credit loss (‘ECL”) model on financial assets (TEEEEEE] EX ik
at amortised cost which are subject to impairment B AT RN 2R E E (IR
under HKFRS 9. The amount of ECL is updated at BEBMBHREERNEIR
each reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk AXBRRE) #E1TRET
since initial recognition. - BHEEBESERS

WEHBELER - AR
B FERARNEE R R

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from FHIEHEEBEEABET
all possible default events over the expected life of BRHERAFTHAMBERL
the relevant instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL ERNEHKgsENTEEE
(“12m ECL”) represents the portion of lifetime ECL EEBEBE Bk +Z@AE
that is expected to result from default events that are HEEBEBE (T @EAEH
possible within 12 months after the reporting date. EEEE] BWmE B BEs
Assessment are done based on the Group’s historical TR AR EELIRNERD
credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that are EHBEEKeELAN —FD
specific to the debtors, general economic conditions HEHEEEER -FED
and an assessment of both the current conditions BEAEERBTEEEBEL
at the reporting date as well as the forecast of future BEL - WREBARTE
conditions. X —BEERREERWRSE
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. FESTTHE®E)
(Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued) EWMITAE)
(a) EBMBEE#E)
(i) LEEERE (&)

(a) Financial assets (Continued)
(iii) Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade
receivables. The ECL on these assets are assessed
individually for debtors with significant balance or
collectively using a provision matrix with similar credit
risk characteristics based primarily on the debtors’
aging profiles.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the
loss allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless when there
has been a significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition, in which case the Group recognises
lifetime ECL. The assessment of whether lifetime
ECL should be recognised is based on significant
increases in the likelihood or risk of a default occurring
since initial recognition.

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the
financial instrument as at the reporting date with the
risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument
as at the date of initial recognition. In making this
assessment, the Group considers both quantitative
and qualitative information that is reasonable and
supportable, including historical experience and
forward-looking information that is available without
undue cost or effort.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

(a) Financial assets (Continued)
(iii) Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)
In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has
increased significantly:

e an actual or expected significant deterioration in
the financial instrument’s external (if available) or
internal credit rating;

e significant deterioration in external market
indicators of credit risk, e.g. a significant increase
in the credit spread, the credit default swap
prices for the debtor;

e existing or forecast adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are
expected to cause a significant decrease in the
debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations;

e an actual or expected significant deterioration in
the operating results of the debtor;

e an actual or expected significant adverse change
in the regulatory, economic, or technological
environment of the debtor that result in a
significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet
its debt obligations.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. FESTTHE®E)
(Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued) EWMITAE)
(a) EBMBEE#E)
(i) LEEERE (&)

(a) Financial assets (Continued)
(iii) Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)
Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment,
the Group presumes that the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition when contractual
payments are more than 30 days past due, unless the
Group has reasonable and supportable information
that demonstrates otherwise.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of
the criteria used to identify whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk and revises them as
appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of
identifying significant increase in credit risk before the
amount becomes past due.

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group
considers an event of default occurs when information
developed internally or obtained from external sources
indicates that the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors,
including the Group, in full (without taking into account
any collaterals held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers
that default has occurred when a financial asset
is more than 90 days past due unless the Group
has reasonable and supportable information to
demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion is
more appropriate.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

(a) Financial assets (Continued)
(iii) Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more
events of default that have a detrimental impact on
the estimated future cash flows of that financial asset
have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is
credit-impaired includes observable data about the
following events:

e significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
borrower;

e a breach of contract, such as a default or past
due event;

e the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s
financial difficulty, having granted to the borrower
a concession(s) that the lender(s) would not
otherwise consider;

e jtis becoming probable that the borrower will
enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation;
or

e the disappearance of an active market for that
financial asset because of financial difficulties.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. FESTTHE®E)
(Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued) EWMITAE)
(a) EBMBEE#E)
(i) LEEERE (&)

(a) Financial assets (Continued)
(iii) Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there
is information indicating that the counterparty is in
severe financial difficulty and there is no realistic
prospect of recovery, for example, when the
counterparty has been placed under liquidation or has
entered into bankruptcy proceedings, or in the case
of trade receivables, when the amounts are over two
years past due, whichever occurs sooner. Financial
assets written off may still be subject to enforcement
activities under the Group’s recovery procedures,
taking into account legal advice where appropriate.
A write-off constitutes a derecognition event. Any
subsequent recoveries are recognised in profit or loss.

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the
probability of default, loss given default (i.e. the
magnitude of the loss if there is a default) and
the exposure at default. The assessment of the
probability of default and loss given default is based
on historical data adjusted by forward-looking
information. Estimation of ECL reflects an unbiased
and probability-weighted amount that is determined
with the respective risks of default occurring as the
weights. The Group uses a practical expedient in
estimating ECL on trade receivables using a provision
matrix taking into consideration historical credit loss
experience, adjusted for forward looking information
that is available without undue cost or effort.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all
contractual cash flows that are due to the Group in
accordance with the contract and the cash flows
that the Group expects to receive, discounted at the
effective interest rate determined at initial recognition.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR MEE

For the year ended 31 December 2020 HZ—ZE_ZF+_-A=+—HILFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. FESTTHE®E)

(Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued) EWMITAE)

(a) EBMBEE#E)
(i) LEEERE (&)

(a) Financial assets (Continued)
(iii) Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued)

Lifetime ECL for trade receivables are considered on
a collective basis taking into consideration past due
information and relevant credit information such as
forward-looking macroeconomic information.

For collective assessment, the Group takes into
consideration the following characteristics when
formulating the grouping:

o Past-due status;

° Nature, size and industry of debtors; and

e External credit ratings where available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management
to ensure the constituents of each group continue to
share similar credit risk characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset unless the
financial asset is credit impaired, in which case
interest income is calculated based on amortised cost
of the financial asset.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in
profit or loss for all financial instruments by adjusting
their carrying amount, with the exception of trade
receivables, where the corresponding adjustment is
recognised through a loss allowance account.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

(a) Financial assets (Continued)
(iv) Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only
when the contractual rights to the cash flows from
the assets expire, or when it transfers the financial
asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership of the asset to another entity.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at
amortised cost, the difference between the asset’s
carrying amount and the sum of the consideration
received and receivable is recognised in profit or loss.

(b) Financial liabilities and equity

()

(i)

(iii)

Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified either as
financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with
the substance of the contractual arrangements and
the definitions of a financial liability and an equity
instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences
a residual interest in the assets of an entity after
deducting all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued
by the group are recognised at the proceeds received,
net of direct issue costs.

Financial liabilities

All financial liabilities are subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method or
at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”).
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 HZ—ZE_ZF+_-A=+—HILFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. TEETHE®)

(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued) EWMITAE)

(b) Financial liabilities and equity (Continued) b) eHMEERER(Z)

(iv) Financial liabilities at FVTPL (iv) ZAFEGTABZZHE
&

Financial liabilities are classified as at FVTPL when the W AEAFEAEBE
financial liability is (i) contingent consideration of an WeRBEEEUN T =%
acquirer in a business combination to which HKFRS 3 M EBPBEREERSE
applies, (i) held for trading or (iii) it is designated as at SWMATE AN EAHF I
FVTPL. BAOKERE: AR S

mEsA i)z B A ERE
ERRATFERT AES °

A financial liability is held for trading if: EATIBERT BHEBEAR
HZ G MR

e it has been acquired principally for the purpose of e IEZERTHMIEAM
repurchasing it in the near term; or BmESe 3

e on initial recognition it is part of a portfolio of o NRIUPHERE BRA
identified financial instruments that the Group SEEFEENEER
manages together and has a recent actual TR ITAEMEEGH—F0
pattern of short-term profit-taking; or D WEBHEHERLN

EEER T A

e it is a derivative, except for a derivative that is a o —HEMETA -EHEA
financial guarantee contract or a designated and BB ERE HSIE T
effective hedging instrument. EREHIAMNITET
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. FEEFHEX @)
(Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued) EWMITAE)
(b) Financial liabilities and equity (Continued) b) eHMEERER(Z)

98

(iv) Financial liabilities at FVTPL (Continued)

A financial liability other than a financial liability held
for trading or contingent consideration of an acquirer
in a business combination may be designated as at
FVTPL upon initial recognition if:

e such designation eliminates or significantly
reduces a measurement or recognition
inconsistency that would otherwise arise; or

e the financial liability forms part of a group of
financial assets or financial liabilities or both,
which is managed and its performance is
evaluated on a fair value basis, in accordance
with the Group’s documented risk management
or investment strategy, and information about the
grouping is provided internally on that basis; or

e jtforms part of a contract containing one or more
embedded derivatives, and HKFRS 9 permits the
entire combined contract to be designated as at
FVTPL.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR MEE

For the year ended 31 December 2020 HZ—ZE_ZF+_-A=+—HILFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

(b) Financial liabilities and equity (Continued)
(iv) Financial liabilities at FVTPL (Continued)

v)

For financial liabilities that are designated as at
FVTPL, the amount of change in the fair value of
the financial liability that is attributable to changes in
the credit risk of that liability is recognised in other
comprehensive income, unless the recognition of the
effects of changes in the liability’s credit risk in other
comprehensive income would create or enlarge an
accounting mismatch in profit or loss. For financial
liabilities that contain embedded derivatives, such as
convertible bonds, the changes in fair value of the
embedded derivatives are excluded in determining
the amount to be presented in other comprehensive
income. Changes in fair value attributable to a
financial liability’s credit risk that are recognised in
other comprehensive income are not subsequently
reclassified to profit or loss; instead, they are
transferred to accumulated losses upon derecognition
of the financial liability.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities including trade and other payables
and bank and other borrowings are subsequently
measured at amortised cost, using the effective
interest method.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. FEEFHEX @)

(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued) EWMITAE)

(b) Financial liabilities and equity (Continued) b) eHMEERER(Z)
(vi) Convertible bonds (vi) 2R EF

Convertible bonds that can be converted to equity
share capital at the option of the holder, where the
number of shares that would be issued on conversion
and the value of the consideration that would be
received at that time do not vary, are accounted for as
compound financial instruments which contain both a
liability component and an equity component.

At initial recognition the liability component of the
convertible bonds is measured as the present value of
the future interest and principal payments, discounted
at the market rate of interest applicable at the time of
initial recognition to similar liabilities that do not have
a conversion option. Any excess of proceeds over the
amount initially recognised as the liability component
is recognised as the equity component. Transaction
costs that relate to the issue of a compound financial
instrument are allocated to the liability and equity
components in proportion to the allocation of
proceeds.

The liability component is subsequently carried at
amortised cost. The interest expense recognised in
profit or loss on the liability component is calculated
using the effective interest method. The equity
component is recognised in the capital reserve until
either the note is converted or redeemed.

If the note is converted, the capital reserve, together
with the carrying amount of the liability component at
the time of conversion, is transferred to share capital
and share premium as consideration for the shares
issued. If the note is redeemed, the capital reserve is
released directly to accumulated losses.
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 HZ—ZE_ZF+_-A=+—HILFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. FESTTHE®E)
(Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued) EWMITAE)
b) eHEERERE)
(vii) LFHEERIARILHER EA

(b) Financial liabilities and equity (Continued)
(vii) Derecognition/Substantial modification of financial

liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and
only when, the Group’s obligations are discharged,
cancelled or have expired. The difference between the
carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised
and the consideration paid and payable is recognised
in profit or loss.

The Group accounts for an exchange with a lender of
a financial liability with substantially different terms as
an extinguishment of the original financial liability and
the recognition of a new financial liability. A substantial
modification of the terms of an existing financial
liability or a part of it (whether or not attributable to the
financial difficulty of the Group) is accounted for as an
extinguishment of the original financial liability and the
recognition of a new financial liability.

The Group considers that the terms are substantially
different if the discounted present value of the cash
flows under the new terms, including any fees paid net
of any fees received and discounted using the original
effective interest rate, is at least 10 per cent different
from the discounted present value of the remaining
cash flows of the original financial liability. Accordingly,
such exchange of debt instruments or modification
of terms is accounted for as an extinguishment, any
costs or fees incurred are recognised as part of the
gain or loss on the extinguishment. The exchange
or modification is considered as non-substantial
modification when such difference is less than 10 per
cent.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

(b) Financial liabilities and equity (Continued)
(viij) Non-substantial modifications of financial

liabilities

For non-substantial modifications of financial
liabilities that do not result in derecognition, the
carrying amount of the relevant financial liabilities will
be calculated at the present value of the modified
contractual cash flows discounted at the financial
liabilities’ original effective interest rate. Transaction
costs or fees incurred are adjusted to the carrying
amount of the modified financial liabilities and are
amortised over the remaining term. Any adjustment
to the carrying amount of the financial liability is
recognised in profit or loss at the date of modification.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and
on hand, demand deposits with banks and other financial
institutions, and short-term, highly liquid investments that are
readily convertible into known amounts of cash and which are
subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value, having been
within three months of maturity at acquisition. Bank overdrafts
that are repayable on demand and form an integral part of the
Group’s cash management are also included as a component of
cash and cash equivalents for the purpose of the consolidated
statement of cash flows.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment (other than construction in
progress) are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and
impairment losses, if any.

The cost of self-constructed items of property, plant and
equipment includes the cost of materials, direct labour, the
initial estimate, where relevant, of the costs of dismantling and
removing the items and restoring the site on which they are
located, and an appropriate proportion of production overheads
and borrowing costs.

When the Group makes payments for a property interest which
includes both leasehold land and building elements, the entire
consideration (including any lump-sum upfront payments) are
allocated between the leasehold land and the building elements
in proportion to the relative fair values at initial recognition. To
the extent the allocation of the relevant payments can be made
reliably, interest in leasehold land is presented as “right-of-use
assets” in the consolidated statement of financial position and is
amortised over the lease term on a straight-line basis. When the
payments cannot be allocated reliably between the leasehold
land and building elements, the entire property is generally
classified as property, plant and equipment.

Gains or losses arising from the retirement or disposal of an
item of property, plant and equipment are determined as the
difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying
amount of the item and are recognised in profit or loss on the
date of retirement or disposal. Any related revaluation surplus is
transferred from the revaluation reserve to accumulated losses
and is not reclassified to profit or loss.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of items of
property, plant and equipment, less their estimated residual
value, if any, using the straight line method over their estimated
useful lives as follows:

— Buildings held for own use Over the shorter of
unexpired term
of the leases or

20 to 30 years
— Leasehold improvements 2-5 years
— Pipelines 5-20 years
— Plant and machinery 3-15 years
— Computer equipment 3-5 years
— Furniture and equipment 3-10 years
— Transportation and motor vehicles 4-10 years

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment
have different useful lives, the cost of the item is allocated
on a reasonable basis between the parts and each part is
depreciated separately. Both the useful life of an asset and its
residual value, if any, are reviewed annually.
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 HZ—ZE_ZF+_-A=+—HILFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

Construction in progress represents property, plant and
equipment under construction and pending installation and
is stated at cost less accumulated impairment losses, if any.
Cost includes the costs of construction of the buildings, the
costs of plant and machinery and interest charges arising from
borrowings used to finance these assets during the period
of construction or installation and testing. No provision for
depreciation is made on construction in progress until such time
the relevant assets are completed and are available for their
intended use. When the assets concerned are brought into use,
the costs are transferred to other property, plant and equipment
and depreciated in accordance with the policy as stated above.

Expenditure on the construction, installation or completion of
infrastructure facilities such as platforms, pipelines and the
drilling of commercially proven development wells but do not
include geological and geophysical costs which are expensed
directly to profit or loss as they are incurred, is capitalised as
coalbed methane development costs within construction in
progress. Coalbed methane development costs are stated
at cost less any identified impairment loss. Coalbed methane
development costs are classified to the appropriate category of
property, plant and equipment when completed and ready for
intended use. Depreciation on these assets, on the same basis
as other property, plant and equipment assets, commences
when the assets are ready for their intended use.

Tangible assets acquired for use in well drilling works of
ground drainage activities are classified as property, plant and
equipment.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination and
recognised separately from goodwill are initially recognised at
their fair value at the acquisition date (which is regarded as their
cost).

Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets acquired in
a business combination are reported at cost less accumulated
amortisation and accumulated impairment losses, on the same
basis as intangible assets that are acquired separately.

Other intangible assets that are acquired by the Group are
stated at cost less accumulated amortisation (where the
estimated useful life is finite) and impairment losses.

Amortisation of intangible assets with finite useful lives is
charged to profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the assets’
estimated useful lives. Intangible assets with finite useful lives
are amortised from the date they are available for use over their
estimated useful lives.

Both the period and method of amortisation are reviewed
annually.

Intangible assets are not amortised while their useful lives are
assessed to be indefinite. Any conclusion that the useful life of
an intangible asset is indefinite is reviewed annually to determine
whether events and circumstances continue to support the
indefinite useful life assessment for that asset. If they do not,
the change in the useful life assessment from indefinite to finite
is accounted for prospectively from the date of change and in
accordance with the policy for amortisation of intangible assets
with finite lives as set out above.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 HZ—ZE_ZF+_-A=+—HILFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Leases

(a)

(b)

Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys
the right to control the use of an identified asset for a
period of time in exchange for consideration.

For contracts entered into on or after the date of
initial application or modified or arising from business
combinations, the Group assesses whether a contract is
or contains a lease based on the definition under HKFRS
16 at inception, modification date or acquisition date, as
appropriate. Such contract will not be reassessed unless
the terms and conditions of the contract are subsequently
changed.

The Group as a lessee

(i) Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets
The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to leases of buildings or other underlying
assets that have a lease term of 12 months or less
from the commencement date and do not contain
a purchase option. It also applies the recognition
exemption for lease of low-value assets. Lease
payments on short-term leases and leases of low-
value assets are recognised as expense on a straight-
line basis or another systematic basis over the lease
term.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Leases (Continued)

(b) The Group as a lessee (Continued)
(i) Right-of-use assets
The cost of right-of-use asset includes:

the amount of the initial measurement of the
lease liability;

any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, less any lease incentives
received;

any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group
in dismantling and removing the underlying
assets, restoring the site on which it is located
or restoring the underlying asset to the condition
required by the terms and conditions of the
lease.

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably
certain to obtain ownership of the underlying leased
assets at the end of the lease term are depreciated
from commencement date to the end of the useful
life. Otherwise, right-of-use assets are depreciated on
a straight-line basis over the shorter of its estimated
useful life and the lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets as a separate
line item on the consolidated statement of financial
position.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. TEETHE®)

(Continued)

Leases (Continued) HE %)

(b) The Group as a lessee (Continueqd) (b) AEBEEREBAE)
(i) Refundable rental deposits (iii) FREIFAERE

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under
HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments (“HKFRS 9”) and
initially measured at fair value. Adjustments to fair
value at initial recognition are considered as additional
lease payments and included in the cost of right-of-
use assets.

(iv) Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group
recognises and measures the lease liability at the
present value of lease payments that are unpaid at
that date. In calculating the present value of lease
payments, the Group uses the incremental borrowing
rate at the lease commencement date if the interest
rate implicit in the lease is not readily determinable.

(iv)
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Leases (Continued)

(b) The Group as a lessee (Continued)
(iv) Lease liabilities (Continued)
The lease payments include:

e fixed payments (including in-substance fixed
payments) less any lease incentives receivable;

e variable lease payments that depend on an index
or a rate, initially measured using the index or
rate as at the commencement date;

e amounts expected to be payable by the Group
under residual value guarantees;

e the exercise price of a purchase option if the
Group is reasonably certain to exercise the
option; and

e payments of penalties for terminating a lease, if
the lease term reflects the Group exercising an
option to terminate the lease.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are
adjusted by interest accretion and lease payments.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Leases (Continued)

(b) The Group as a lessee (Continued)
(iv) Lease liabilities (Continued)
The Group remeasures lease liabilities (and makes a
corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use
assets) whenever:

e the lease term has changed or there is a change
in the assessment of exercise of a purchase
option, in which case the related lease liability
is remeasured by discounting the revised lease
payments using a revised discount rate at the
date of reassessment.

e the lease payments change due to changes
in market rental rates following a market rent
review/expected payment under a guaranteed
residual value, in which cases the related lease
liability is remeasured by discounting the revised
lease payments using the initial discount rate.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate
line item on the consolidated statement of financial
position.

3. FESTTHE®E)

HE )

(b) AEBERABA(E)

(iv) HERE (&)
AEERATIEREFHTE
HEREG QLA EERE
BEFHERE)

s HERAZRARMITE
BEEEENFGSE
# o RUERT 8

A fh B AR E A 3T B
RERRS I T AN
B EH S E -

s MENRRETHHHME
THRERMSHEHSEE
IR s, R F R
EBETEHMR £t
BAT HEHEERE
7B PR A 4R BE 3R R Bh
REETHENKNE
et & o

REBR R A T AR
HERAB25SBILAR -

111



112

CHINA CBM GROUP COMPANY LIMITED Annual Report 2020

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR M

For the year ended 31 December 2020 2 —Z-ZF+_-_A=+—HILLFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. FESTTHE®E)

(Continued)
Leases (Continued) HE %)

(b) The Group as a lessee (Continued) (b) AEBEEREBAE)
(v) Lease modifications (v) HEEMEET

Except for Covid-19-related rent concessions in which
the Group applied the practical expedient, the Group
accounts for a lease modification as a separate lease
if:

e the modification increases the scope of the lease
by adding the right to use one or more underlying
assets; and

e the consideration for the leases increases by
an amount commensurate with the stand-
alone price for the increase in scope and any
appropriate adjustments to that stand-alone
price to reflect the circumstances of the particular
contract.

For a lease modification that is not accounted for as
a separate lease, the Group remeasures the lease
liability based on the lease term of the modified lease
by discounting the revised lease payments using
a revised discount rate at the effective date of the
modification.

The Group accounts for the remeasurement of lease
liabilities by making corresponding adjustments to
the relevant right-of-use asset. When the modified
contract contains a lease component and one or
more additional lease or non-lease components, the
Group allocates the consideration in the modified
contract to each lease component on the basis of
the relative stand-alone price of the lease component
and the aggregate stand-alone price of the non-lease
components.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Impairment of tangible and intangible assets

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its tangible and intangible assets with finite
useful lives to determine whether there is any indication that
those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such
indication exists, the recoverable amount of the relevant asset
is estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment
loss (if any).

The recoverable amounts of tangible and intangible assets
are estimated individually. When it is not possible to estimate
the recoverable amount of an asset individually, the Group
estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit
to with the asset belongs. When a reasonable and consistent
basis of allocation can be identified, corporate assets are also
allocated to individual cash-generating units, or otherwise they
are allocated to the smallest group of cash-generating units
for which a reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be
identified.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs
of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific
to the asset (or a cash-generating unit) for which the estimates
of future cash flows have not been adjusted.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Impairment of tangible and intangible assets
(Continued)

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating unit)
is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying
amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is reduced to
its recoverable amount. In allocating the impairment loss, the
impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount
of any goodwill (if applicable) and then to the other assets on a
pro-rata basis based on the carrying amount of each asset in
the unit. The carrying amount of an asset is not reduced below
the highest of its fair value less costs of disposal (if measurable),
its value in use (if determinable) and zero. The amount of the
impairment loss that would otherwise have been allocated to
the asset is allocated pro rata to the other assets of the unit. An
impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is increased to
the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that
the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying
amount that would have been determined had no impairment
loss been recognised for the asset (or a cash-generating unit)
in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised
immediately in profit or loss.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Inventories

Inventories are carried at the lower of cost and net realisable
value.

Cost is calculated using the weighted average cost formula
and comprises all costs of purchase, costs of conversion and
other costs incurred in bringing the inventories to their present
location and condition.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary
course of business less the estimated costs of completion and
the estimated costs necessary to make the sale.

When inventories are sold, the carrying amount of those
inventories is recognised as an expense in the period in which
the related revenue is recognised. The amount of any write-
down of inventories to net realisable value and all losses of
inventories are recognised as an expense in the period the
write-down or loss occurs. The amount of any reversal of any
write-down of inventories is recognised as a reduction in the
amount of inventories recognised as an expense in the period in
which the reversal occurs.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Employee benefits

i)

(ii)

Short term employee benefits and contributions to
defined contribution retirement plans

Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave and
contributions to defined contribution retirement plans
and the cost of non-monetary benefits are accrued in the
year in which the associated services are rendered by
employees. Where payment or settlement is deferred and
the effect would be material, these amounts are stated at
their present values.

Contributions to Mandatory Provident Funds required
under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance and mandatory central pension schemes
organised by the local government of the PRC government
are recognised as an expense in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss as incurred.

Share-based payments

Share options granted by the Company to employees
of the Group in an equity-settled share-based payment
arrangement.

The fair value of share options granted to employees is
recognised as an employee cost with a corresponding
increase in a share option reserve within equity. The
fair value is measured at grant date using the Binomial
option pricing model, taking into account the terms and
conditions upon which the options were granted. Where
the employees have to meet vesting conditions before
becoming unconditionally entitled to the share options,
the total estimated fair value of the share options is spread
over the vesting period, taking into account the probability
that the options will vest.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. FESTTHE®E)

(Continued)
Employee benefits (Continued) BEER &)
(i) Share-based payments (Continued) (i) URBDAERZFRE)
During the vesting period, the number of share options that REBHN gEZEHEEZ

is expected to vest is reviewed. Any resulting adjustment
to the cumulative fair value recognised in prior years is
charged/credited to the profit or loss for the year of the
review, unless the original employee expenses qualify for
recognition as an asset, with a corresponding adjustment
to the share option reserve. On vesting date, the amount
recognised as an expense is adjusted to reflect the
actual number of options that vest (with a corresponding
adjustment to the share option reserve) except where
forfeiture is only due to not achieving vesting conditions
that relate to the market price of the Company’s shares.
The equity amount is recognised in the share option
reserve until either the option is exercised (when it is
transferred to the share premium account) or the option
expires (when it is released directly to the accumulated
losses).

Share options granted to consultant in an equity-settled
share-based payment transactions.

Share options issued in exchange for goods or services are
measured at fair values of the goods or services rendered,
unless that fair value cannot be reliably measured, in which
case the goods or services received are measured by
reference to the fair value of the share options granted. The
fair values of goods or services received are recognised as
expenses immediately, unless the goods or services qualify
for recognition as assets. Corresponding adjustment has
been made to equity (share option reserve).
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently
payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year.
Taxable profit differs from profit before tax because of income or
expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and items
that are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for
current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted
or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated
financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used
in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are
generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences.
Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for all deductible
temporary differences to the extent that it is probable that
taxable profits will be available against which those deductible
temporary differences can be utilised. Such deferred tax assets
and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference
arises from the initial recognition (other than in a business
combination) of assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects
neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, except
where the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary
difference and it is probable that the temporary difference will
not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising
from deductible temporary differences associated with such
investments and interests are only recognised to the extent that
it is probable that there will be sufficient taxable profits against
which to utilise the benefits of the temporary differences and
they are expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is
no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available
to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates
that are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is
settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rate (and tax laws)
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of
the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects
the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in
which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to
recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing
transactions in which the Group recognises the right-of-use
assets and the related lease liabilities, the Group first determines
whether the tax deductions are attributable to the right-of-use
assets or the lease liabilities.

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are
attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group applies HKAS 12
Income Taxes requirements to the leasing transaction as a
whole. Temporary differences relating to right-of-use assets
and lease liabilities are assessed on a net basis. Excess of
depreciation on right-of-use assets over the lease payments for
the principal portion of lease liabilities resulting in net deductible
temporary differences.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a
legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against
current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied
by the same taxation authority and the Group intends to settle
its current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

Current and deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss,
except when they relate to items that are recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case,
the current and deferred tax are also recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively. Where
current tax or deferred tax arises from the initial accounting
for a business combination, the tax effect is included in the
accounting for the business combination.

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for other liabilities of uncertain timing
or amount when the Group or the Company has a legal or
constructive obligation arising as a result of a past event, it is
probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required
to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made.
Where the time value of money is material, provisions are stated
at the present value of the expenditure expected to settle the
obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits
will be required, or the amount cannot be estimated reliably,
the obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the
probability of outflow of economic benefits is remote. Possible
obligations, whose existence will only be confirmed by the
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future events are
also disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the probability of
outflow of economic benefits is remote.

(@) Provision for production safety
Provision for the Group’s production safety are based on
certain percentage of the Group’s revenue in accordance
with PRC rules and regulations.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Government grants

Government grants are recognised in the consolidated
statement of financial position initially when there is reasonable
assurance that they will be received and that the Group will
comply with the conditions attaching to them. Grants that
compensate the Group for expenses incurred are recognised
as revenue in profit or loss on a systematic basis in the same
periods in which the expenses are incurred. Grants that
compensate the Group for the cost of an asset are deducted
from the carrying amount of the asset and consequently are
effectively recognised in profit or loss over the useful life of the
asset by way of reduced depreciation expense.

A government grant that becomes receivables as compensation
for expenses or losses already incurred or for the purpose of
giving immediate financial support to the entity with no future
related costs shall be recognised in profit or loss of the period in
which it becomes receivable.

Foreign currencies

ltems included in the financial statements of each of the
Group’s entities are measured using the currency of the
primary economic environment in which the entity operates (the
“functional currency”). The consolidated financial statements are
presented in Renminbi (“RMB”).

The functional currency of the Company is Hong Kong dollars
(“HK$”) and the presentation currency is RMB. The reason for
using RMB as a presentation currency is that the functional
currency of the principal operating subsidiaries within the Group
is RMB.

Foreign currency transactions during the year are translated
at the foreign exchange rates ruling at the transaction dates.
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies
are translated at the foreign exchange rates ruling at the end of
the reporting period. Exchange gains and losses are recognised
in profit or loss.
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3.

—BE+-ASt—ALEE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Foreign currencies (Continued)

Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured in terms
of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using
the foreign exchange rates ruling at the transaction dates.
Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies that are stated at fair value are translated using the
foreign exchange rates ruling at the dates the fair value was
measured.

The results of foreign operations are translated into RMB at the
exchange rates approximating the foreign exchange rates ruling
at the dates of the transactions. Statement of financial position
items, are translated into RMB at the closing foreign exchange
rates at the end of the reporting period. The resulting exchange
differences are recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated separately in equity in the translation reserve.

On disposal of a foreign operation, the cumulative amount of
the exchange differences relating to that foreign operation is
reclassified from equity to profit or loss when the profit or loss
on disposal is recognised.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are assets
that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for
their intended use or sale, are added to the cost of those assets
until such time as the assets are substantially ready for their
intended use or sale.

Any specific borrowing that remain outstanding after the
related asset is ready for its intended use or sale is included
in the general borrowing pool for calculation of capitalisation
rate on general borrowings. Investment income earned on the
temporary investment of specific borrowings pending their
expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing
costs eligible for capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they are incurred.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment item
reported in the financial statements, are identified from the
financial information provided regularly to the Group’s most
senior executive management for the purposes of allocating
resources to, and assessing the performance of, the Group’s
lines of business and geographical locations.

Individually material operating segments are not aggregated for
financial reporting purposes unless the segments have similar
economic characteristics and are similar in respect of the nature
of products and services, the nature of production processes,
the type or class of customers, the methods used to distribute
the products or provide the services, and the nature of the
regulatory environment. Operating segments which are not
individually material may be aggregated if they share a majority
of these criteria.

Related parties

(@) A person, or a close member of that person’s family, is
related to the Group if that person:

()  has control or joint control over the Group;
(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(i) is a member of the key management personnel of the
Group or the Group’s parent.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Related parties (Continued)

(b) An entity is related to the Group if any of the following
conditions applies:

()  The entity and the Group are members of the same
group (which means that each parent, subsidiary and
fellow subsidiary is related to the others);

(i)  One entity is an associate or joint venture of the other
entity (or an associate or joint venture of a member of
a group of which the other entity is a member);

(i) Both entities are joint ventures of the same third party;

(iv) One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the
other entity is an associate of the third entity;

(v) The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of employees of either the Group or an entity
related to the Group;

(vi) The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person
identified in (a);

(vi) A person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence
over the entity or is a member of the key management
personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity);
and

(vii) The entity, or any member of a group of which it is a
part, provides key management personnel services to
the Group or to the Group’s parent.

Close members of the family of a person are those family
members who may be expected to influence, or be influenced
by, that person in their dealings with the entity.
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4. ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES

Judgements and estimates are continually evaluated and are
based on historical experience and other factors, including
expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable
under the circumstances.

(a) Sources of estimation uncertainty

Key sources of estimation uncertainty are as follows:

U

Provision of ECL for trade receivables

The Group uses provision matrix to calculate ECL for
the trade receivables. The provision rates are based
on aging of trade receivables as groupings of various
debtors that have similar loss patterns. The provision
matrix is based on the Group’s historical default rates
taking into consideration forward-looking information
that is reasonable and supportable and available
without undue costs or effort. At every reporting date,
the historical observed default rates are reassessed
and changes in the forward-looking information
are considered. In addition, trade receivables with
significant balances and credit impaired receivables
are assessed for ECL individually.

The provision of ECL is sensitive to changes in
estimates. Due to greater financial uncertainty
triggered by the Covid-19 pandemic, the Group has
increased the expected loss rates in the current year
as there is higher risk that a prolonged pandemic
could led to increased credit default rates. The
information about the ECL and the Group’s trade
receivables are disclosed in notes 21 and 34.
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4. ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (Continued)

(a) Sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

(i)

(i)

Impairment of property, plant and equipment and
right-of-use assets

The Group assessed whether property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets have suffered any
impairment in accordance with relevant accounting
policies. The recoverable amounts have been
determined based on value-in-use calculations. The
value-in-use calculations require the use of estimates
such as the profit forecast, cash flows projections and
pre-tax discount rates. As at 31 December 2020, the
carrying amounts of property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets amounted to approximately
RMB371,573,000 (2019: RMB442,489,000)
and RMB33,149,000 (2019: RMB33,324,000)
respectively, net of accumulated impairment losses
recognised of approximately RMB203,497,000 (2019:
RMB180,142,000).

Income taxes

Determining income tax provisions involves judgement
on the future tax treatment of certain transactions.
The Group carefully evaluates tax implications of
transactions and tax provisions are set-up accordingly.
The tax treatment of such transactions is reconsidered
periodically to take into account changes in tax
legislations. Deferred tax assets are recognised for all
unused tax losses to the extent that it is probable that
taxable profit will be available against which the losses
can be utilised. Significant management judgement
is required to determine the amount of deferred tax
assets that can be recognised, based upon the likely
timing and level of future taxable profits together with
future tax planning strategies.
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4. ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND 4. BIFTHE R @)

ESTIMATES (Continued)

(b) Critical accounting judgements in applying the (b) EEAAEEE T BEREAT
Group’s accounting policies fEZ B R
In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, RERAREEN G BRBIET -

management has made the following critical accounting
judgements:

@

Renewal of gas business operating permits

EREEELUTERS

418 -

RARREBEEFAIENE
H

The Group holds certain gas business operating AEERBRBETRARER
permits with licence period of 3 to 5 years at date KEFFAIE  RNEL HE/

of issue which will be expired in year 2020 to 2022
and the renewal of which is subject to the approval
by the relevant PRC authorities. In the opinion of

BB RI3ELF - A ¥

R-ZFEZEFET
25 ﬁ&ﬁﬁTumﬁ%

the directors, taking into account legal opinion from H RS B IR it
the Company’s PRC legal counsel and past history A o %%;mi% ZEIAR

of renewals, there are no legal impediments for the AFEEREBERNERZER
Group to renew its gas business operating permits MBAEMERRZE  ~NEE

upon expiry with significant costs.

If the Group were unable to renew these permits
upon expiry, the carrying amounts of the Group’s
property, plant and equipment of approximately
RMB371,573,000 (2019: RMB442,489,000) and
right-of-use assets of approximately RMB33,149,000
(2019: RMB33,324,000) might have to be significantly
reduced because of impairment losses that would
be required to be recognised, and the Group might
increase depreciation and amortisation charges of
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those assets where their useful lives are less than SERBENTZEMIGINGE
previously estimated, or it might write off or write REBIRZAIHETNZE

down the carrying amount of those assets.
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4. ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND 4.

ESTIMATES (Continued)

(b) Critical accounting judgements in applying the

Group’s accounting policies (Continued)

(i) Going concern consideration

SR R A @)

(b) EEEAAREBE ST BERERT

2 EREFHE @)

(ii)

The assessments of the going concern assumptions
involve making judgement by the directors of the
Company, at a particular point of time, about the
future outcome of events or conditions which are
inherently uncertain. The directors of the Company
consider that the Group has the ability to continue as
a going concern and the major events or conditions,
which may give rise to business risks, that individually
or collectively may cast significant doubt about the
going concern assumptions are set out in note 1 to
the consolidated financial statements.
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S. REVENUE

(a) Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with

5. W&

(@ BEFEHNzZHETE

customers
2020 2019
—EEH —T-NF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®B TR ARBTT
Type of goods or service EmoREELE
Sales of liquefied coalbed gas BIEEERES 22,304 -
Sales of piped natural gas BEERARIMHE 140,212 144,028
Provision of liquefied coalbed gas REBRICEE R R RS
logistics services 4,375 4,673
Provision of gas supply connection REHERERRSE
services 12,438 19,528
179,329 168,229
Timing of revenue recognition Y 2SR RE RS R
At point in time X -RHEHER 166,891 148,701
Over time —ER R REINER 12,438 19,528
Total BET 179,329 168,229
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5. Wi @)
b) EEFEHNZEHNER

5. REVENUE (Continued)

(b) Performance obligations for contracts with

customers

(i) Sales of liquefied coalbed gas and piped natural () BILEBREEBRARE
gas =
Revenue from Sales of liquefied coalbed gas and ERFESEHRILEERK

(ii)

(i)

piped natural gas is recognised when customers
obtain control of the liquefied coalbed gas and piped
natural gas, which is when the gas is delivered to
customers’ specific location. Invoices are usually
payable within 30 days.

Provision of liquefied coalbed gas logistics
services

The performance obligation is satisfied at a point in
time when the liquefied coalbed gas are delivered to
customers’ specific location.

Provision of gas supply connection services

The performance obligation is satisfied over time as
services are rendered and payment is generally due
within 5 working days from the date of billing. The
Group is entitled to the final payment until the service
quality is satisfied by the customers.

The Group has applied the practical expedient in
paragraph 121 of HKFRS 15 to its sales contracts for
its products and services such that information about
revenue that the Group will be entitled to when it satisfies
the remaining performance obligations under the contracts
that had an original expected duration of one year or less is
not disclosed.
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6. OTHER INCOME AND GAINS OR LOSSES 6. Ht AR KRS EE
2020 2019
b i 222 —T-NF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREBTT AREF T
Other income H{slt A
Interest income from bank deposits IRITF R ZF BUYA 31 25
Foreign exchange gain HINE U 7 — 104
Rental income HE WA 324 332
Service income AR 75 U A 16,492 8,461
Value-added tax refund AT E N 6,394 4,335
Sundry income MR 1,357 472
24,598 13,729
Other gains or losses Hityr 2S5k E5 15
Gain/(loss) on disposal of property, HEME  MERXBEZ
plant and equipment Wz, (EE) 110 (472)
Written-off of property, plant and W IS N AR AT Y
equipment (3,538) (9,050)
Reversal of prepayment previously SCRTDRE R TR FUIE R O
impaired 1,510 -
Written-off of other payables 85 L0 FE < SR8 = 22
22,680 4,229
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IMPAIRMENT LOSSES UNDER EXPECTED 7. BHEEEEEX THERS
CREDIT LOSS MODEL, NET OF REVERSAL B HIREE
2020 2019
—B-BF —E—N4F
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®TR ARETT

Impairment losses recognised on:

TP B IERER 2 RERIE

— Trade receivables — PR SR 77 2,357
— Other receivables —H b FE U FR I8 (25) 1,142
752 3,499

Details of impairment assessment are set out in note 34. BB B IBE A M FES4 -

FINANCE COSTS 8. MBEH

2020 2019
—ECEF —ZT—hF
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®TR ARETT

Interest expenses on bank and other

RITREAMER 2 M B X

borrowings 3,364 6,235
Effective interest on convertible bonds ~ AI AR (&% 2 B FI B 3,382 2,914
Finance charges on lease liabilities HEBBLHMEER 1,381 731

8,127 9,880
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 BZ—ZT_FTF+_-A=+—HIFE

9.

LOSS BEFORE TAXATION 9. BREAIEHE
Loss before taxation is arrived at after charging: BRIERATEEC MR A TSR
2020 2019
—EEF —E-hE
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥Tx ARETTT
(a) Staff costs (including directors’ (a) ETHA (EEME118
and chief executive’s EERERITHAE
emoluments in note 11) B <)
Salaries and other benefits e REMBT 17,275 18,033
Retirement benefits schemes RRAEFIFH SR
contributions 752 3,149
Total staff costs BE TR 18,027 21,182
2020 2019
—ECEF —ZT—hF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TR ARETTT
(b) Other items (b) Ht1E R
Cost of inventories recognised as BREAZ 2 FEKA
expense (note 20(b)) (Bt 5 20(b)) 108,412 77,592
Auditors’ remuneration 2% SR i B 1,493 1,473
Depreciation of property, plant and M M REREITE
equipment 57,732 66,906
Depreciation of right-of-use assets CAEEERE 875 870
Research and development costs o R F B R AR 396 990
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 HZ—ZE_ZF+_-A=+—HILFE

10. INCOME TAX CREDIT

(@

Taxation in the consolidated statement of profit or loss
represents:

10. iR K %

FEBERAZHIERE

2020 2019
b i 222 —E-NF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®B TR ARETFIT
Current tax - PRC Enterprise BNHAFGIE — P E RS
Income Tax (“EIT”) BEEREHD
Provision for the year REEREE 878 1,999
Deferred tax IERERIE
Origination and reversal of temporary Ty EREEL REE
differences (1,084) (2,000)
Income tax credit FrisHif e (206) (1)

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands
and continued in Bermuda as an exempted company
under the laws of Bermuda and, accordingly, is exempted
from payment of the Bermuda Income Tax.

Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at 16.5% of the
estimated assessable profits for the year ended 31
December 2020 (2019: 16.5%). No provision for Hong
Kong Profits Tax has been made as the Group has no
estimated assessable profits arising in or derived from
Hong Kong for the years ended 31 December 2020 and
2019.

Under the Law of the PRC on EIT (the “EIT Law”) and
Implementation Regulations of the EIT Law, the tax rate
of the PRC subsidiaries is 25% from 1 January 2008
onwards.

Taxation for overseas subsidiaries is charged at the
appropriate current rates of taxation ruling in the relevant
countries.

ARTERSHBEMAT IR
BELEEPIR TR EAE
WERF  EULEREBNER
EFEH -

HE_ZT-_TF+-_HA=+—H
WHFEZ2BBFEHIREFTER
RafMz165% (ZF—NF:
16.5%) 51T E - HRAEBREZR
ZEZTEFR-ZF-NFTA
—t+—HLEFETEREBEL
SREBEBNETERBEF -
WO 5 T S TS BB I A (] 3
=K

REBBEEMAEHOF B
RUIBERMABRED REEME
BORBERED > FEMEB AR
TR NF-A—HBZIMER
25% °

75 51 B8 2 R R B 1B T kA 7
RIS B -
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 BZ—ZT_FTF+_-A=+—HIFE

10. INCOME TAX CREDIT (Continued)

(b)

10.

Reconciliation between income tax (credit)/expenses and

accounting loss at applicable tax rates:

Frig®iE % ()

b) HERAMERAEZMEHR(ER)
/AR EGERZERAT

2020 2019
—EEHF —T-NF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®BTR ARETTT
Loss before taxation bR BB 1B (36,430) (68,812)
Notional tax on loss before taxation, LR A AR E A
calculated at the rates applicable MEFE 2RI AEE
to the tax jurisdictions concerned ZERHIA (8,410) (16,545)
Tax effect of non-deductible expenses A IR B S 2 TS & 7,730 19,029
Tax effect of non-taxable income BERBBRA 2 G2 (477) (%)
Tax effect of unrecognised temporary RIERLREZR 2K
differences B (174) (257)
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised R IERF A E 18 2 B 15
== 4,604 5,609
Utilisation of tax losses previously B A SCAI R ER 2 BT
not recognised 3! (3,250) (6,609
PRC withholding tax R ETEHT (229) (1,223)
Income tax credit FrisHif e (206) (1
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 HZ—ZE_ZF+_-A=+—HILFE

10. FRIBBiIE R (&)

10. INCOME TAX CREDIT (Continued)

©)

Pursuant to the EIT Law in the PRC, from 1 January 2008,
non-resident enterprises without an establishment or place
of business in the PRC or which have an establishment or
place of business in the PRC but whose relevant income is
not effectively connected with the establishment or a place
of business in the PRC, will be subject to withholding tax
at the rate of 10% (unless reduced by tax treaty) on various
types of passive income such as dividends derived from
sources within the PRC.

Pursuant to the Sino-Hong Kong Double Tax Arrangement
and the related regulations, a qualified Hong Kong tax
resident will be liable for a reduced withholding tax rate
of 5% on dividends from a PRC enterprise if the Hong
Kong tax resident is the “beneficial owner” and holds 25%
or more of the equity interest of the PRC enterprise. A
withholding tax rate of 5% is applicable to entities held by
a qualified Hong Kong incorporated subsidiary.

(©

RETFBEEEMSHRE BA-F
ZENF-F R EREEA
RRIMBREEE  HEH
EHRBERARLEEE R
BES 2 WA B EL A R B A P
BB ERIFRAERBE
ZIEREE  BEMRZERKSY
WA R P EIRAZBE) %
10% 15 & (R FE4% 3 W 17 FE R 2.
BARTEIIRL

RETFEEEHBLBENREER
T HBAEHMBERASTEER
MIERBEEA]l  AKBZTE
BERB%HN LR AR BF
REBHHRERESBE LR
M B B R 2 A R T FNAH
K% - BARFBAHR RSB ER
MK 2 & BERHE R R F
BZERE-
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 BZ—ZT_FTF+_-A=+—HIFE

11. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
EMOLUMENTS

11. EERBRETHRAEME

ENHENEARREZENRSITHRA
BEAZHMEWT :

The emoluments paid or payable to each of the directors and
the chief executive of the Company were as follows:

Salaries, Retirement  Equity-settled
allowances benefits  share-based
and benefits  Discretionary schemes payment 2020
Fees in kind bonuses  contributions expenses Total
NREGEE
e 2R RUEN LRbAER  —3°%F
#e ENER [N AEHBR  ZBEREX @zt
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARETRT AR ARMTT ARMTn  ARETR
Executive directors HrES
Wang Zhong Sheng IRE - 1,465 - 18 - 1,483
Chang Jian R
(appointed on (RZZF-NE
19 June 2019) NATRREZA) - 230 - 4 - 234
Non-Executive Directors ~ FH{TEE
Duan Shi Chuan gLl
(appointed on (R-2-%F
16 July 2020) tATAREZRR) - - - - - -
Wu Kun S8
(refired on (RZZ-%F
30 June 2020) ~NAZTHEE) - 218 - 7 - 25
Wang Chen % - 230 - 32 - 262
Liang Feng Rig - 244 - 18 - 262
Independent non-executive B EHTES
directors
Lau Chun Pong ARA 107 - - - - 107
Wang Zhi He TzM 48 - - - - 48
Xu Yuan Jian BEE = = = = = =
155 2,387 - 79 - 2,621
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 HZ—ZE_ZF+_-A=+—HILFE

11. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

11. EERBRSTHAEME &)

Salaries, Retrement  Equity-settled
allowances benefits Share-based
andbenefits ~ Discretionary schemes payment 2019
Fees inkind bonuses  contributions EXpenses Total
WRERE
B 2Rk BREH  URHAER “E-NE
fe ENEN BB MR ZHFRX @5t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT
Executive directors gz
Wang Zhong Sheng R - 1,482 - - - 1,482
Fu Shou Gang &Rl
(resigned on (RZZF-NE
19 June 2019) ~ATBET) - 144 - - - 144
Chang Jian BB
(appointed on (R=Z-NE
19 June 2019) NATNBEZRE) - - - - - -
Non-Executive Directors ~ F#{TEE
Wu Kun i)
(appointed on (W=B-n%
19 June 2019) AATNBEZE) - 9P - 7 - 97
Wang Chen IR
(appointed on (R=Z-NE
19 June 2019) ~NATNBEZT) - - - - - -
Liang Feng Rig
(appointed on (W=B-n%
19 June 2019) NATLBEZE) - - - - - -
Independent non-executive BIEHITES
directors
Lau Chun Pong el 106 - - - - 106
Wang Zhi He EA! 4 - - - - 4
Xu Yuan Jian REE
(appointed on (M=Z-NE
23 August 2019) NBZt=BEZf) - - - - - -
Luo Wei Kun BUEE
(retired on (RZZ-NF
27 May 2019) RAZTERRME) - - - - - -
150 1716 - 7 - 1873
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11. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S

EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

During the years ended 31 December 2020 and 2019, since
the appointment of the chief executive officer of the Company
remains outstanding, there was no emoluments paid in respect
of the chief executive officer of the Company.

Salaries, allowances and other benefits paid to or for the
executive and non-executive directors are generally emoluments
in respect of those persons’ other services in connection
with the management of the affairs of the Company and its
subsidiaries.

Neither the chief executive officer nor any of the directors
waived any emoluments in the years ended 31 December 2020
and 2019. No inducement payments to join or upon joining
the Group or as compensation for loss of office were paid or
payable to any director or the chief executive officer for the
years ended 31 December 2020 and 2019.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR M

For the year ended 31 December 2020 BZ—ZT_FTF+_-A=+—HIFE

11. EERBRSTHAEME &)

REE-_ZT-_TFR-_FT-—NEF+=
A=+—RALFE #HRARFHK
TETHRAE WA ERAARQRITR
BEZ AT -

XN TFTRATEFMIFATESHRHE
XFE  RREEMENRT R
BRZEANLTHARRE RENE AR
MEHEEMEREMBRFOME -

REBE_ZT-_FTFR-_F-NF+=
A=1+—BLFE #$ETHREHK
FRAESEHETANE -REE-ZT
TEERZFE-NFE+ZA=+—H
IEFE  WEREANESHITERER
AN S FE SRR AN A AN &R B sk i AR
SEFR BE B AE -



T EEFR PEREREEERAF

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR MEE

For the year ended 31 December 2020 HZ—ZE_ZF+_-A=+—HILFE

12. INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST EMOLUMENTS 2. ZEFAL

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments in the
Group, three (2019: one) are directors whose emoluments
are disclosed in note 11. The aggregate of the emoluments in
respect of the other two (2019: four) individuals are as follows:

AEBREESHFALTH =& (=
T-NF:—R)ABREF HMeR
I 11HE - Emmi (2T —NF:
ME) AL ZEB&BEmT

2020 2019
—EEF —T-hEF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥Tx AREFT
Salaries and other emoluments FEREMES 701 1,149
Retirement benefits schemes RORAE A ET I K
contributions 26 27
727 1,176
The emoluments of the two (2019: four) individuals with the ME(ZE-—NF - NE)EaFALT
highest emoluments are within the following bands: ZEBENTFUATEHE :
2020 2019
—ECEF —ET-NF
Number of Number of
individuals individuals
AE N
Nil to HK$1,000,000 (equivalent to £ % 1,000,0007% 7T
approximately RMB890,000 (FEE R % AR 890,000 7T
(2019: RMB883,000)) (Z=2E—NF:
AR #1883,0007T)) 2 4
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 HZ =%

13.

14.

—BE+-ASt—ALEE

DIVIDENDS

No dividend has been proposed or declared by the directors for
the year ended 31 December 2020 (2019: Nil).

LOSS PER SHARE

The basic and diluted loss per share is RMB3.08 cents per
share (2019: RMB4.81 cents per share). The calculation of
the basic loss per share for the year ended 31 December
2020 is based on the loss attributable to equity shareholders
of the Company of approximately RMB40,627,000 (2019:
RMB63,510,000) and the weighted average number of shares
of approximately 1,319,484,000 (2019: 1,319,484,000) in issue
during the year ended 31 December 2020.

The calculation for diluted loss per share for the year ended
31 December 2020 is based on the loss attributable to equity
shareholders of the Company of approximately RMB40,627,000
(2019: RMB63,510,000) and the denominator used are the
same as for the basic loss per share. Diluted loss per share
attributable to equity shareholders of the Company for the years
ended 31 December 2020 and 2019 is the same as the basic
loss per share as the effect of potential ordinary shares from the
exercise and conversion of share options and convertible bonds
are anti-dilutive.

13.

14.

EQ/LEA

BE-T - TF+_A=1t—HILF
Z %%IEL.@/}EH&*&H = (=
T—NFHE) o

BRER

EREALBEEIEEATRAR
S%ﬂ ZE-NEF BRAR®4.81

D) BEZE_TF+_A=1—
AIEFEZSREXNBEDRERE
E-E-_EFE+_A=+—RHIE
EARRIEZREELHEBEOAR
#40,627,000C (ZZE—NF: AR
#63,510,0007T) & 2 217 IR 15 N &
15 £ #71,319,484,000 % (:i—ﬂ
F :1,319,484,000 %) 5t & 15

HE-_ZT-_ZF+-_A=+—HL*F
B2 BREEEIEHIREAD A ERE
A% R FEAE BB 4 A R ¥ 40,627,0007C
(Z=— &+ AR¥63,510,0007T)
HESY MARTEZSEHEER
EABERR BE-_ZT-_TFEK_
T-NF+_A=Z+—BLEFEEAR
AEEREEOEREEEENETR
EAXBERR REARKATHERE
BIERER T RRES 2 BEL BR
BB REEHE -
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15. SEGMENT REPORTING

The Group’s operating segments are determined based on
information reported to the chief operating decision maker
(the “CODM”), being the Company’s board of directors, for the
purpose of resources allocation and performance assessment.
The CODM reviews the Group’s internal reporting, assesses
the performance and allocates the resources of the Group
as a whole, as all of the Group’s activities are considered by
the CODM to be primarily dependent on the performance of
exploitation, liquefaction production and sale of natural gas in
the PRC. Therefore, the Group has only one operating segment
under the requirements of HKFRS 8 Operating Segments. In
this regard, no segment information is presented.

Additional disclosure in relation to segment information is
not presented as the CODM assess the performance of the
sole operating segment identified based on the consistent
information as disclosed in the consolidated financial
statements.

The total segment result is equivalent to the loss for the year as
shown in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and the
total segment assets and total segment liabilities are equivalent
to total assets and total liabilities as shown in the consolidated
statement of financial position.

15. 72K

ZIKEIE’JWM’\‘ETJE?FWEF‘%L
ﬂi%?)&%éﬁn@ﬂ&i‘%ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ
ZHRNERMET - ERANEER M
BRI EREERARAERETE
KRN EPEBR RICEERHEE
AARRHKRE  BEEERRANE
BRI AEENABE® - FH
AEENKRRESEAEEER - A
I REBEHHRELERFERL
ENMORE AEEEE —HLE
DED BT S - WEEFDEEH -

R BEREERRARELES VB H
RPRENGE BRI M ZE BB &
E—REENF RN - FA L& =27
BRADBMEMMRRINE -

DEERGERBEERNGEABRRMT
MAFEER MoBEERBEND
B EARANEFREA MBI K
IR EEREEE-

W 2
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 BZ—ZT_FTF+_-A=+—HIFE
15. SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued)
(a) Geographical information

For the two years ended 31 December 2020 and 2019,
all of the Group’s revenue were derived from customers in
the PRC (country of domicile) and all non-current assets
of the Group were located in the PRC, Accordingly, no
further analysis of the Group’s geographical information is
disclosed.

(b) Information about major customers

Revenue from customers of corresponding years
contributing over 10% of total revenue of the Group is as

(a

(b)

15. D2 %)

b 3 &

HE_ZT_ZEZFR_FT—NF
+—A=+—HIEMEFE  F
BEARSE Wk a R (R
HHxX) cEPRAEEMAIE
MEBEEHIMAPRE - FH itk
BFEASEMMERER ZE—FD
il

FEEFEHR

RIEEFE  KEHAKEBIK
HERBIB10% 2 8P 2 s

follows: T
2020 2019
—EEF —E—-NF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TT ARBET T
Customer A ZEPEA 25,741 25,849
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16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

16. M% - HRERRE

Buildings Furniture Transportation ~ Construction
heldfor  Leasehold Plantand ~ Computer and  andmotor inprogress
ownuse improvements Pipelines ~ machinery  equipment  equipment vehicles (Note ) Total
hiFER il BHIR  fRIB
BT  EBIR EE KEREN  SERE RERR RiRE (M) LR
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AR#TR  ARBTZ ARETR ARETR ARETR ARMTR ARETn ARETR  ARMTR
Cost RE
At 1 January 2019 R=E-N5-A-8 168,139 1638 183,179 585,610 314 3,067 26,966 174206 113,139
Addtions hE - 215 - 146 - 89 1326 7420 9,19
Transfers ga - - 6612 - - - - 6612) -
Disposals it - - (1.499) (4,725) - - (3.367) - (9,591)
Written off i () - (50) (10,114) - (119 - (2.280) (12,520)
Exchange adjustments S - 13 - - 1 2 R - 4
At31 December 019end  RZE-AETZA=T-R
1 January 2020 RZ%-%5-F-4 168,134 1866 188242 570917 315 3,039 26,97 172802 1122012
Addtons hE 5 - - 123 - 162 m 13824 14375
Disposdls ik - - - - - - (13.459) - (13.459)
Witen off ] - - - (9,404 - - (3) - (044
Exchange adjustments EfEE - (45) - - @ U (108) - (162)
At 31 December 2020 RZFZEETZA=1-A 168,139 1821 188,242 561,636 313 3,184 13627 186,626 1,113588
Accumulated depreciation ~ BHHTER(E
and impairment
At 1 January 2019 RZF-N5-A-8 107,880 1586 59,326 336,452 304 2,742 24,636 50,265 563,191
Charge for the year FEERH 4,166 8 10,760 49615 4 116 2,163 - 6,906
Impaiiment RE - - 6471 31,303 - - - 2118 40,637
Written back on disposals HER - - (350) (3.974) - - (3.203) - (7.521)
Witten off i 1) - &3] (3.329) - (107) - - (3.470)
Exchange adjustments EiAE - 13 - - 1 2 Rl - 46
At31 December 2019and  R-E-AETZA=+-R
1 January 2020 RhZ%-%5-A-A 112,045 1681 16,170 410,161 309 2,753 23,626 53,038 679,783
Charge for the year AEESH 4205 7 10,442 41,803 3 133 1,074 - 57732
Impaiment HE - - - - - - - 2,35 2,35
Whitten back on disposals~ HEE - - - - - - (12789 - (12,789
Written off Hisp - - - (5,866) - - (39) - (5,904
Exchange adjustments EiEE - (45) - - [ Ul (108 - (16
At 31 December 2020 RZE-EF+-A=1-A 116,250 1,708 86,612 446,098 310 2819 11,765 76,393 742,015
Carrying amount REE
At 31 December 2020 R-F-%F+-R=1-A 41,889 13 101,630 115,538 3 305 1,862 110,283 3,513
At 31 December 2019 RZF-NETZR=1-A 46,089 185 112,072 160,756 6 286 3331 119,764 442,489
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16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continuea)

Notes:

(i) The buildings held for own use are situated on land held under medium-term
leases in the PRC.

(i) The pipelines of the Group are located in the PRC.

(i) At 31 December 2020, the Group’s pipelines and plant and machinery with
carrying amounts of approximately RMB75,506,000 (2019: RMB81,355,000)
and RMB8,000 (2019: RMB6,842,000) respectively were pledged as security for
lease liabilities of the Group.

(iv)  Included coalbed methane development costs capitalised with carrying
amount of approximately RMB82,573,000 as at 31 December 2020 (2019:
RMB96,005,000).

Impairment test on property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets

Based on the management’s investigation on construction in
progress, certain construction in progress has been ceased for
construction for a long period of time and its future economic
benefits for the Group are uncertain, and hence an impairment
loss of approximately RMB23,355,000 was recognised for
certain construction in progress in Yangcheng Huiyang CGU for
the year ended 31 December 2020.

During the year ended 31 December 2020, certain property,
plant and equipment in Yangcheng Huiyang CGU amounted
to approximately RMB3,538,000 (2019: RMB9,050,000) were
written off due to wear and tear.

In view of the continuing operating losses of certain subsidiaries
operating in the PRC during the year ended 31 December
2020, the directors of the Company have further performed
impairment assessment on property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets in these subsidiaries based on cash-
generating units as at 31 December 2020. For the purpose of
impairment testing, the subsidiaries in the PRC are grouped
under three CGUs - (i) Guangxi Beiliu, (i) Shanxi Qinshui and
(i) Yangcheng Huiyang, which the principal activities are sales
of piped natural gas and provision of gas supply connection
services, manufacture and sales of liquefied coalbed gas and
exploration, development and production of coalbed methane
respectively. The recoverable amounts of these CGUs have
been determined by an independent professional valuer, Asset
Appraisal Limited (“Asset Appraisal”’) based on value-in-use
calculations.
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16. Y% - WS RRE &)

BsE

() HEEMZBFUETEZTHAOHEZ
it

iy AEEZEECRFE-

iy M-ZTZTF+-_A=+—H AEEHEH
B BI# AR 75,506,000 7T (= F— N4 :
AR #81,355,0007T) & A R#8,0007T (=
T—F - AR%6,842,0007T) 2 & 58 M
BRI LR (ERANEERERBE A -

ivy RZZEZZEF+-_A=+—H BAE
EACEBRHEEXNAFEEEONAAR
82 573,000 (Z B — L5 : ARK
96,005,0007T) °

MR BERREREAREE
Z B BRI

BEEEEHERIENAES 5T
ERIRBERBEIRR HHAE
ERARREEAZFEEIEEE
Ay -8Bz -_FF+_H
T+ BLFEREGHEGRESESE
BUNMERIRERREBBHOAR
23,355,000 7T ©

Rz -_ZFTF+-_A=+—H
HtFEE BREBREELEEMNZ
ETYE BEBEREZE EOAR
# 3,588,000 (ZE—NF : ARK
9,050,000 T) + FEEFE S o

ERNEHE—_E-_ZEF+-_A=1+—H
IEFERAREENE THEB QG
SEREEE  ARRESEE—F
RZE-_FTFE+_-_A=+—BRER
CELEEURZEWNBRAIZWE
MR RERELEAEEEETRERN
o BEITRERD  ZEHBAA
SE-ZAReEELEEM-()EAILR
FETE (i) L P 7K ZE S LA K (i) 5 300 2R
BEB PN ETEXEBORAEE
ERBAARERREHIEZERRE - £
ERHEEREEBERELDET AR
TERER ZEHREEEBMMHA
Yo [6] 4 58 Ty /i J8 7 B 2 ERD AP A E
BEFEEMBRAR ([hHEEE
HEDREBEFRAEBHEETE
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16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued) ~ 16. Y13 - B R & HE ()

Impairment test on property, plant and equipment ME BBIRB[ERTHAEEE
and right-of-use assets (Continued) ZREAR (&)
CGU Guangpxi Beiliu Shanxi Qinshui Yangcheng Huiyang Total
REEEEN BAELR Wik BHER @t

2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019

TRI9F -T-nf ZRCRE -TN&F ZRCRE -—T-nf ZRIRE —INf
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTR AE%Tn ARETR AE4Tr ARETR AR4YTr ARMTR AE%Tn
Property, plantand 9% - BERRE
equipment 54,101 45,991 26,876 70,501 272,442 344,807 353,419 461,299
Right-of-use assets/  (FFREEE/
prepaidland lease B TS
payments 6,703 6,908 12,021 12,329 698 - 19,422 19,287

Carrying amount before & B EE (Mk
impaimentlossfor ~ JREFEA)

the respective years 60,804 52,899 38,807 82,830 273,140 344,807 372,841 480,536
Impairment on property, ¥ - #22K 1

plant and equipment A& - - - (31,830) - (8,807) - (40,637)
Net canyingamount B FE 60,804 52,899 38,897 51,000 213,140 336,000 312,841 439,899
Recoverable amount [ £ % 62,700 53,500 42,000 51,000 216,000 336,000
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Impairment test on property, plant and equipment

and right-of-use assets (Continued)
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16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continuea)

Key assumptions used for value-in-use calculations:
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 BZ—ZT_FTF+_-A=+—HIFE

16. Y% - WS RRE &)

Yk HERRBERERREE
ZRAERE (&)

EREEFETERANERMEK

CGU Guangxi Beiliu Shanxi Qinshui Yangcheng Huiyang
REeELEN BRELR WFg bk BHER

2020 2020 2019 2020 2019
“R-8FE -TohE ZBIRE O —TohfE ZBIRE —Tqf
Projection period pibill: 5 years 5 years 5years Syears  *10years 11 years
5§ 5 5E 05 neE
Growth rate after projection period T8I 2 SR & 3% 0% 0% 0% 0%
Pre-tax discount rate BRI E 21.8% 28.7% 32.4% 24.5% 26.5%

*  Based on the operating lease term

Their recoverable amounts are based on certain similar key
assumptions. The management of the Group prepared cash
flow forecasts for the CGUs derived from the most recent

available financial budgets approved by management.

The key assumptions also include the budgeted sales and gross
margins based on past performance and the management’s

expectation of market development.

H AU [al 5 58 J5 IR B Al 0 2L A R R
g AEBEEENLEEELE
MBI ERE  RERSELE
2 ReRETEAR -

BRBRTEEREBERAREE
BYTSHENES Y BENERE
o
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16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continuea)

Impairment test on property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets (Continued)

There has been no change from the valuation technique used
in prior year. As a result of the impairment assessment of the
CGUs, management of the Group determines that there is no
further impairment on the above 3 CGUs for the year ended
31 December 2020. Management believes that any reasonably
possible change in any of the above assumptions would not
cause the carrying amounts of the above CGUs to exceed the
recoverable amounts of the respective CGUs.

For the year ended 31 December 2019, a further impairment
loss of approximately RMB40,637,000 in aggregate had been
recognised in respect of property, plant and equipment, which
arose in light of significant adverse changes in the year in the
economic environment in which the Group operates, which led
the directors to expect lower profitability for the Shanxi Qinshui
and Yangcheng Huiyang CGUs in the coming years.

16. Y% - WS RRE &)

Yk HERRBERERREE
ZRAERE (&)

FrfERMBESEZEEAFHEAR AR
HESEEBMIELRENG A%
EEEEHT —AReELEME
EE-_TF+-A=+— Eluzir
W —ZRE - EREEMRE -
BENEMAEAEES ?I‘—?T\AE
BMEMBeELEVNERERA
ReEEEBEMMTKESEE -

BHE-_Z—hhF+-_A=+—HLHF
B % WBEREEE - TERR
BEEEAEHARKA40,637,0007T -
BTy R AN BTE F A& BB IR
BHRBAERTNES  REEFER
WFEL K R GBI HIR & E A B AL
T R F 7y 2B F ge 1 51R
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17. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 17. FRAREE
Leasehold
lands
HELH
RMB’000
ARETT
Cost A
At 1 January 2019 and 31 December 2019 RZZTE—NF—HA—HBEK
—E-NF+=-A=+—8H 34,194
Addition NE 700
At 31 December 2020 RZE-ZEF+-_A=+—H 34,804
Accumulated depreciation BitiheE
At 1 January 2019 N—F—NF—H—H -
Depreciation charge TERX 870
At 31 December 2019 RZE—-—NF+=-_A=+—H 870
Depreciation charge mERX 875
At 31 December 2020 RZE_TF+_A=+—H 1,745
Carrying values REE
At 31 December 2020 RZE_ZEF+_A=+—H 33,149
At 31 December 2019 RZE—-NF+ZA=+—H 33,324
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17. EFREEE #)

REBEREMEHE LA AT
BRE  HEEREELHAR®698,000
T(ZE—NF: ARBZTT)ZHE
TR SN NEBIEMRIBERSZ i
B THFT B RER

17. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (Continued)

The Group has obtained the land use right certificates for all
leasehold lands except for leasehold lands with carrying amount
of approximately RMB698,000 (2019: RMB Nil) in which the
Group is in the process of obtaining.

The above items of right-of-use assets are depreciated on a i AEEEBEB AEZRER T

straight-line basis at the following estimated useful lives:

Leasehold lands

50 years

The analysis of the net book value of right-of-use assets by

class of underlying asset is as follows:

EEF AT E R F A EHRITE ¢

HELTH

50 &

EREEERBREERE DMK

EFED T

2020 2019
—EEHF —ZT-hF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARB TR ARKETTT
Ownership interests on leasehold land £ EIFEE BB E it
held for own use in the PRC, with M EEER &R THEH
remaining lease term of between NF10FZEE04F
10 and 50 years 33,149 33,324
2020 2019
b i 222 —T—hF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®BTT ARETTT
Expense relating to short-term leases WRERAENHR 825 830
Total cash outflow for leases HEMBRS ML R 825 830
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18. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

18. BEEE

Exclusive
right for
piped natural
gas operation

BEXAR
ER2BRET
RMB’000
ARBTR
Cost %N
At 1 January 2019, RZZE—NF—H—B ZE—N&k
31 December 2019 and 2020 —EERF+ZHA=+—H 334,811
Accumulated amortisation Rt RRE
and impairment
At 1 January 2019, 31 December RZZE—NF—H—RB ZE—I&k
2019 and 2020 —E_TF+_A=t—H 334,811

Carrying amount
At 31 December 2019 and 2020

BREE

R-B-NFER-ZF-FF+-A=+—H
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18. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)

(a

(b)

Exclusive right for piped natural gas operation
in Beiliu City

It represented the exclusive right to operate in gas pipeline
infrastructure and provision of piped natural gas in Beiliu
City, Guangxi Zhuang Autonomous Region, the PRC and
was amortised as cost of sales on a straight-line basis over
the estimated useful lives of 45 years starting from 2009.

The carrying amount of this exclusive right was fully
impaired in 2015.

Exclusive right for piped natural gas operation
in Ruyang County

It represented the exclusive right to operate in gas pipeline
infrastructure and provision of piped natural gas in Ruyang
County, Luoyang City, Henan Province, the PRC and was
amortised as cost of sales on a straight-line basis over the
estimated useful lives of approximately 28.5 years starting
from 2011.

The carrying amount of this exclusive right was fully
impaired in 2015.

18. BILEE (&)

(a

(b)

EERTEEEBEBRRRE
Bz BERER

ZEMNEETBREALRE AR
LR EMNRE BEMRRIEN
REBERARZBREN I
REGEENRG _TTNFE
455 2 {5 A e R F 1R R
ERA A o

ZBREMNZEBMEER-F
—hEZHRE -

EXGBEEEBERRRE
Bz BRER

ZAENEETBEAEERBML
BREENAEBERRIENIR
HEBRARZBREMN > LR
EREERB T ——FRBHA
285F Z T RAIEAFHAER

ZBREMNZEMEER-F
—hEZHRE -
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19. DEPOSITS AND PREPAYMENTS

19. I & RANKE

2020 2019
—E-HF —T—hF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®BTR AREETTT
Warranty money paid for the acquisition i & % B 22 HF T~ U iE
of equipment under sales and BEIN2RESR
leaseback arrangements (note (i)) (B EG) 2,000 2,000
Prepayments AT FRIE 821 821
Prepayments relating to construction AR R SRR ST TR R
expenses (note (ii)) (B % Gi)) 23,220 23,235
26,041 26,056

Notes:

[0) On 25 July 2019, 1L 7870 7K JIE 2= 8 )R % & & [R A 7] (transliterated as Shanxi
Qinshui Shuntai Energy Development Company Limited) (“Shanxi Qinshui”)
entered into a conditional equipments agreement with = £ gt E & B[R
A Al (transliterated as CIMC Capital Ltd.) (‘CIMC”") (“2019 Finance Lease
Arrangement”), pursuant to which, (i) Shanxi Qinshui conditionally agreed to
sell and CIMC conditionally agreed to purchase the certain liquefied natural
gas equipment (“Equipments”) for a total consideration of RMB50,000,000;
and (i) Shanxi Qinshui conditionally agreed to lease from CIMC, and CIMC
conditionally agreed to lease to Shanxi Qinshui, the Equipments for a total lease
consideration of RMB58,320,000 in aggregate for a term of 36 months by
monthly installments inclusive of interest, with a lump sum handling fee in the
sum of RMB750,000. The lease consideration may be adjusted according to
the floating lending interest rate to be promulgated by PBC from time to time.
Shanxi Qinshui shall pay an amount of RMB5,000,000 as warranty money to
CIMC.

The 2019 Finance Lease Arrangement constituted a major transaction on the
part of the Company under the GEM Listing Rules, and was approved by the
Shareholders by way of ordinary resolution at the special general meeting of the
Company held on 20 October 2020.

(i) The comparative figure has been reclassified in order to confirm with current
year’s presentation.

W

(i)

R-ZZE—hFtA=-+AHB  WAENKIESE
BERERAR AR (NUFEIK]) BRERE
HEARAR(REDETHERHRERE
(- NFRERERHED &t -
(LT KBIEGRELEMPRERIEER
EBEETRERAREZE ([RED B8R
& A A R #50,000,0007T ¢ K (i) L &b kA
BHERERPEAR MPEFRERER
WP KEASE  RHAEREAEAAR
#58,320,0007T * A Hi361E A (12 A »
FBREFE)  BM—FEFEEBEBLEAR
#750,0007T - HEREAIREFEARR
TAERAHNZEEENEELAE - LA
oK ZE A P & 2 A R # 5,000,000 7T 1E &

RED °

RIEGEM EHRE - — - NFREHER
PFERARR —BEERS  WERERERR
ZoRETASTHBTZRESIARE £
PAESRIR AR A o

LBRBFESMOH AFELAFENRR -
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20. INVENTORIES

(a

(b)

Inventories in the consolidated statement of

20. BE

(@) REEUBRRRAZEFER

financial position comprise: BIE
2020 2019
t et —T-hF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®B TR ARETTT
Raw materials R 6,496 6,316
Finished goods BURY oA 820 1,358
7,316 7,674

The analysis of the amount of inventories (b) CEABBEIATFABRZ
recognised as an expense and included in FESHEZIWAT :
profit or loss is as follows:
2020 2019
—g-8% -z A
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR TR ARETTT
Cost of inventories sold EEFEZHAR 108,412 77,692

The cost of inventories recognised as expense included
approximately RMB Nil (2019: RMB239,000) in respect of
written-downs of inventories to net realisable value.

MMRFEEERFEERS
A2 FEERANEBEAREZ T
(ZZ—NF: ARE239,0007T) °
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21. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 21. FEWBR X % H 4t FE W FX 1B
2020 2019
—EEF —E—NF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT AREEFIT
Trade receivables U ER X

— contract with customers —HEFE AN 6,103 4,669
Less: Allowance for credit losses B EEEERE (4,590) (3,813)
1,513 856
Bills receivables e E % 500 -
Other receivables and deposits BB R IZ® 12,081 13,236

Amount due from a related company U 8 8 N B B
(note 38(a)(i)) (Fff 5E 38(a)(i)) 6,000 6,000
Advances to suppliers BTN 1,611 3,637
Other prepayments H A IE{I 5RI8 7,764 3,496
Value-added tax recoverable ATR IS (E R 7,220 1,872
33,689 29,097
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21. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued)

As of the end of the reporting period, the ageing analysis of the
trade receivables, based on invoice date and net of allowance
for credit losses, is as follows:

21.

FE W AR R B2 EL B UK TR (48)

YRR (RERAHENGKERERS
BEE) RREMRZREDITAOT

2020 2019

—E-%F —F-hF

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®BTT AREF T

Within 1 month IREREED 1,320 692
More than 1 month but less than 1EABEIEANR

3 months = -
More than 3 months but less than 3MEA%ZE6EANRN

6 months 40 _

More than 6 months but less than 6 A®BE12EAR

12 months 66 -

More than 12 months 1216 5 1& 87 164

1,513 856

The Group generally allows credit period of 30 to 180 days to its
customers. The Group may, on a case by case basis and after
evaluation of the business relationship and creditworthiness,
extend the credit period upon the customers’ requests.

The ageing analysis of trade receivables that were past due but
not impaired are as follows:

KREB—MRETFEFI0E180HEE
H o AEB RS EMRENMRTEE
BEEREIMEER EBEFPEXIERS

&5

BEHERRENEKER ZERD
O

2020 2019

—ECEF —ZT—hF

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®BTR ARETTT

Neither past due nor impaired KR H & RIBE 1,320 661
Less than 1 month past due BELR 1 E A 40 -
1 to 3 months past due wE1 =318 A 66 -
Over 3 months past due 180 B AR 3 16 A 87 195
193 195

1,513 856

Details of impairment assessments of trade and other
receivables are set out on note 34.

I LA Bl 75 % L At B WK R 2 R E Y 1
FHIBEMIEESS -
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22. BANK BALANCES AND CASH 2. RITHBRRERE

156

2020 2019
—E-HF —F-NF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®BTT AREFT
Cash and cash equivalents ReRBEEED
— Cash at bank and in hand —iRIT R FERIB S 25,880 18,265

Cash at bank earns interest at floating rates based on daily
bank deposit rates. The bank balances are deposited with
creditworthy banks with no recent history of default.

For the years ended 31 December 2020 and 2019, the Group
performed impairment assessment on the bank balances and
concluded that the probability of defaults of the counterparty
banks are insignificant and accordingly, no allowance for credit
losses is provided.

At the end of the reporting period, the cash and cash
equivalents of the Group denominated in RMB amounted
to approximately RMB25,808,000 (2019: RMB18,126,000).
RMB is not freely convertible into other currencies, however,
under the PRC’s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and
Administration of Settlement, Sale and Payment of Foreign
Exchange Regulations, the Group is permitted to exchange
RMB for other currencies through banks authorised to conduct
foreign exchange business.

WIRT 2R 2B IR (T E BRI R
BT 8RR BRI 8 o SR1T R B TE A
LSRR T b S G Tor
7

HE_Z-_ZFR-_FT—-—NF+=A
=+—HIEFE AEBEHRTER
EITRENG  URAEHFFHIRTE
AR ge K - Bt Bt (E B EE
ETIRHEE -

RIBERR  AEEUNARKHE
MR RBASCEEMOAEBARE
25,808,000 (ZE—NLF: ARH
18,126,0007T) ° AR BB K
BMAHMER  BREFRZINEE
BAEBIFNAERE - SIE RMNIEBIERE
REBEBEEFBEREETINEES
ZRITIEARSE S MK EME -
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23. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 23. B BRR R EAESRIE
2020 2019
—ETEF —ZT—hF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥Tx AREF T
Trade payables FERTER X 89,822 98,950
Amount due to ultimate controlling party &~ fx #2428 i% 75 5078
(note 38(a)(ii)) (B 5% 38(a)(ii)) 18,481 1,800
Amounts due to directors (note 38(a)(i) &1 E = 7B (B 5 38(a)(ii) 581 483
Amounts due to former directors FERTRIE EFIR
(note 38(a)(ii)) (B 5 38(a)(ii)) - 1,267
Amounts due to non-controlling FERTFYE A Bl 2 FEERAR R
shareholders of subsidiaries FIA (P 5 38(a)(ii))
(note 38(ay(ii)) 3,437 5,720
Accrued expenses and other payables &=t 5 Sz K2 H th & < 7118
(note () (BT G) 29,997 46,246
Payables for acquisition of property, W2 - R R EEN
plant and equipment A 114,306 120,217
Loan interest payables JERE KA B 3,033 1,307
Value-added and other taxes payables 2 1{E T K E {th JiE 1~ £ 18 1,158 2,280
260,815 278,270
Notes: B3
()  Accrued expenses and other payables included the estimated costs of () RZZTEZTF+ZA=+—H EiTHRIZR

dismantling and removing the items of property, plant and equipment and
restoring the site on which they are located, amounting to approximately
RMB3,302,000 as at 31 December 2020 (2019: RMB3,302,000).

As of the end of the reporting period, the ageing analysis of the

HthENREBERERIRREYE BER
BAETE B A RIRIEIE B FREH RER 2 fhET AR
R#) A ANRBES302,0007T (ZE—HLE: A
R 3,302,0007T) °

RBEHR BANERKZEREH)

trade payables, based on invoice date, is as follows: ZERESTIT
2020 2019
—EEHF —E-NF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TT AREEFIT
Within 1 month 118 AW 20,830 1,519
More than 1 month but less than 1B A%ZEBIEANRN
3 months 8 10,424
More than 3 months but less than 3EA%EGEAN
6 months 687 -
More than 6 months but less than 61E A%BE12ME AR
12 months 659 -
More than 12 months 1218 A 1% 67,638 87,007
89,822 98,950
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24. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS

24. SRITRHEAMER

2020 2019
—E-HF —F-NF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®BTR ARETF T
Secured bank loans (note (a)) EHEFRITER (17 @E) 35,000 30,000
Unsecured other loan (note (b)) 298 1 E At B 73R (BT 5 (b)) 24,200 24,200
59,200 54,200
Analysed as: DITAT -
Amount due within 1 year shown —F AR E 2 FIE
under current liabilities FIRmBBEET) 54,200 54,200
Amount due after 1 year shown —F g 5B 2 BB
under non-current liabilities (FIRIERESBEIET) 5,000 -
59,200 54,200

(a) Secured bank loans carry various interest rates which ranged from 4.5% to 4.7%

per annum (2019: 4.74% to 5.22% per annum).

(b) Unsecured other loan represents loans due to non-controlling shareholder of
PRC subsidiary of the Group and bears interest at fixed rate of 7.12% (2019:
7.12%) per annum. Interest expenses on unsecured other loan to non-controlling
shareholder of the subsidiary amounted to approximately RMB1,726,000 (2019:
RMB1,719,000) payable to Chengrong Investment (note 38(c)) was charged to
profit or loss within “finance costs” during the year ended 31 December 2020.

EEMRITERENTEFI45%E47% (=
T—NF BF4T74% E5.22%) 2 TR 8 -

ERAEMERIEERMNAEEFENE QA
EERBRERZER  REF712%(ZF— N
F:712%) 2 EEFIERTE - MM BRRIE
PERBRRED ZERFEMERZFESMAX
HANRKE1,726,0007C (ZF—NF : ARW
1,719,0007) E AR EE 1R & (FHEE38(c)) « B
BEE-E-SFE+-RA=+—RBIFEE#
BEAIRNZIBEMNE -
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25. LEASE LIABILITIES 25. HEEE
Lease liabilities payable: ENHESSE
2020 2019
—E-H —TE-hE
RMB’000 RMB’000
Lease liabilities payable: EBRFHEEAE: AREBTT ARETF T
Within 1 year 195K 6,652 4,947
After 1 year but within 2 years 1F&RE2FA 5,998 4,791
After 2 years but within 5 years 2FBB5FN 1,503 3,931
7,501 8,722
14,153 13,669
Less: Amount due for settlement within & : 1218 B R E|HE 18 ~ 7718
12 months shown under current FIRrEaEERET)
liabilities (6,652) (4,947)
Amount due for settlement after 12 128 A& B BRME 8 2 518
months shown under non-current FIRFEREBAEIET)
liabilities 7,501 8,722
The Group leases certain equipment for its operations under AEBEREHEHEHES TRMEMH
lease agreements. These leases have remaining lease term of 3 HEEBE ZEHENBR TITHEHBA=F
years (2019: 3 years). (ZE—NF:=ZF) -
The weighted average incremental borrowing rates applied to FERREEBENINETHESER
lease liabilities is 10.28% (2019: 10.28%). FEA10.28% (ZZE—NLF : 10.28%) °
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26. CONVERTIBLE BONDS 26. AT ES

During the year ended 31 December 2015, the Company
issued HK$ denominated zero-coupon convertible bonds with
principal amount of HK$21,238,440 as part of the consideration
for acquisition of the Nuoxin Engineering Group. The convertible
bonds have a maturity period of 5 years from the issue date and
are convertible at the option of the bondholder into 94,142,021
ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each in the capital of the Company
at a conversion price of HK$0.2256 per share.

The convertible bonds contained two components: liability
and equity elements. The equity element on initial recognition
amounted to RMB10,544,000 was presented in equity as part
of the “convertible bonds reserve”. The effective interest rate
of the liability component of the convertible bonds on initial
recognition was 23.4% per annum.

No convertible bonds were converted during the years ended

31 December 2020 and 2019.

The movement of the liability component of the convertible
bonds for the year is set out below:

HE-_T-—HAF+-A=+—BLF
EA - RNRBBITVEBITEE . A&
R /521,238,440 8 L2 TR A R E
5 LMERWEBHEREB ZHHRE -
ARRESFEEITHBRARFER
BEEFHBEANEERRKRETR
0.2256 # LB B AR R AR A TR
B 0.01 8702 94,142,021 B E3@A% o

BmRESFEEMERS - BERE
mED VT HAREZTIDAAR
# 10,544,000 7T * A 25 A5 {E [ 7]
BRESFRE] 2 —BD  c R LHE
RERBREFBEDLD 2ERFF
R 503.4% o

REBE_ZT_TFK —nF+=
A=+—BLEE - ﬁﬁT%hﬁ%
ik o

THEEFABEHRORNFAZEDE
FIEnT

2020 2019

—E2-EH —T-NF

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®BTT ARETTT

At 1 January m—H—H 15,604 12,416
Effective interest expense charged BNk ERFERX 3,382 2,914
Exchange difference MEHERE (1,167) 274
Maturity of convertible bonds AR E S EIH (17,819) -
At 31 December KR+=—HA=+—H - 15,604
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PROVISION 27. B e
2020 2019
_— ? _— $ _= _j_l_,i
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFxT AREEFIT
At 1 January Kn—H—H 19,078 16,646
Provision for the year A E 3,376 2,844
Amount utilised for the year KNEESH 2B (871) (412)
At 31 December Rt+t-—A=+—H 21,583 19,078

The provision for production safety has been determined by the
directors to meet the production safety standards, based on
certain percentage of the Group’s revenue in accordance with
PRC rules and regulations.

HEEZE2REBEIHEFRETERR
FOER BBAKEWRAZETAD
HEE  UNaLELZEFRE-

CONTRACT LIABILITIES .BHAaE
2020 2019
RMB’OOO RMB’000
AR®BTR AREETTT
Sales of piped natural gas HEBBRAR 20,180 14,724
As at 1 January 2019, contract liabilities amounted to RZE-—NF—H—H &aHEEAR
RMB11,521,000. AR # 11,521,000 7T °
The contract liabilities primarily relate to the advance ERNBEEFEHERIEEEBRARE
consideration received from customers for sales of piped WEFREER  HHEKENEEHE
natural gas, for which revenue is recognised at point in time. ZHAER o H?I RERNESIEER
This will be recognised as revenue when control of the goods e REXERFPIEC B RER A
has transferred, being when the goods have been shipped to Iz o

the customer’s specific location.

The amounts of approximately RMB11,756,000 and
RMB6,595,000 included in contract liabilities at 31 December
2019 and 31 December 2018 respectively have been
recognised as revenue in 2020 and 2019 respectively.

The significant increases in contract liabilities in 2020 and 2019
were due to the continuous increase in the Group’s advances
received from major customers.

—NF+ZA=+—HBEZE
—N\FE+ZA=+—HB2RFAEL
E%E’\Jé%ﬁé’w\iﬁ%ﬁ,75a000ﬁ&
AR #6,595,000 T E 5 Bl =
TERZZF-NFHERRBEE -

RZE_EFR_ZE-NFHNEHE
BEABENITERAEEETERFLH
BIASEL I -
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29. DEFERRED TAXATION

Deferred tax liabilities recognised

The components of deferred tax liabilities recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position and the movements

during the year are as follows:

29. JEIERLIH

ERRAZELESERE

RERB BB R AR ZIELEHR IR
BEMBORERFEFAZEBIT

Fair value
adjustment
on prepaid
Fair value lease
adjustment payments for
on property, land under
plant and operating  Convertible ~ Withholding
equipment leases bonds tax Total
nE e  KEHEET
Rifie RiALEE
NEERE 2ATERE THERES bbb L
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR#TT ARETr AR¥Tn AR®Tn AR¥Tzn
At1 January 2019 RZE-NE-F-H (2,866) (2,357) (1,080) (1,765) (8,018)
Credited to profit or loss AR 237 59 481 1,223 2,000
Exchange differences EHER - - (12) - (12)
At 31 December 2019 and RZE-AE+ZA=T-H
1 January 2020 k=ZE-Z%-f-H (2,629) (2,298) (561) (642) (6,030)
Credited to profit or loss iTARR 287 59 558 229 1,083
Exchange differences EREHE - - 3 - 3
At 31 December 2020 RZZ-TF+-A=1-H (2,392) (2,239) - (313) (4,944)
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29. DEFERRED TAXATION (Continued) 29. IEEBLIE ()
Deferred tax liabilities recognised (Continued) EHRAZEEREES (&)
The following is the analysis of the deferred tax balances for T3 A B EmE S R IBLS
financial reporting purposes: RO -
2020 2019
—E2-EH —E-NF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARB TR ARETT
Deferred tax liabilities recognised in RERE IR R ATER
the consolidated statement of BRI A E
financial position (4,944) (6,030)
Deferred tax assets not recognised MABRZELERIBEEE
At 31 December 2020, the Group has not recognised deferred R-E-ZEF+-_A=+—H A&
tax assets in respect of estimated cumulative tax losses carried B R R EAE AR R HIEEE
forward of approximately RMB120 million (2019: RMB151 (HBRBEAHEBRREEEBEEZ —
million) which are due to expire within 1 to 5 years under the ZRFARE  AIHEEAEERR
current tax legislation and are available for offsetting against 2 JERT @ F)) 49 A K % 120,000,000
future taxable profits of the Group in which the losses arise. The T (ZZF—NF : AR% 151,000,000
cumulative tax losses have not been recognised as a deferred T BEMELEHIBEE - AR5 KA
tax asset as it is not probable that future taxable profits against EEYAREERSELERIBEE )
which the losses can be utilised will be available in the relevant MANEARBERE I EERREEB T
tax jurisdiction and entity. AI 52 AT SH BT 18 2 AR R FE R TR A ©
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30. CAPITAL AND RESERVES

164

(a) Authorised and issued share capital

30. EXRK B
(@) ZFERCBITRA

2020 2019
t S 2:3 —E-NE
Number of Number of
shares Amount shares Amount
KRHeE &8 B EE 8
'000 RMB’000 '000 RMB'000
Tk ARBTR T ARETT
Authorised ordinary shares of  ZREE0.01E L2
HK$0.01 each: EELEMR -
At 1 January and R—A—BR+=A
31 December =+—H 20,000,000 174,064 20,000,000 174,064
Issued and fully paid BEITRER
— Ordinary shares of —BREE0.01
HK$0.01 each: B2 LBk
At 1 January and n—A—BRk
31 December +-A=+—H 1,319,484 10,910 1,319,484 10,910

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive
dividends as declared from time to time and entitled to one
vote per share at meetings of the Company. All ordinary
shares rank equally with regard to the Company’s residual

assets.

AR AEANERUR A REIR
ZREERRANFREZLZES
B—RZERE--IBEEBERY
ARBZHNBEEDZEHFE

B

S



—E-F

— ==

FFEH PEKEREEER AR

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR MEE

For the year ended 31 December 2020 HZ—ZE_ZF+_-A=+—HILFE

30. EARfREE &)

30. CAPITAL AND RESERVES (Continued)

(b) Nature and purpose of reserves

U]

(i)

(i)

Share premium
The application of share premium account is governed
by the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda.

General reserve

According to the relevant laws and regulations in
the PRC, each of the PRC subsidiaries is required to
appropriate at least 10% of its after-tax profit (after
offsetting prior years’ losses), based on the PRC
statutory financial statements prepared in accordance
with the generally accepted accounting principles
(“GAAP”) and financial regulations applicable to PRC
enterprises, to the general reserve until the balance
of the fund reaches 50% of the PRC subsidiary’s
registered capital. Thereafter, any further appropriation
can be made at the directors’ discretion.

The general reserve fund can be utilised to offset
the prior years’ losses, or be utilised to increase the
capital on the condition that the general reserve shall
be maintained at a minimum of 25% of the registered
capital after such increase.

Share options reserve

The share options reserve comprises the portion of
the grant date fair value of unexercised share options
granted to executive directors, employees and
consultants of the Group that has been recognised
in accordance with the accounting policy adopted for
share-based payments in note 3.

b) EEZHEEREN

U]

(ii)

(i)

R4 R E
BEERcEAXARE
RANE (N5 FTRE °

— RS
BIEFRBRBEEEERER
EhEHBARNEEBE
FEEIEE  ARBERAR
g RA([AREFRA)
Ko R B 1 3258 A 2 B 7S 48 1
R HBUEEHERE
1% EL B 18 i B & 2 10%
EE—REH EEESZ
ERRER G BN B A R R
BEARZB0% FIE- Hig &
E 0] WIBRE 1L E (5N
B o

— R 1 % T B R IR 9408
4 BT - SR R A
A NEEIEAE  —RE
RAME T ORERER 2
25% °

BREME
BhEREBEERTASRE
MITES BENERMNK
TTEBRENE DR RAF
B& D Z#MOEREWME
3Pt 7E A B {7 A3 B B9 1
PR ER AN & AT ERR M T A
FERR

165



166

CHINA CBM GROUP COMPANY LIMITED Annual Report 2020

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR M

For the year ended 31 December 2020 BZ—ZT_FTF+_-A=+—HIFE

30. CAPITAL AND RESERVES (Continued)

(b) Nature and purpose of reserves (Continued)

(iv)

(v)

(vi)

Translation reserve

The translation reserve comprises all foreign exchange
differences arising from the translation of the financial
statements of foreign operations. The reserve is dealt
with in accordance with the accounting policy set out
in note 3.

Contributed surplus

The contributed surplus represents the surplus
from share capital reduction arising from the capital
reorganisation in 2014.

Convertible bonds reserve

The convertible bonds reserve represent the value of
unexercised equity component of convertible bonds
issued by the Company. The reserve is dealt with
in accordance with the accounting policy set out in
note 3.

30. EARfRE &)
(b) REZHEERBWN &)

(iv)

(v)

(vi)

BmE A
BEREEEMEBRERI
EBVBBRRELZER =
oM E BRI
Bz atBREHE -

ERAH
ERRBRER_ZT-NUFE
REHEG BB 2 Bk ©

RRESHE

AR ESHEEEAREE
TR AR BB F B R AT
@b 2 (BE - ZHERE
MIFESFTEM S aT BUREIE ©



T EEFR PEREREEERAF

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR MEE

For the year ended 31 December 2020 HZ—ZE_ZF+_-A=+—HILFE

3. MREEEUROGAER 2

31. EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED
TRANSACTIONS

The Company’s share option scheme (the “Scheme”) was
adopted pursuant to an ordinary resolution passed by the
shareholders of the Company at the extraordinary general
meeting held on 18 May 2011 and will remain in force for a
period of 10 years. The purpose of the Scheme is to attract
and retain the best available personnel, to provide additional
incentive to employees (full-time and part-time), directors,
consultants and advisers of the Group and to promote the

success of the business of the Group.

(a) The terms and conditions of the grants are as

R

AN E R RE T &) ([R% a8 ) TR
BAARBRER=_Z——FRATN
BRITHRRFNAE L@e%mR
ZERM AHR+FEHRAAFES
Mo xat SN B ZRSI MR EES
AB -AXREENES (28 RFRE) -
E= BRREHARHKEINER
DA N SEIE 900

(a) RHEFRRRMRFLT :

follows:
Number of Contractual life
options  Vesting conditions of options
BREHE BEES BRESHER
Options granted:
BRI ERE
30 May 2011 27,957,078  Vest immediately 10 years
—T-—FRA=1H Bl 558 +TF
30 May 2011 5,596,092 50% are exercisable at any time after the expiry of 10 years
1 year from the date of grant up to 2 years from
the date of grant; and 100% are exercisable at
any time after the expiry of 2 years from the date
of grant up to 10 years from the date of offer.
—T-—FRA=1H 50% FI I B ERRESHM 1 F 2K H B B W +F

2 FHIRIRERT 1T ¢ 2 100% AT i B #A R 5T
m2EE BB BB H10FHRBERTT(E -

Total share options granted 33,553,170
ERHERELH
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31. EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED
TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(b) The number and weighted average exercise
prices of share options are as follows:

The following table discloses movements in the Company’s
share options under the Scheme during the year ended 31

3. UREEEUROGRER 2

R3(#E)
(b) BREZHE RNEFLHT
FEENT :

TRBERE-FT-TF+-A
=t BLLFERHEET LA

December 2020: NAI R
Number of
Period during share options Exercised Lapsed Outstanding at
which share options  Exercise price  Outstanding at  granted during during during 31 December
Date of grant are exercisable per share 1 January 2020 the year the year the year 2020
it 33 it 33
-A-B  EARE2 tZA=1-H
REAY BRETTES  SROERE A€ BREBE  FREOE  FAEXY RITE
HKS
B
30/5/2011 30/5/2011 - 29/5/2021 381 21,632,328 - - - 21,632,328
30/5/2011 30/5/2012 - 29/5/2021 381 2,243,373 - - - 2,243,373
30/5/2011 30/5/2013 - 29/5/2021 381 2,243,373 - - - 2,243,373
32,119,074 - - - 32,119,074
Exercisable at the end of year
RERMTHRE 32,119,074
Weighted average exercise
price (HK$)
IETATREE (BT 381 - - - 381
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3. MREEEUROGAER 2

(b) The number and weighted average exercise
prices of share options are as follows: (Continued)

The following table discloses movements in the Company’s
share options under the Scheme during the year ended 31

R5 (&)
(b) FEMR#E B E R nEFIIT

FEENT (&)

TREEBE-FT-NETA
=+ BLEFER AT A

December 2019: NEIEERES
Number of
Period during share options Exercised Lapsed  Outstanding at
which share options ~ Exercise price Outstandingat ~ granted during during during 31 December
Date of grant are exercisable pershare 1 January 2019 the year the year the year 2019
RZE-NE RZE-NE
-R-B  EAREZ +ZA=1-H
RIS BRETTRSE  SRiTRE ATE BREER  FREAR FMEAR AfrfE
HKS
BT
30/5/2011 80/5/2011 - 29/5/2021 381 27,632,328 - - - 27,632,328
30/5/2011 30/5/2012 - 29/5/2021 381 2,243,313 - - - 2,243,373
30/5/2011 30/5/20183 - 29/5/2021 381 2,243,373 - - - 2,243,373
32,119,074 - - - 32,119,074
Exercisable at the end of year
RERAFE 3,119,074
Weighted average exercise
price (HK$)
mEFAHEE () 381 - - - 3,81
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TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(b) The number and weighted average exercise
prices of share options are as follows: (Continued)

No new share options were granted to eligible participants
under the Scheme during the years ended 31 December
2020 and 2019.

No share options were exercised during the years ended
31 December 2020 and 2019.

The options outstanding at 31 December 2020 had an
exercise price of HK$3.81 (2019: HK$3.81) and a weighted
average remaining contractual life of 0.4 (2019: 1.4) years.

32. DEFINED CONTRIBUTION RETIREMENT

PLAN

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the
“MPF Scheme”) under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident
Fund Schemes Ordinance for employees employed under the
jurisdiction of the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance. The
MPF Scheme is a defined contribution retirement scheme
administered by independent trustees. Under the MPF Scheme,
the employer and its employees are each required to make
contributions to the MPF Scheme at 5% of the employee’s
relevant income, subject to a cap of monthly relevant income
of HK$30,000. Contributions to the MPF Scheme vest
immediately.

The Company’s subsidiaries established in the PRC participate
in a mandatory central pension scheme organised by the PRC
Government for certain of its employees, the assets of which are
held separately from those of the Group. Contributions made
are based on a percentage of the eligible employees’ salaries
and are charged to profit or loss as they become payable
in accordance with the rules of the scheme. The employer’s
contributions vest fully once they are made.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR M

For the year ended 31 December 2020 BZ—ZT_FTF+_-A=+—HIFE

3. UREEEUROGRER 2

R5 (#)

(b) BREZHE RNEFLHT
FEENT (&)

BHE_Z_ZTFR=FT—NLF
+ZA=T—HLFE BER
Bzt Elma BB EER L
AR A o

BE_Z-_ZFER_ZF—NF
5 re 1 T1E o

R_E-_EF+-_A=+—HZ
RITEBRE ZITHEERI81E
T (ZE—NAF:381%FT) ' #
TZEFHEHNFHAR0LF
“E-RAF14F) -

32. MR E

AEETLERNELRR G EER
BEzEE REBERIIEREEAT
SMRPI R @B AR E 8 (5878
EatEl]) - BREEFEIEABIULER
ANEE 2 TEREFURRET S - IRIE R
Beitd BEXREEEAROKE
BHBWAZ5%MBREDSEEL
w8 A2 HBEWA LR &30,000
7B IT ° SRR AT B KK AN S B R
BFE -

RARRABEKRLZMBRARRES
TREZ Eb P BEBTEN 2861
RRIEREET S B2 EERAN
SEZBENRARTA - REZEZ
BRA AEBRAEREE ZH ST
REL M - WK BN R BaEHE -
BEHKIELR BN 2B EREE
P e
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DEFINED CONTRIBUTION RETIREMENT
PLAN (Continued)

Under the above schemes, retirement benefits of existing
and retired employees are payable by the relevant scheme
administrators and the Group has no further obligations beyond
the annual contributions.

The aggregate amounts of employer’s contributions by the
Group in respect of retirement benefits schemes dealt with in
profit or loss for the year are disclosed in note 9(a) to these
consolidated financial statements.

The Group does not have any other pension schemes for its
employees in respect of the subsidiaries outside Hong Kong
and the PRC. In the opinion of the directors of the Company,
the Group did not have any significant contingent liabilities as at
31 December 2020 and 2019 in respect of the retirement of its
employees.

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group’s primary objectives when managing capital are to
safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern
in order to provide returns for shareholders and to maintain an
optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital.

The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages its
capital structure to maintain a balance between the higher
shareholders returns that might be possible with higher levels
of borrowings afforded by a sound capital position, and makes
adjustments to the capital structure in light of changes in
economic conditions. In order to maintain or adjust the capital
structure, the Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid
to shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets to reduce debt.

The Group monitors its capital structure on the basis of total
debt to equity. Total debt comprises the Group’s bank and
other borrowings, lease liabilities and convertible bonds as
shown in the consolidated statement of financial position. Equity
comprises equity attributable to equity shareholders of the
Company as shown in the consolidated statement of financial
position.

32.

33.

EREMFTRIKRETE (©)

Riz EAct 8 RAELEKRER 2R
KEN B BARBTEEEARESXM
AEERESFHIDLEELME(E -

AEELRARBAEEEL 2 BEH
REBERNFAZEBEPRE YER
WEHE B RRM T PIKE -

REE YW BB E B NP BIAINKT B A
Al B BRI MEMERARESEE -
RRAPEERR N _TFR_
Z-NF+ZA=+—H X&EETL
EEMAREREBRAZEARRE

& -
EXEBER

AREBEEEAZTEZRER/ERA
SEFERLE 28 URRREHR
O - 3 455 AR B AN S B A DORLE

AEEERY F RS REEEER
R AERFTRRSBIRE HmERS
BEAMRAI AR Z BB EEKRFEZ
BEG T YHAREERBR &
HEREBELIE - BEFHHE
BAKRE AEERRERABRRMN TR
RZBEER BITHFRIHEEE
PURRAS TS ©

AEEARAEHRREEEREER
RigE BABBRAKE ZRITR
HipfEsR - MERE KA BBES (0
RAEVBMRERMTR) - BaEBREAN
NEEDERREGED (WERERTE
ARRRFTR) ©
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33. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

The total debt to equity ratio as at 31 December 2020 and 2019
are as follows:

33.

EXERBEE®

RZB_ZEER-_FT-AF+_H
—t—HZRRaEEERLERMT

2020 2019

-_ w -_ $ - =z — j_l_, E

Notes RMB’000 RMB’000

B 5 AR%Tx AREEFIT

Bank and other borrowings RIT R EAMERK 24 59,200 54,200

Lease liabilities HEaE 25 14,153 13,669

Convertible bonds Al E 5 26 - 15,604

Total debt weE 73,353 83,473
Equity attributable to equity ZAN/NSIE E53 8

shareholders of the Company JE(L = 147,739 185,554

Total debt to equity ratio BEEEERILE 49.65% 44.99%

The Group is not subject to any externally imposed capital
requirements. No changes were made in the objectives, policies
or processes for managing capital during the years ended 31
December 2020 and 2019.

AEEBAZRNIMAINEEMEINEE
ARE -BE_Z_FTFR_FT—N
F+ZR=+—HILFE EBER
MBE  BORREFILEEE -
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34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(a) Categories of financial instruments

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial
instruments of the Group as at the end of the reporting

4. T@MIT A

(@ €EMIESE

AEERBREMRNEREHT
HZRmEmT

period are as follows:

2020 2019
—EEF —E—NF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®EFT AREEFIT
Financial assets EMEE
At amortised cost: LA S5 R AR 51 B
Trade and other receivables JFE LAY R 3 R L b R W IR 22,094 22,092
Cash and cash equivalents RehAESEED 25,880 18,265
Financial liabilities cWMaE
At amortised cost: LA S AR AN 51 BR -
Trade and other payables JE < BR 3R K B A FE 5 3RIE 259,657 275,990
Bank and other borrowings HRIT R E M E K 59,200 54,200
Lease liabilities HEAE 14,153 13,669
Convertible bonds A AR (E 5 - 15,604
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34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continuea)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and

policies

The Group’s major financial instruments include trade and
other receivables, cash and cash equivalents, trade and
other payables, bank and other borrowings, lease liabilities
and convertible bonds. Details of the financial instruments
are disclosed in the respective notes. The risks associated
with these financial instruments include credit risk, liquidity
risk, interest rate risk, currency risk and other price risk
arises in the normal course of the Group’s business. The
management manages and monitors these exposures
to ensure appropriate measures are implemented on a
timely and effective manner. There has been no change to
the types of the Group’s exposure in respect of financial
instruments or the manner in which it manages and

measures the risks.

Credit risk and impairment assessment

Credit risk refers to the risk that the Group’s counterparties
default on their contractual obligations resulting in financial
losses to the Group. The Group’s credit risk exposures are
primarily attributable to trade receivables, bills receivables,
other receivables, amount due from a related company
and bank balances. The Group does not hold any collateral
or other credit enhancements to cover its credit risks

associated with its financial assets.

34. T T E (&)
b) BBEABEEEEREE

AEEZTESRTABERIK
BRN A R U IR - IR e MR
EHFEY  BARRREAMES
R RITREMBER HEER
BEARAERESZ ERTAEZ
HABEREZEEWERE -%F2
BTAEZHBRREEASEEAE
BEEKBRETFELZEERR

mBETRER  FERE B
R R E M ERER - BEEEE
2N BRI L F R R - ARELR BE

REWEEZZNEE - ARE
FReRTAZERBENSHEE
ERFTERR TALELE -

EERRERBER L

EERAREASENHFTER
HEWNEE EHAKEREH
BREX AKRENEERREIE
RN EYERR - BIEE - Hth
JE WK IR U — ] B B 2 B K
BNRTTHES - AKRBEALERFE
EAER RN EMEEEREE
NRERSREEFHENEER
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34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continuea)

(b) Financial Risk Management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continueqd)

()

Trade receivables

The Group has no significant concentration of credit
risk with respect to trade receivables as no one
customer is responsible for more than 10% of the
Group’s trade receivables.

The Group has concentration of credit risk by
geographical location as the entire balance of its trade
receivable as at 31 December 2020 and 2019 were in
the PRC.

In order to minimise risk, the management has a credit
policy in place and the exposures to these credit risks
are monitored on an ongoing basis. Credit evaluations
of its customers’ financial position and condition are
performed on each major customer periodically. These
evaluations focus on the customers’ past history of
making payments when due and current ability to
pay, and take into account information specific to
the customers as well as pertaining to the economic
environment in which the customers operate. The
Group does not require collateral in respect of its
financial assets. Trade debtors are usually due within
30 to 180 days from the date of billing.

The Group also performs impairment assessment
under ECL model on trade receivables individually or
based on provision matrix. Except for items that are
subject to individual evaluation, which are assessed for
impairment individually, the remaining trade receivables
are grouped under a provision matrix based on shared
credit risk characteristics by reference to repayment
histories for recurring customers and current past
due exposure. Impairment of RMB848,000 (2019:
RMB2,357,000) is recognised during the year. Details
of the quantitative disclosures are set out below in this
note.

34. T T E (&)

(b) MBEREEBERBEK (&)

EERRRBEE (&)

(@)

FEW R
AEBEREWRERERMS X
BEEREESETRR BAR
MEE-FEPHAREER
ARTKIERIB 10%

AEBIZMWBENEMS @R
FEEETRR ARER=
ToEFRIZ-NF+Z
A=+—RZEKENREH
2 ERH I AR E o

AREERERR TEED
A —BEEREK ULHA
AEERRETHEESR -
AEEEeEHHIIBERP
ZHEIRR R ETEE
- ZEFEHBEEP B
EX B BFIEZ ESE KA
RlZX e AZEEEP
HEERREFEEMERE
BRBEZEM AEEYE
RETMBEEZREMM -
FEUBR R — R B F ¥ B A
B0Z 180 H A HIH] -

REBMIREBEBEBEEES
R 218 B B 1 B8 435 {8 B P
FEWBR REFT R AT » B
AETRAGENIEREE
EITRER BN HEREW
ERELELEUHEFPHNE
RECER K B AU A B R R
ZREREERRFBRE
BiEEEREE FRERR
BEAR#848,0007L (= &
—hF AR% 2,357,000
L) c 2L BEBEFBHN A
B sE T3 o
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34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continueq)

(b) Financial Risk Management objectives and

policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

(i)  Bills receivables

The credit risk associated with bills receivables, which
are all bank acceptance drafts, is limited because the
accepting bank will cash the bills unconditionally when

the entity presents these bills.

(iij) Bank balances

The credit risk of the Group on liquid funds is limited
because the majority of the counterparties are
international banks and state-owned banks with good

reputation.

(iv) Other receivables and amount due from a related

company

Apart from the credit-impaired other receivables as
disclosed in the note below, the credit risk on other
receivables and amount due from a related company
is also limited because of the natures of these
balances, credit quality of the counterparties and the

historical settlement record.

—BE+-ASt—ALEE

34. T T E (&)

(b) MBEREEBERBEK (&)

EERRRBEE (&)

(i)

(iii)

FEW 5

B W R (R AT A $R1T &
AER)FENEERRE
R AARWRITHEERS
HRZERBEREBRE LR
ESEE

RITHEE
AEELRBE S AINIE
ERBRER  AR/AES Y
FHREERENBERRT
KBBIRTT

(iv) HEWRTIERER— B

B alsE
@TYMT‘E?LFM&E?MEIW%

B E W IESN - g E A
FEHSZ KIE K fE U — R B A
AIRIEAZNEERRTAE
PR TYEHRZEEHRME
HFINEEERRBALE
BB PTE -
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34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 4. EBM T H (&)

(b) Financial Risk Management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continueqd)
The tables below detail the credit risk exposures of
the Group’s financial assets, which are subject to ECL

(b) MBEREEBERBEK (&)

EERRRBEE (&)
TRINRAEB ARSI BEREE
EEFAENEREENEERR

assessment: I
Gross
Internal 12-month or carrying
2020 Notes credit rating lifetime ECL amount
12(8A %28
- k23 [ ABEETR AEREEESR REAE
RMB’000
ARBTR
Financial assets at amortised costs
BREHAATIRNERMEE
Bank balances and cash 22 N/A 12-month ECL 25,880
RITEHRLES TEHR 12EAEHEEEE
Trade receivables 21 (note i) Lifetime ECL 6,103
FEMEE (35D HRBEERR
Amount due from a related company 21 (note i) 12-month ECL 6,000
N —MEEARNE (B3 12EABHEEEE
Other receivables 21 (note i) 12-month ECL -
EiEYEE (B3 12EARSEEEE
(note iii Lifetime ECL 15,781
(P aEiii) HEMEEER

177



178

CHINA CBM GROUP COMPANY LIMITED Annual Report 2020

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR M

For the year ended 31 December 2020 2 —Z-ZF+_-_A=+—HILLFE

34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continuea)

(b) Financial Risk Management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

4. E@MIE (&)

(b) MBEREEBERBEK (&)

EERRRBEE (&)

Gross
Internal 12-month or carrying
2019 Notes credit rating lifetime ECL amount
12EA%2H
“E-NE M NEEETR BEEEER RESE
RMB'000
ARBTT
Financial assets at amortised costs
RERKATIENEREE
Bank balances and cash 22 N/A 12-month ECL 18,265
RTEARAR TEH 1REARBEESE
Trade receivables 21 (note i) Lifetime ECL 4,669
Tl (P& THRBEERR
Amount due from a related company 21 (note ii 12-month ECL 6,000
FE i — B A R 5UE (Bt i) 1REARSEERE
Other receivables 21 (note i) 12-month ECL -
At elsE (ki) 1REARBEESS
(note iii Lifetime ECL 16,778
(i) SHBAEERR
Notes: PR EE

(i)

For trade receivables, the Group has applied the simplified approach
in HKFRS 9 to measure the loss allowance at lifetime ECL. Except for
items that are subject to individual evaluation, which are assessed for
impairment individually, the Group determines the ECL on these items by
past due status.

For the purposes of internal credit risk management, the Group uses past
due information to assess whether credit risk has increased significantly
since initial recognition. As at 31 December 2020 and 2019, these
balances are either not past due or doesn’t have fixed repayment.

The directors of the Company considers credit risks have increased
significantly and those past due more than 90 days are considered as
credit-impaired.

U

(i

(i)

HEEERNE  AEEREAEE
BB mERERFIRMBE  R2H
BEHREEBEASRERRF - HREAE
ARG ERIRE B BT ERES
AEERBHMBERET%ERE WA
HEEEE-

RALEERRETEMS - ANEE(F
AEaRERTHEEERRE NS ER
LRBRBEEM R FR
—Z-AF+ZA=+—H %E5&
430 o 780 B 8 AR B T SE KA o

ARBEZRREERBEBELM
BEZERHBE0ANFERELRE
HBREERE -
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34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 34. TR T B ()
(b) Financial Risk Management objectives and (b) BERAREEEERBE (&)
policies (Continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued) FEERRRRENE (&)
As part of the Group’s credit risk management, the Group ERASBEEERREEN—I0
uses debtors’ aging to assess the impairment for its o REBERESANKRRE
customers because these customers have common risk HEPHRE AAZEREFPA
characteristics that are representative of the customers’ HEARREE  TRBEEFRE
abilities to pay all amounts due in accordance with the B RERIEFT A BRI BiR S 5
contractual terms. The following table provides information BIRE /] o TRIZHA B EUERR
about the exposure to credit risk for trade receivables EERRBMNER  ZFRKRIIR
which are assessed based on provision matrix within BEEHBEHEEEERNNEER
lifetime ECL (not credit-impaired). fE CREBREERE) T -
2020 2019
t et 23 “T-NEF
Average Trade Average Trade
Gross carrying amount lossrate  receivables loss rate receivables
REAE Tk BWERS  FigBLx & WU B 3K
Current (not past due) ENER (K@) 0% 1,320 0% 661
Less than 1 month past due aBmPR—{EA 0% 40 0% -
1 10 6 months past due ai—=xEA 0% 66 0% 195
7 to 12 months past due altE+={EA 0% 87 0% -
Over 1 year past due MEBR—F 100% 4,590 100% 3,813
6,103 4,669
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34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continuea)

(b) Financial Risk Management objectives and

policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

The estimated loss rates are estimated based on historical
observed default rates over the expected life of the debtors
and are adjusted for forward-looking information that is
available without undue cost or effort. The grouping is
regularly reviewed by management to ensure relevant
information about specific debtors is updated.

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group
provided impairment allowance for trade receivables,
based on the provision matrix. The impairment allowance
amounted to RMB4,590,000 (2019: RMB3,813,000) as at
31 December 2020.

The following table shows the movement in lifetime ECL
that has been recognised for trade receivables under the
simplified approach.

34. T T E (&)
(b) BEEBREEEEZREE (&)

EERRRBEE (&)
AEHERRDRBEEEANESR
Eﬁﬁmﬁﬁiﬁ%}%ﬂgiiﬁ“ﬂﬁﬁ
I 51 BB AR AN KL S5 A &
HE’JH\FIEQMT’E&%*MEE
EEMmaaxEs  ABEREHN
FEBBANBBEER -

HE-_Z-_ZTF+-_A=+—
HIEFE  ANEBREREEER
HERERFGHIRAERE - R =
T-TF+-_A=+—H " BE
BB A ANR®4590,000T (==
— N : AR¥3,813,0007T) °

T%EIJ/T’\*E%J%%TI:%?MEWEE%
ROEHEMEEBRY

Lifetime ECL

(credit-

impaired)

ZHiFAHS

FEEBE

(BER

WERE)

RMB’000

AR®ET

As at 1 January 2019 A—E-NF—H—H 3,848
Impairment losses recognised BRI EREE 2,357
Write-offs 1 85 (2,392)
As at 31 December 2019 RZB-NEFE+_A=+—H 3,813
Impairment losses recognised EHERRERE 848
Impairment losses reversed VEREN SEi=E24E] (71)
As at 31 December 2020 RZEZTF+-A=+—H 4,590
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(b) Financial Risk Management objectives and

policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continueqd)
Changes in the loss allowance for trade receivables are

4. E@MIE (&)

(b) MBEREEBERBEK (&)

EERRMBEE (&)
WA BEREES IR

mainly due to: B
2020 2019
—ECEF —ET-NF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TR ARETTT
Increase in days past due over B HAH U8 BB 180 A
180 days resulted in an BHEBEBEIL N
increase in loss allowance 848 2,357
Settlement in full of trade receivables &4 F —FRER
which were impaired in prior year B 5 EWRIA (71) -
Write-off of trade receivables T 55 FE UL BR 53R - (2,392)
777 (35)

The following tables show reconciliation of loss allowances
that has been recognised for other receivables.

IR R B b MORROR BE R Y

EERENEK -

Lifetime ECL

(credit-

impaired)

ZHiFAHA

EEEE

(BHR

WEEE)

RMB’000

AR®TR

As at 1 January 2019 RZE—NF—H—H 6,365
Impairment losses recognised EERBEEE 1,750
Impairment loss reversed VERIEN Ei=EedE (608)
Write-offs bi§i= (10)
As at 31 December 2019 R-E—NF+-_A=+—H 7,497
Impairment loss reversed BB EEED (25)
As at 31 December 2020 RZEZZTF+=-A=+—H 7,472
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34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial Risk Management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)
Changes in the loss allowance for other receivables are
mainly due to:

4. €@ T E®)
(b) HEEMBEEBERBE (&)

EERRNRERRE (&)
Hi W RIBBEBRENES T
ETEHR

2020 2019
RMB’OOO RMB’000

AR®TR ARETT

Changes in average loss rate/Net ~ F3J1BKERE ) Eig

remeasurement of loss allowance BEENTEFE - 1,750
Settlement in full of other receivables & &H#& <+ = —FREH
which were impaired in prior year H 5’ GRIE (25) (608)
Write-off of other receivables i 85 FL o jE U SR IE = (10)
(25) 1,132
Liquidity risk REBESRMR

Individual operating entities within the Group are
responsible for their own cash management, including the
short-term investment of cash surpluses and the raising of
loans to cover expected cash demands, subject to board
of directors’ approval. The Group’s policy is to regularly
monitor current and expected liquidity requirements
and its compliance with lending covenants to ensure
that it maintains sufficient amount of cash and adequate
committed lines of funding from financial institutions to
meet its liquidity requirements in the short and longer term.

REBEE N2 BILEEREAR
BEHEAZHESER BFEHAS
BB EHREREEETIAN
RIERRSFR HAREES
WESAIEE AEEZBRA
EHRERENLEFZABDES
FBRDMETEERFEZBER
M%%ﬁ%lmﬁ%%%%ﬁﬁ
T 78 M A & B RS BRI 2 S Y K
mIEERE UWneHEEHRE
HRBEL 2 BH -
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34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continuea)

(b) Financial Risk Management objectives and

policies (Continued)

Liquidity risk (Continuead)

The following tables set out the weighted average effective
interest rate and the remaining contractual maturities at the
end of the reporting period of the Group’s non-derivative
financial liabilities based on contractual undiscounted
cash flows (including interest payments computed using
contractual rates or, if floating, based on rates current at
the end of the reporting period) and the earliest date the

Group can be required to pay:

34. T T HE (&)

(b) MBEREEBERBEK (&)

EERRMBEE (&)
TR AEBZIFTESTRE
ER|E R INEFHEERF
ERBTEOH  DEREAHR
BRBAERE (BEEREHN
Rk (IRFE) IWBERKRZER
THMERFEZMBMAF) RAE
BATEE:ZFEHMMETE

020 2019
I “I-f
Morethan  More than Total More than More than Totdl
Within -~ yearbut  2yearsbut  contractual Within Tyearbt  2yeashut  contractuel
Effective 1 year or less than lessthan  undiscounted Carying Ffective Tyearor less than kssthan  undiscounted Camying
interest rate  on demand 2years Syears  cashflows amount  inferestrate  on demand 2years yeas  cashfows amount
1R ol 15/ af
IR 1EME oML AERRE JEE 1ENE BN REERR
RRAE  ERRE oMM SEMR WEEE L1 S W sEIm ET
%  RMBOO0  RMB'000  RMBO0  RMBOO0  RMB'000 % RVB000 RVB000 RMBI000 RVB000 RVB'000
% ARKTR ARBTn  ARRTR ARRTR  ARETR % ARETT  ARETT  ARBTR  ARETR  ARETR
Non-derivative Financial HiteHaR
liabiliies
Trade payables NATER 80822 80822 8822 NATER 98,950 - 9,90 9,90
Amount due to ultmate controling % R
pary NATER 18,481 18,481 18481 NATER 1800 - 180 180
Amounts due o diectors i NATER 581 51 % NATER 183 - 183 8
Amounts due to fomer dectors NATER - NATER 1267 - 1267 1267
Amounts dug to non-controling
shareholders of subsidaries NATER 3437 3437 M NATER 5720 - 5720 5720
Accrued expenses and
other payables NATER 33,030 33030 B0 NATEE 4755 - 4755 4755
Payables for acquistion of propery, 4% ;
plant and equipment NATER 14,306 114306 114306 NATER 120217 - 120217 120217
Bank and other boronings BRAfER (740 E
45%t07.42% 29M 30473 63,944 59,200 520% 56,374 - 56,374 54,200
Lease bies R 685% 102
10.28% 1,776 6415 1,555 16,746 14,153 1028% 6,19 5443 408 16,644 13,669
Convertl bonds THERS NATER - - - - - B% 17400 - 1740 15604
300404 37,368 1,555 09347 33,010 35,88 5443 408 365,408 39483
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34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continueq)

(b) Financial Risk Management objectives and

policies (Continued)

Interest rate risk

The Group’s fair value interest rate risk relates to primarily
to its fixed-rate borrowings. The cash flow interest rate risk
of the Group relates primarily to their variable-rate bank
deposits and lease liabilities. The management considers
that the exposure to interest rate risk on bank deposits
is insignificant. For borrowings which are fixed-rate
instruments is insensitive to any change in interest rates. A
change in interest rates at the end of the reporting period
would not affect profit or loss. The cash flow interest rate
risk is mainly concentrated on the fluctuation of the interest
rate to be promulgated by the People’s Bank of China
(“PBOC”) arising from the Group’s RMB denominated lease
liabilities. The Group currently does not have an interest
rate hedging policy. However, the management monitors
interest rate exposure and will consider hedging significant
interest rate exposure should the need arise.

Sensitivity analysis

At 31 December 2020, it is estimated that a general
increase/decrease of 50 basis points in the interest
rates, with all other variables held constant, would have
increased/decreased the Group’s loss for the year by
approximately RMB367,000 (2019: RMB346,000). The
sensitivity analysis above indicates the instantaneous
change in the Group’s loss for the year that would arise in
respect of the exposure to cash flow interest risk arising
from floating rate lease liabilities held by the Group.

4. €@ T E®)
(b) HEEMBEEBERBE (&)

= [ b

AEBZzAFEMNXERREEHE
HFEEENER -rEEZHE
2 = ke Eggﬁiﬁﬁrufﬁf'f
FRREERERE - ERER
R RITERZ T R E AR
TEX - BREEILAZERY
ERFMEEBRETK - ]EH
RZNEBGIrEagERE - B
eRENERRBEEEFRAE
BAARBHEZHEBEME
FEzEBEPEARRIT (AT
N Z N ERE - REERFIL
BALM A EERBE - A B
BESERNEER  WHESR
FEREREPEANEER

BEE ST
R—ZE-_ZEF+=-_A=+— E
ERAEMBHERTENE
T o fhETF RN, R w
1B B 2 15 S B 52 (B 4F (9 5 48 3
m/mA 49 AR B 367,000 (=
T—hF: AR¥346,0007T) °
FRZHRELINBER A%H
BEZFEHEABEMEELE R
/i\/JILE%lJT}—L H—f $§vﬁ<.¢
AEIE HIRANRS B F o
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34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continuea)

(b) Financial Risk Management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Currency risk

()

Exposure to currency risk

RMB is not freely convertible into foreign currencies.
All foreign exchange transactions involving RMB
must take place through PBOC or other institutions
authorised to buy and sell foreign exchange. The
exchange rate adopted for foreign exchange
transactions are the rates of exchange quoted by
the PBOC that would be subject to a managed float
against an unspecified basket of currencies.

Foreign currency payments, including the remittance
of earnings outside the PRC, are subject to the
availability of foreign currency (which depends on
the foreign currency denominated earnings of the
Group) or must be arranged through the PBOC with
government approval.

The group entities collect most of the revenue
and incur most of expenditures in their respective
functional currencies. The directors consider that the
Group’s exposure to foreign currency exchange is
insignificant as the majority of the Group’s transactions
are denominated in the functional currency of each
individual group entity. The Group currently does not
have a foreign currency hedging policy. However, the
management monitors foreign exchange exposure
and will consider hedging significant foreign exposure
should the need arise.

4. EBM T H (&)

(b) MBEREEBERBEK (&)

AR
() EEmEEEAE

ARBEARI B @RI RINEG
FREERAREZINER 5
WABBAITHEMBELEER
BIMNEZ HIBHETT - SAIMNE
R PR RS ATTRT R
ZEX  BREXKRE—
EFRBIAZEERNRE
ERENT -

SNEE SR - B R 2 N BE
FE BARTINEHERR
(5N 8 BI AR - 7K 5= [ A
SNESIEZ BN SR ME
S BHEBRTHEE BB A
SN

5 B B 82 WA K #8 n  an
KB KD AR
EENNEEERE - -EF
R ARAEEAF DR
HAERSEEERZ BN
RE¥IHE  BAKEME
e B9 SME LB I N EK o X
R (B3R 5 X S SNE SR IR
R EEREBSERINER
B ORHNE BB 4 b
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34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continuea)

(b) Financial Risk Management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Currency risk (Continued)

()

(i)

Exposure to currency risk (Continued)

At the end of the reporting period, the carrying
amounts of the Group’s major monetary assets
denominated in a currency other than the functional
currencies of the relevant group entities are as follows:

4. E@MIE (&)

(b) MBEREEBERBEK (&)

j-g‘bﬁk

R (4F)

(@)

BXEppAE(E)
RIS R - NEBELAAEREE
EEERNEEBIUIINER
Bz FBEEMEERE
(EV RN

Exposure to foreign currency

ShEE R By AR A
2020 2019
—EEH —T-hF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®B TR AREF T
Cash and cash equivalents ReMASEED
— Hong Kong dollars — BT 72 187
Sensitivity analysis (i) BREETHT

The following table indicates the approximate change
in the Group’s loss for the year and accumulated
losses in response to reasonably possible changes
in the foreign exchange rates to which the Group has
significant exposure at the end of the reporting period.

TR RBEMK A
S EAE AR DR
FE e A S 5 R LR
CER SRR
EZBOBE -

2020 2019

= N —F-0E
Increase/ Effect on loss Increase/  Effect on loss
(decrease) after (decrease) after
in foreign  taxation and in foreign taxation and
exchange accumulated exchange  accumulated
rates losses rates losses
HHEER HEiREE
ExEH  REHEE Ex LA/ REHER
(FEx) i 1 (T) 2B
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TR ARBTT
Hong Kong dollars AT 5% (4) 5% )
(5%) 4 (5%) 9
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34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 34, R T A #)

(b) Financial Risk Management objectives and (b) BERAREEEEREE (&)

policies (Continued)

Currency risk (Continued)

(i)  Sensitivity analysis (Continued)
The sensitivity analysis above has been determined
assuming that the change in foreign exchange rates
had occurred at the end of the reporting period and
had been applied to the Group’s exposure to currency
risk for financial instruments in existence at that date,
and that all other variables, in particular interest rates,
remain constant. Results of the analysis as presented
in the above table represent an aggregation of the
effects on each of the group entities’ loss for the year.
The stated changes are used when reporting currency
risk internally to key management and represent
management’s assessment of reasonably possible
changes in foreign exchange rates over the period
until the end of the next reporting period. The analysis
is performed on the same basis for 2019.

Other price risk

Oil and gas price risk

Apart from the financial instruments disclosed above, the
Group’s activities expose it to market risk relating to oil and
gas price risks.

The Group is engaged in a wide range of gas related
activities. The global oil and gas market is affected by
international political, economic and global demand for
and supply of oil and gas. A decrease in the world prices
of cruel oil and gas could adversely affect the Group’s
financial position. The Group has not used any derivative
instruments to hedge against potential price fluctuations of
crude oil and refined and gas products. The management
will consider hedging oil and gas exposure should the need
arise.

BE¥RRE(E)
(i) BFE D (E)
IR BURRE 5 T IRERSNE
EEBHRBE MR BE
TEEBNAEERZ AR
EZéﬂIﬂ%rz < e
 ABRAEEBES (L
EfEﬂ ) MRS TR TEESE ©
RN Z T ERRKRE
EREERERNET B
BrzBEEBYE . FESHN
MXEEEEAPERSE
RBEER RREEEY
SEEXRBET —ERE
HMRIER AR B RS
Zatft o BEH Tﬂ;z,\f7
—NEHR Z ELERELT -

H At E S E b

B R XA B B
BREXEEZEB T AN K
EEZEBEHCAEBR AT H
Al R RXAREERERBEZH

i’ﬁﬂ |§uu o

AEERELZHRARMEEES ©
EHEE&%%HW 5= BRI

B R 2RA R R RARM
IW%% [Rom R RAR 2 2K
B TR H A B 2 B AR
BRI E - REB I AKEH
ERTET R - $hRm - KR
BREE fa B R R REE fn £ TETE (B A&
KB - HMAERRR BEEERKS
EZRENOHERARERER
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34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
(c) Fair value measurement of financial instruments
The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial instruments
carried at cost or amortised cost are not materially different

from their fair values as at 31 December 2020 and 2019
except for the following financial instruments, for which

34. T T E (&)
c) EMIAEZATEFE

RZEZZTEFR_FT-NF+=
A=+—H AEBIZRK A #
HEKAS R ST AZRAEAE
HEAFEHEERAEZR  HMU

their carrying amounts and fair value and the level of fair TemIT AR ERREELA
value hierarchy are disclosed below: FEHURAFEER 2 ERHE
LUNNE
2020 2019
t et 313 ZT-NEF

Carrying Carrying
amount Fair value amount Fair value
IRTE{E DTE BREE NFE
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR ARBTR ARBT T ARET T

Financial liabilities eRMAaRE

Convertible bonds AR ES — - 15,604 16,904
The fair values of the liability component in convertible AMRESAES D A FED

bonds are estimated as being the present values of future
cash flows, discounted at interest rates of Nil% (2019:
1.83%) based on the government yield curve as at the end
of the reporting period plus an adequate constant credit
spread, adjusted for the Group’s own credit risk.

Liabilities for which fair values are disclosed

Fair value measurements as at
31 December 2020 categorised into
RZB-BF+ZA=+-B25
TR ATEHENTERIZATERHE

MEtEARRREREZRE -
i bt TH AR R A R 5 B R 2 BUIT IR
mHENEtTRMIERZEE
BEEREMNEZR (ZE—NLF:
1.83%) 6% - WERAEE 2 8
S EERRELFE -
EREATFEZERE

Fair value measurements as at
31 December 2019 categorised into

RZE-NETZAZT-B9A

WTBRz A TEE
Level3  Fairvalue Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
FM LTE 218 ERE 234
RMB'000  RMBOOO  RMB'OO0  RMB'OO0  RMB'000
ARBFR ARETT ARETL ARETT ARETR

Fair value Level 1 Level 2
NYE F1R F28
RMB'000  RMB’000  RMB’000
AERTT ARETR ARMTR
Liabilities &R
Convertiole bonds ARRES - = -

16,904 16,904
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CAPITAL COMMITMENTS 35. A&E
The Group had the following significant capital commitments REBRGZEE M BMREFT A ERE
contracted but not provided for in the consolidated financial W2 EREREAERNT
statements:
2020 2019
_— w _— $ —_= _j-l./ﬁz
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®Tx ARETTT
Acquisition of property, plant and WEER 2 ~ eI R
equipment (including construction (BEEREIRE)
in progress) 30,978 37,986

NOTE TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT
OF CASH FLOWS

Changes in liabilities arising from financing
activities

The following table shows the Group’s changes in liabilities

36. MEBRERERHE

METHELEZAERT

T%‘%EIJT‘\ZKEFZK%EEQEEEE

arising from financing activities during the year: ZBEEE
Total liabilities
Bank and other Lease Convertible from financing
borrowings liabilities bonds activities
RITR MERHEL
Hinfg% HEEE AR RES OEA=R
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR ARETR AR%TR ARETR
At 1 January 2019 RZ_ZE-NE—-HA—-H 59,200 - 12,416 71,616
Interest expense recognised ERRAEX T 2,161 731 2,914 5,806
Changes in cash flows HeREEH (7,161) 10,938 - 3,777
Non-cash changes FREEH 1,307 2,000 274 3,581
At 31 December 2019 and RZE-NF+ZA
1 January 2020 =+-BRZFT-THF
—H—A 55,507 13,669 15,604 84,780
Interest expense recognised ERRFELH 3,364 1,381 3,382 8,127
Changes in cash flows Rengd 3,362 (897) - 2,465
Non-cash changes FRe# (3,033) - (18,986) (22,019)
At 31 December 2020 RZZE-ZF
+=ZA=1+—-H 59,200 14,153 - 73,353
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37. PLEDGE OF ASSETS

BE+A=+-ALFE

As at 31 December 2020 and 2019, the Group’s shareholding in
Shanxi Qinshui and Yangcheng Huiyang were pledged. Details
of the Group’s pledge of other assets are included in notes 16.

38. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

For the years ended 31 December 2020 and 2019, the
directors are of the view that the following are related parties of

the Group:
Name of party

WKBERRERRE
I 2 7] (transliterated as
Shanxi Qinshui Prefecture
Chengrong Investment
Limited) (“Chengrong
Investment”)

BHEEREEERAE
[R A 7] (transliterated as
Yangcheng Yangtai Group
Industrial Company Limited)
(“Yangcheng Yangtai”)

BN B 5K B R 1 1l AR 75 8 R
A B (transliterated as
Zhengzhou Zhengcheng
Energy Technology
Service Company Limited)
(“Zhengzhou Zhengcheng”)

190

Relationship

Effectively owned 17% equity
interest in Wanzhi Logistics
as a non-controlling shareholder

of a subsidiary.

Effectively owned 20% equity
interest in Yangcheng
Huiyang as a non-controlling
shareholder of a subsidiary.

Effectively owned 20% equity
interest in Yangcheng
Huiyang as a non-controlling
shareholder of a subsidiary.

37. EEEA

RZB_ZEER-_FT-AF+_H
=t — B AEERILUTEDOKMEE
BHHBRED FEA - NERE 2 EM
BEBMFBRNME6-

38.

BERBEALRS
HE-_Z-_ZFR_FT—NF+=A
:+—E|Jt¢E EERAETIER
BAREEBEEAL
ERASFEE £2RE
WKBERRE (ER—HEWBAF
BREMLAF FEFE AR R R B R
(TRE R E ) BEEEDRHN
17% AN HEZS -
G%ERER (EA—RHHNBAR
HEEBRRA 2 IEE Hxﬂx%a
(TFE3 5 2= 1) R A SR
Eﬁzo%ﬂxwféé
ERM B AK BE R ER—RK B AR
R AR B R Z3E¥E Hxﬁx%a
AR (T8N 5 BHEGHE
1) E’]ZO%Hx$¢’§é
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38. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 3. EXBHEAETRF @)

(Continued)
(a) Balances with related parties (a) BEHRAEA LT 248
As at 31 December 2020 and 2019, the Group and the RZEZEER-_FE—NF+=
Company had the following balances with related parties: A=+—HB AKEKRKAFHE
BEALTE TGS
() Amount due from a related company (i) FEU—EEHLRRE
Maximum
amount
outstanding
during the year
FRAES
REESESHE
2020 2019
t S 2.2 —ET-NF
Name of related party RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
BEALRE ARETT ARBF T AR®BTT
Yangcheng Yangtai f5 3 [5 2= 6,000 6,000 6,000
The amount due is unsecured, interest-free and ZEERRBEAERE  ©
repayable on demand. B RkA ?ﬁgﬂif%fﬁ
(i) Amounts due to ultimate controlling party/ iy BEREKERS B/
directors/former directors/non-controlling RESE B ATZIFER
shareholders of subsidiaries IR R IR
The amounts due are unsecured, interest-free and REBRFBRELER 2
repayable on demand. ENBREKERE -
(iiiy Other borrowings (i) EfBER
2020 2019
—E-F —E-NF
Name of related party RMB’000 RMB’000
BREALRE AR®Tx AREFT
Chengrong Investment % g 1% & 24,200 24,200
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38. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(b) Key management personnel remuneration

Remuneration for key management personnel of the
Group, including amounts paid to the Company’s directors
and the chief executive as disclosed in note 11 and certain
of the highest paid employees as disclosed in note 12, is

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR M

For the year ended 31 December 2020 BZ—ZT_FTF+_-A=+—HIFE

38. EXBEALIRS (&)

b) TEEBEAB ZHM

AEEBXTZEEABZHH (B
B RINM 11 R E125 B
ZENARAEE KSTHA
BNMETHESFHHESR 23A)

as follows: N
2020 2019
—E-HF —T—hF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®BTR AREETTT
Short-term employee benefits MEEE AR 3,243 3,015
Post-employment benefits B2 ER 105 34

Total remuneration is included in FN@ezEsT AIE T A

“Staff costs” (note 9(a)) (MF5E9(a)) 3,348 3,049

(c) The Group entered into the following material related party
transactions during the years ended 31 December 2020

(c) Hz—_ZE-_ZEFR_ZT—NF
+-A=+—HIFE K&EHE

and 2019: BRI THEABEALTRS :
2020 2019
Name of related party Nature of transaction —EZEHF —E—hE
BAEALRRE REMHEHE RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARBTT
Chengrong Investment Loan interest expense 1,726 1,719

BRI E

B SR
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39. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 39. AN B EXEEMEB AR ZF1E

OF THE COMPANY
Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries at RZEZ_TFE+_A=+—8 &RQ
31 December 2020 are as follows: AFEEMBARIZFBENT :
Proportion of
ownership interest
e L 1
Place of Particulars of issued
incorporation/ and paid-up Group’s
establishment/ share/registered  effective
Name of subsidiary operations capital interest  Direct Indirect Principal activities
ML ERTRAM FREZ
WEAREE R/ BE S BA/EMERERE  ERES B M IEEK
WEGRIEREEERERAR PRC Registered capital of 100%  100% -~ Investment holding
(transliterated as Shanxi i HK$83,000,000 REER
Yangcheng Shuntai Energy HER
Development Company Limited) 83,000,000/ 7T
(“Shanxi Yangcheng Shuntai’)
(notes (a))
WEGRIEREEERERAR
(ML ERSIER]) (Fi3 Q)
Shanxi Qinshui PRC Registered capital of 100% 100% - Manufacture and sales
(notes (a) and (d) i HK$350,000,000 of liquefied coalbed
WALk (T 3E () & (o) FER gas
350,000,000 7T EERBERILRER
ERLRRRBRARA PRC Registered capital of 97.5% - 975%  Sales of piped natural
(transliterated as i RMB33,212,567 gas and provision of
Guangxi Beiliu Gas HHEL gas supply connection
Company Limited) (note (b)) AR#33,212,567 T servioes
BRI EER LR (F (o) HEEBARR RIRMH
HRES RS
AR R R PRC Registered capital of 100%  100% - Sales of liquefied
(trangliterated as Hebei Shuntai Energy & RMB87,280,000 coalbed gas
Company Limited) (note (a)) HRER HERILEER
At IR RAR AR (M () AR%87,280,0007
WEBZMRERAR PRC Registered capital of 83% - 83%  Provision of liquefied
(transliterated as i RMB60,000,000 coalbed gas logistics
Shanxi Wanzhi HER services
Logistics Limited) ARH60,000,0007 RERILEER
(“Wanzhi Logistics’) (note (c)) MR RS
WEEEMRERAT

(T&xmR]) (M)
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39. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 39. AN B EXEEMEB AR ZF1E

OF THE COMPANY (Continued)

(%)

Proportion of
ownership interest
e LL il

Place of Particulars of issued

incorporation/ and paid-up Group’s
establishment/ share/registered  effective

Name of subsidiary operations capital interest  Direct Indirect Principal activities

Y ERTRMA AKE2

WEAREH R/ BEhE KA/ AMEREE ERER  EE B IEEEK

Hong Kong Chung Wo Energy Hong Kong HK$1 100% - 100% Investment holding
Investments Limited Bk 157 REER

EARNEREEREERAA

BEEANERERAF PRC Registered capital of 100% - 100%  Sales of natural gas
(transliterated as Luoyang i HK$60,000,000 AARHE
Shunhe Energy Company Limited) HHEL
(‘Luoyang Shunhe”) (note (b)) 60,000,000/ 7T

BEERNERERAF
(&R IER]) (P 3E (b))

GREERTERERERAR PRC Registered capital of 60% - 0%  Exploration,
(transliterated as i RMB30,000,000 development and
Yangcheng Huiyang New HER production of coalbed
Energy Development AR 30,000,000 methane
Company Limited) 0ix AER
(“Yangcheng Huiyang’) (note (b)) EERER

GGG RERERAR
(M=) (H (o)

BREEZEEEBER PRC Registered capital of 100% - 100%  Gas distribution
(transliterated as i RMB10,000,000 RARDH
Yangcheng Shun An HMER
Gathering Pipeline AE%10,000,0007
Company Limited) (note (g ))

BHEEL £ HEEARA
(i (@)

iz (B MR IRV EERAH PRC Registered capital of 100% - 100% Manufacturing and sales
(transliterated as Nuoxin (Xian i RMB47,564,900 of PE gas pipelines
County) Engineering Materials FMER EEREERL
Company Limited) (‘Nuoxin AR 475649007 FEHAER

Engineering”) (note b)

#iE (B BB IRMHARAR

(&) (W &EDb)
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39. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 39. AN B EXEEMEB AR ZF1E

OF THE COMPANY (Continued) (#&)

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, EERBLERMIARR ZHE AT

in the opinion of the directors, principally affected the results or REIEFEAEE  EENEESE -

assets of the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, EERR REEMHMBARZFE

in the opinion of the directors, result in particulars of excessive CEYREEBNILE -

length.

Notes: B 5E -

(8  Registered under the laws of the PRC as a wholly-owned foreign enterprise. (a) WBEFBUEAEIMAIEBELE -

(b)  Registered under the laws of the PRC as a limited liability enterprise. (b) WREFEZEEFMAEEREELE-

(©)  Registered under the laws of the PRC as a Sino-foreign equity joint venture. () WEFEEEIMATIINEGERZE -

(d)  The registered capital of Shanxi Qinshui was HK$350,000,000, of which (@ WEEMW K Z M E R A350,000,000 %
HK$240,000,000 (2019: HK$240,000,000) has been paid up as at 31 5T+ H ®1 240,000,000 7T (=T — L4 ¢
December 2020. 240,000,000 L) ER =T =_TF+ =4

=t—H#f-
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39. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
OF THE COMPANY (Continued)

The following table shows information of subsidiary that has
non-controlling interest (“NCI”) material to the Group. The
summarised financial information represents amounts before
inter-company eliminations.

GRBREGHERRREARAA

39. KRB EEMB AR ZFHTE

(%)

TRINTANEEREA BRI EE
([FEmpEsm ) 2B AR &R -
B ERBEE 255 B A Q R i E
Al Z &5 e

GRBREGHERRREARAA

(transliterated as Yangcheng Huiyang New Energy Development

Company Limited)
2020 2019
b i 222 —E-hF
Principal place of business/country of 3= & 4 #4255+ i PRC PRC
incorporation A7 B R Gy H
% of ownership interests/voting rights  JE{E R ERIZTE 2B E
held by NCI W%/ REREDH 40%/40% 40%/40%
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®B TR AREETTT
At 31 December: W+=-—H=+—H":
Non-current assets EMBEE 273,334 314,715
Current assets MBNE E 163,726 162,153
Current liabilities mBEE (497,981) (548,695)
Net liabilities FaE (60,921) (71,827)
Accumulated NCI RET IR (24,368) (28,731)
Year ended 31 December: BE+-A=+—HLEE:
Revenue = 55,732 68,487
Reversal of impairment loss on other £ 4th & U ZX TE 8 (B J&5 18 2 [El
receivable 34 598
Profit/(loss) wmAL (BE) 10,906 (11,672)
Total comprehensive income FHERALRZE 10,906 (11,672)
Loss allocated to NCI DB EIE TR ER 2 BB 4,363 (4,669)
Dividends paid to NCI KA T IR IR M 21 2 AR B = -
Net cash generated from operating e EBEE RS FEE
activities 7,766 28,106
Net cash used in investing activities ~ & & EBIFTA 2R F58 (972) (1,600)
Net cash used in financing activites ~ B & EBIFTA 2R F58 (10,450) (21,900)
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and  R& MRS EEWEMNCRL)
cash equivalents BN (3,656) 4,606
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40. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF

40. X2 8 2 B E AR 3R

THE COMPANY
2020 2019
—EEF —E—NF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT AREEFIT
Non-current assets ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment W - IR R RE 418 679
Investments in subsidiaries RETE AR ZEE 80,033 80,033
Amounts due from subsidiaries JE U B /B A B FIE 112,431 163,785
192,882 044,497
Current assets MENEE
Amount due from a director R = E IR - 2,208
Prepayment and other receivables TE A FRIE K B A e U IE 667 605
Cash and cash equivalents HekReEEY 121 179
788 2,992
Current liabilities MENBE
Amounts due to subsidiaries AR NI S 25,640 22,981
Amounts due to directors N EEFA 18,844 1,674
Accrued expenses and other payables — [E&T & A & E b FE S FAA 3,746 3,655
Convertible bonds Al E 5 - 15,604
48,230 43,914
Net current liabilities mEIBERE (47,442) (40,922)
Total assets less current liabilities @B EERAHEE 145,440 203,575
Non-current liabilities ERBEE
Deferred tax liabilities REHIEEE - 561
= 561
Net assets EEFE 145,440 203,014
Capital and reserves BEAXRRGEE
Share capital BR 7R 10,910 10,910
Reserves 78 1 134,530 192,104
Total equity ERE 145,440 203,014

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on

24 March 2021.

Wang Zhong Sheng

£y
Director

EF

HESenN _—_Z_-_—F=H_+WmH

BRI ETE -

Chang Jian
Bz
Director

EFE
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40. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF 40. A DB 2B BARREK &)
THE COMPANY (Continued)

Reserves R

Share  Convertible

Share Translation Contributed option bonds Accumulated
premium reserve surplus reserve reserve losses
G

RiEE AERE  EYUBR BRERR G588 ZHER
RMB'000  RMB'O00  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000

Total

a3
RMB’000

ARRTR ARBTn ARMTR ARBTn ARWTR ARETR ARMTR

Balance at 1 January 2019 R-E-NE-A-REH (668,084) 20,147 1,384,004 30,849 8,652 (681,119) 194,455
Loss for he year KERFE - - - : - By (@569
Other comprehensive income
forthe year REEEMEEMA - 6,215 - - - - 6,215
Total compreensive loss TEERABRER
for the year - 6,215 - - - (8,566) (2,351)
Balance at 31 December 2019 RZE-NE+ZA=1-H
and 1 January 2020 RZZ-Z5-A-BEH (668,084) 26,362 1,384,004 30,849 8,652 (589,679) 192,104
Loss for the year rEEER = = = = = (38,827)  (38,827)
Other comprehensive loss TEEEN2AFE

for the year - (18,747) - - - - (18,747)
Total comprehensive 0ss TEERABRER
for the year - (18,747) - - - (38,827) (57,574)
Balance at 31 December 2020 RZFZZETZA=1-H

e (668,084) 7,615 1,384,004 30,849 8,652 (628,506) 134,530
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RESULTS 4
For the year ended 31 December
BE+-A=t+—-HLEE
2020 2019 2018 2017 2016
“BS¥F —_T-NF —T-N\E —T—+tF C—T-RE
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARMTT ARETRT ARETE ARETR
Revenue e 179,329 168,229 168,097 178,562 218,879
Loss from operations REEXBELECER (4,948) (18,295) (73,469) (48,851) (88,382)
Finance costs BBER (8,127) (9,880) (9,296) (9,171) (10,925)
Impairment loss on property, MmE - WERFE
plant and equipment REEE (23,355) (40,637) (39,090) (8,329) -
Loss before taxation BRELRIEE (36,430) (68,812) (121,855) (66,351) (99,307)
Income tax credit/(expense) FEBER,/ (A%) 206 1 (78) (620) (3,077)
Loss for the year AEEEE (36,224) (68,811) (121,933) (66,971) (102,384)
Attributable to : ToI LS -
Equity shareholders ARAEERR
of the Company (40,627) (63,510) (105,686) (70,219) (101,002)
Non-controlling interests kiR 4,403 (5,301) (16,247) 3,248 (1,382)
Loss for the year rERBE (36,224) (68,811) (121,933) (66,971) (102,384)
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ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

EERERE

At 31 December

®+=A=+-H
2020 2019 2018 2017 2016
ZBS®%F —T-NFE —T-N\E —T—+tF C—T-RE
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARMTT ARETRT ARETE ARETR
Total assets BEE 502,648 558,905 668,220 819,903 922,135
Total liabilities BaR (383,854) (405,762) (444,995) (486,278) (503,999)
118,794 153,143 223,225 333,625 418,316
Attributable to; Nl

Equity shareholders of the KRAERRE
Company 147,739 185,554 250,335 344,488 432,247
Non-controlling interests RS (28,945) (32,411) (27,110) (10,863) (14,111)
118,794 153,143 223,225 333,625 418,136
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